Interaction Between CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells and Airway Smooth Muscle cells: Implications in Asthma

Joyce H Jang

Meakins Christie Laboratories, McGill University, Montreal

Department of Medicine, McGill University, Montreal

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master's in Experimental Medicine.

December 2019

©Joyce H. Jang, 2019

# **Table of Contents**

I. Acknowledgments	4
II. Contributions	5
III. Abstract	6
1. Introduction to Asthma	10
1.1 Airway Hyperresponsiveness	10
1.2 Airway Remodeling	12
2. Airway Smooth Muscle	13
2.1 Airway Smooth Muscle Phenotypes	13
2.2 Mechanical Modulation of Phenotype	15
2.3 Growth Factor Influence on Phenotype	17
2.3.1 TGF-beta	17
2.3.2 PDGF	20
2.3.3 EGFR Ligands	22
2.4 Role of Inflammation and Cytokine Signaling in Phenotype Modulation	25
2.4.1 T-Helper Cytokines	25
2.4.1.1 IL-4 and IL-13	25
2.4.1.2 IL-8	29
2.4.1.3 IL-17	30
2.4.2 IL-1 $\beta$ and TNF $\alpha$	32
2.4.3 Lipid Mediators: Leukotrienes and Prostaglandins	34
2.4.3.1 Leukotrienes in Experimental Models	36
2.4.3.2 Prostaglandins in Experimental Models	37
3. Immune Cell Involvement in Asthma	39
3.1 CD4+ T cells	40
3.1.1 Interactions with ASM	42
4. Engineering Solution for Studying Cellular Projections	46
5. Hypothesis	47
6. Modulation of ASM Phenotype by CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells through ICAM-1	48

6.1 Abstract	49
6.2 Introduction	49
6.3 Methods	51
6.4 Results	54
6.5 Conclusion	57
6.6 Figures	59
6.7 References	68
7. Induction of Hyper-reactive CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells by ASM Cells: Implications of Mitoc	hondrial
Transfer	70
7.1 Abstract	71
7.2 Introduction	72
7.3 Methods	73
7.4 Results	77
7.5 Conclusions	80
7.6 Figures	83
7.7 References	92
8. Novel Assay to Study Membrane Nanotubes Using Optical Tweezers	94
8.1 Abstract	95
8.2 Introduction	95
8.3 Methods	97
8.4 Results	98
8.5 Conclusions	100
8.6 Figures	102
8.7 References	106
9. Discussion	107
10. References	110

### I. Acknowledgments

There are many people that I need to thank for this accomplishment. First and foremost, I want to thank my parents who have supported me through every endeavor throughout my whole life. The pursuit of my master's degree was no different. Going back home every once in a while, seeing my parents and eating my mom's amazing home cooked meals was the perfect rejuvenation to continue working hard. I truly could not have done this without them.

I also need to thank my supervisors and mentors for the past 4 years, Dr. James G. Martin and Dr. J. Matt Kinsella. I started working under both professors during my undergraduate degree, and amazing experiences I had in their labs kept me at McGill. They're agreement to collaborate not only allowed me to continue my research on airway biology, but it also introduced me to new experiences in bioengineering. It has been a very unique experience, and I owe a lot of that to Dr. Martin and Dr. Kinsella. I've learned so much from watching their approach to scientific research and It has been a joy working in their labs.

Finally, I want to thank a few mentors inside the lab that have guided me throughout the years. First is Michael O'Sullivan who was my graduate supervisor when I first came to the Martin Lab. From learning how to conduct research to having a good time outside the lab, Mike was always supportive and fun to be around. The next person I want to thank is Alice Panariti. She was a post-doc working in the Martin Lab that quickly became a big sister figure to all of us. She is one of the most diligent and knowledgeable researchers I have ever met. The last person I want to thank is Gijs Ijpma, a rare engineer at the Meakins. From having intense discussions about science to arguing about the World's problems over lunch, Gijs has kept my time at the Meakins very interesting. All three of these people have taken a lot of time to teach me the proper way to conduct and view scientific research. They have truly formed me into the researchers I am today, and for that, I cannot thank them enough.

## II. Contributions

Abstract:

The abstract was translated into French by Julia Chronopoulos and Erwan Pernet.

## Chapter 6:

Soroor Farahnak, along with Michelle Kim and Ana Wang, aided in the collection of mRNA samples and the running of qPCR experiments. Soroor Farahnak and Ruchi Sharan both contributed to proliferation in co-culture as well as afatinib treated conditions. Ruchi Sharan was responsible for running and analyzing calcium experiments.

## Chapter 7:

Rui Sun transduced ASM cells with a lentivirus to expressed PDHA-1-tRFP in order to study mitochondrial transfer.

## Chapter 8:

Gjis Ijpma contributed ideas towards the creation of a novel Nanotube assay. Megan Hammell, from Dr. Anne Marie Lauzon's lab, performed optical tweezer experiments.

Nurse Cathy Fugere drew blood for all experiments requiring CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Both Soroor Farahnak and Rui Sun aided in the isolation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells throughout the study.

Thank you to all these generous people for their time and effort.

#### III. Abstract

Asthma is a respiratory disease that is characterized by exaggerated narrowing of the airways in response to a contractile agonist or airway irritants. This characteristic is called airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and is accompanied by airway remodeling which consists of thickening of the airway wall caused by an increase in airway smooth muscle (ASM) mass and fibrosis. Remodeling of the ASM may be the key to AHR as increased muscle mass would produce more force to overcome intrinsic impedances to airway narrowing. Some evidence suggests that individual ASM cells are also more contractile. Infiltration of the airways by CD4+ T cells has been associated with disease severity. CD4+ T cells localize to airway smooth muscle bundles in the airways where they may mediate increases in ASM mass and AHR. ASM cells have also demonstrated the potential to enhance CD4+ T cell responses but the mechanisms behind the bi-directional cellular modulation is unclear.

The purpose of the current study was to determine the changes in ASM and T cell phenotypes resulting from contact dependent interaction of the two cells types. To achieve this objective, we used *in vitro* co-culture methods to elucidate some of the pertinent mechanisms. Analysis of BrdU incorporation showed CD4+ T cells increased ASM cell proliferation. By measuring fluorescence of the calcium binding dye, Fura-2, we determined that ASM cells in co-culture with CD4+ T cells had a weaker peak calcium response to histamine. A reduction in the expression of contractile factors was also observed in ASM cells. These effects were contact dependent as they did not occur in Transwell cultures. Inhibition of ICAM-1 using an antagonistic antibody inhibited CD4+ T cell induced reduction in contractile factors suggesting ICAM-1 is responsible for physical contact mediated changes in ASM phenotype.

CD4+ T cells were hyper-reactive to CD3/28 re-stimulation after co-culture with ASM cells as measured by cytokine expression, exhibiting a memory like response. Whether or not CD4+ T cells have transitioned into a memory T cell requires further experimentation. Previous studies demonstrated ASM cells pass mitochondria to CD4+ T cells through membrane nanotubes, thus

the role of mitochondrial mechanisms was explored in mediating CD4+ T cells hyper-reactivity. Re-stimulation induced greater mitochondrial reactive oxygen species synthesis in co-cultured CD4+ T cells as measured by mitoSOX. Seahorse analysis showed oxygen consumption was maintained after re-stimulation while glycolytic processes uncharacteristically declined. Preliminary analysis suggests ASM cells increase caspase-1 activation in CD4+ T cells upon restimulation, which could be mediated by inflammasome activation by ROS. IL-1β release due to this process can enhance CD4+ T cells responses to CD3/28 stimulation, however, this needs to be confirmed.

To more efficiently visualize membrane nanotube, a polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) based microfluidic device was designed and commercially manufactured. Two cell chambers were separated by microchannels that were 1µm wide and ranged from 10-200µm long. Cultures using tumor associated fibroblasts and a breast cancer cell line demonstrated that fibroblasts could form tube like structures towards breast cancer cells through the microchannels. CD4+ T cells, however, failed to do so. Using optical tweezers to physically control CD4+ T cell movement, membrane nanotube formation was visualized without prior contact with the ASM cells. Preliminary testing demonstrated membrane nanotube formation in this system is reproducible.

These results demonstrate CD4+ T cells induce a pro-proliferative and anti-contractile phenotype in ASM cells, while ASM cells induce hyper-reactive responses by CD4+ T cells to CD3/28 re-stimulation. Also, the use of optical tweezers may be a viable method of studying nanotubes formed from non-adherent cells.

### Sommaire

L'asthme est une maladie respiratoire caractérisée par un rétrécissement des voies respiratoires (VR) en réponse à un agoniste contractile ou à l'inhalation d'agents irritants. Ce phénomène est appelé hyperréactivité des voies respiratoires (HVR) et s'accompagne d'un remodelage des voies aériennes, consistant en un épaississement de la paroi des VR, conséquence d'une augmentation de la masse du muscle lisse (ML) et à la fibrose. Le remodelage du ML pourrait jouer un rôle important dans l'HVR car une augmentation de la masse musculaire produirait plus de force pour surmonter les impédances intrinsèques au rétrécissement des VR. De plus, il a été suggéré que les cellules du ML sont également plus contractiles. L'infiltration des VR par les cellules T CD4+, localisées dans les faisceaux du ML, a été associée à la sévérité de la maladie en contribuant potentiellement à l'augmentation de la masse du ML et l'HVR. Les réponses des cellules T CD4+ peuvent également être augmentées par les cellules du ML, mais les mécanismes impliqués dans cette modulation bidirectionnelle ne sont pas clairs.

Le but de cette étude est de déterminer les changements du ML des voies respiratoires et des phénotypes des cellules T CD4+ après contact direct entre les deux types cellulaires. Pour cela, nous avons utilisé des techniques de coculture *in vitro* afin d'identifier les mécanismes sousjacents. Nos résultats indiquent que les cellules T CD4+ augmentent la prolifération des cellules du ML et que les cellules du ML cultivées en contact direct avec les cellules T CD4+ présentaient une réponse calcique maximale diminuée en réponse à une stimulation par l'histamine et une réduction de l'expression des facteurs contractiles. Ce dernier phénomène peut être inversé en utilisant un anticorps neutralisant contre ICAM-1, suggérant qu'ICAM-1 est responsable des changements du phénotype du ML induite par contact direct avec les cellules T CD4+.

Après coculture avec les cellules du ML, les cellules T CD4+ restimulées sont hyper-réactives, présentant une réponse de type mémoire, qui devra être confirmé. Comme les cellules du ML transmettent des mitochondries au cellules T CD4+ par des nanotubes membranaires, nous avons analysé le rôle des mécanismes mitochondriaux dans l'hyper-réactivité des cellules T CD4+.

Après re-stimulation, les cellules T CD4+ cultivées avec les cellules du ML présentent une augmentation de la production d'espèces réactives de l'oxygène (ERO) mitochondriales. L'analyse du métabolisme cellulaire a montré une réduction des processus glycolytiques alors que la consommation d'oxygène est maintenue après re-stimulation. Une analyse préliminaire suggère que les cellules du ML augmentent l'activation de la caspase-1 dans les cellules T CD4+, ce qui pourrait être favorisé par l'activation de l'inflammasome par les ERO. La sécrétion d'IL-1β due à ce processus pourrait améliorer les réponses des cellules T CD4+, mais cela doit être confirmé.

Pour visualiser plus efficacement les nanotubes membranaires, un dispositif microfluidique à base de PDMS a été conçu en utilisant deux chambres de cellules séparées par des microcanaux d'une largeur de 1 µm et d'une longueur de 10 à 200 µm. Des études précédentes ont démontré que les fibroblastes, mais pas les cellules T CD4+, peuvent former des structures ressemblant à des tubes en direction de cellules cancéreuses par les microcanaux. En utilisant des pinces optiques pour contrôler physiquement le mouvement des cellules T CD4+, la formation de nanotubes membranaires a été visualisée sans contact préalable avec les cellules de ML de façon reproductible.

Ces résultats démontrent que les cellules T CD4+ induisent un phénotype pro-prolifératif et anticontractile dans les cellules de ML, tandis que ces dernières induisent des réponses hyperréactives des cellules T CD4+. De plus, l'utilisation de pinces optiques peut être une méthode viable pour étudier des nanotubes formés à partir des cellules non adhérentes.

### 1. Introduction to Asthma

Asthma is a chronic respiratory disease that inflict people of all ages. It has been estimated to affect 235 million people worldwide and is the most common chronic disease amongst children [1]. The prevalence of asthma has been decreasing globally; some countries, such as the United States, are seeing yearly increases in persons suffering from asthma [2]. The disease presents with signs of respiratory distress such as wheezing, coughing and shortness of breath that can be debilitating. Acute exacerbations can also occur when asthmatics inhale irritants, such as cigarette smoke, causing excessive narrowing of airways and damage to the airways. Acute attacks can even be fatal but rarely are. Asthmatics are also more susceptible to respiratory infection and exhibit high levels of inflammation in the airways which have both been demonstrated to worsen the respiratory condition. Viral respiratory tract infections are the predominant cause of acute exacerbations [3]. Although many steps have been taken to treat and prevent asthma, our understanding of the disease is still incomplete.

### 1.1 Airway Hyperresponsiveness

Asthmatic patients are defined by the intermittent development of narrowed airways causing airflow limitation, the degree of which is measured by a forced expiratory maneuver. The predisposition to narrow the airways or airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) is quantifiable by methacholine challenge. Methacholine, a muscarinic receptor agonist, induces narrowing of the airways allowing the prediction of the response to an inhaled irritant or to other triggers. Methacholine delivered by aerosol in a standardized manner and the airway narrowing evoked is quantified from the forced expiratory volume in the first second of the expiration (FEV<sub>1</sub>). Asthmatics exhibit an exaggerated response with narrowing of the airways that causes significantly obstructing airflow compared to a small or absent response to inhaled methacholine in healthy subjects. The phenomenon of AHR is a characteristic that defines asthma. The severity of AHR correlates directly with the severity of asthma [4-6], suggesting that treating the causes of AHR is the key to treating asthmatics.

The causes of AHR are currently unknown but clinical evidence points towards two possible culprits. The first is inflammation. Asthmatic airways are infiltrated with inflammatory cells including eosinophils, mast cells and T cells that can augment airway contraction in multiple ways [7, 8]. Mast cells store the contractile agonist histamine which is released through degranulation when mast cells are activated through IgE cross-linking by antigen [9]. Cysteinyl-leukotrienes or prostaglandins (PG), such as PGD<sub>2</sub>, are synthesized do novo and signal through specific receptors that trigger airway smooth muscle (ASM) contraction. Leukocytes can also modulate airway contraction indirectly through interactions with structural cells, inducing a phenomenon called airway remodeling. Like AHR, levels of infiltrating leukocytes and inflammatory mediators, such as interleukin (IL)-13, correlate with the severity of asthma and thus, the severity of AHR [8, 10-13]. Furthermore, reducing this inflammation using inhaled or, in severe cases, oral corticosteroids can suppress or even abolish AHR in some asthmatic patients [14].

Asthmatic airways are frequently characterized by airway remodeling where structural changes lead to a thickening of the airway wall [15, 16]. One key component of this remodeling is a thickening of ASM bundles [17-19], which is the second effective target to treat AHR. The ASM was predicted to be responsible for the enhanced narrowing of the airways by a computational model of bronchoconstriction [20]. This can occur through two possible mechanisms. First, an increase in ASM mass will result in an increase in contractile units causing larger contractions [21]. In so far as an increase in ASM may encroach upon the airway lumen the airways may be in a chronically narrowed state. An increase in extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition around the ASM will exacerbate this problem as well [22]. The second mechanism by which ASM can cause AHR is by a modulation in its phenotype such that each individual ASM cell is more contractile. This could be achieved through an enhanced expression of contractile proteins. The variety of endotypes seen within the asthmatic population suggests that either mechanism or a combination of both is possible. Relaxing the ASM by targeting beta-adrenergic receptors with selective beta2-agonists is a standard approach to treating acute asthma attacks by dilating the

airways. Long term administration of beta-agonists has also been demonstrated to reduce AHR suggesting increased ASM tone is also a contributor to AHR [23, 24].

#### 1.2 Airway remodeling

Airway remodeling involves more than just the ASM. Alterations in other components of the subepithelial space as well as the epithelium occur that can exacerbate asthmatic pathology. Changes to the epithelium include increased shedding, goblet cell hyperplasia and loss of ciliated cells [25]. Epithelial shedding destroys the barrier between the outside environment and the lung, causing an increased susceptibility to allergen and microbes, particularly viruses, thus increasing airway inflammation. An increase in goblet cells, the mucus producing cells of the airways, may also narrow the airways themselves [26]. A loss of ciliation will exacerbate the problems caused by mucus because of the lack of clearance by the ciliated cells. Subepithelial fibrosis is another hallmark of airway remodeling [27]. This is caused by increased collagen deposition at the basement membrane of the epithelium by fibroblasts as well as a reduced expression ratio of metalloproteinases to tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase [28]. An increase in myofibroblasts that are contractile like the ASM and pro-fibrotic like fibroblasts, can also contribute to remodeling [29]. These two components can lead to stiffening of the airways and organ malfunction respectively [30].

Similar to AHR, the severity of airway remodeling correlates directly with the severity of asthma. Increases in ASM mass, epithelial shedding, mucus production and fibrosis are all signs of a worsening asthmatic condition [25, 27]. AHR may be the physiological manifestation of airway remodeling, thus it has been proposed that reversing the structural changes in the airways may be the key to treating asthma. The causes behind airway remodeling are unknown, but to give further evidence to the above theory, airway remodeling can be treated using the same methods used to target AHR. It is theorized that ASM can be "trained" like skeletal muscle to induce hyperplasia and hypertrophy and thus preventing contraction may lead a "de-training" phenomenon. Airway contraction has also been shown to induce the release of

growth factors, such as HB-EGF, that can act on various airway cells to promote remodeling [31]. In culture, treating ASM cells with a beta-agonist can promote proliferation [32].

Administration of corticosteroids to reduce inflammation can also revert the airways to a healthy state [14, 33]. Chronic inflammation is currently the leading theory behind airway remodeling. In equine asthma, corticosteroids have been shown to reverse, in part, the increase in airway smooth muscle [34] that is characteristic of horses with so-called "heaves", a severe form of equine asthma. Inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and prostaglandins have been implicated in all aspects of remodeling from the epithelium to the ASM. IL-13, for example, is a known modulator of ASM phenotype promoting the expression of contractile proteins [35]. The structural cells such as the ASM and epithelium, are known to be pro-inflammation. Inhibiting immune cells such as eosinophils and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have shown to have restorative effects in *in vivo* studies [36, 37]. It is possible that inflammatory cells can directly contribute to AHR, but evidence points to the interactions with and modulation of structural cells as the most important role of inflammation in asthma. It is most likely a combination of both the autologous changes to the ASM through contraction and the external influence of inflammation that lead to both airway remodeling and AHR.

## 2. Airway Smooth Muscle

#### 2.1 Airway Smooth Muscle Phenotypes

As mentioned above, hyperproliferation and hypercontractility of the ASM are two properties that are hypothesized to be the key to AHR. Therefore, it is pertinent to understand how these changes in the ASM occur. ASM cells have been described to adopt two distinct phenotypes that align with these possible changes. The first is a contractile phenotype, thought to be a fully mature ASM cell within a tissue. As the name suggests, the contractile phenotype is marked by high expression levels of contractile proteins and an enhanced shortening response to contractile agonists, such as acetylcholine [38]. ASM cells of the contractile phenotype are also characterized by a reduced capacity to proliferate, which is in direct contrast to their second phenotype, the synthetic/proliferative (proliferative) phenotype. ASM cells of this phenotype are capable of proliferating and have limited expression of contractile proteins [39]. The proliferative phenotype is also characterized by increased expression and release of various signaling proteins such as cytokines, growth factors and prostaglandins [39].

The distinction between a contractile and proliferative phenotype were originally made on vascular smooth muscle cells by Chamley-Campbell [40]. Similar studies performed subsequently comparing ASM cells in culture to freshly isolated ASM found similar results [38]. ASM cells demonstrated a declining expression of contractile proteins the longer they were kept in vitro while their proliferative rate increased [39]. When ASM cells reached confluence, however, cells were growth arrested and an increased expression of contractile factors was observed [39]. This suggests that limiting ASM cell growth can induce maturation. This may be a phenomenon only seen in *in vitro* conditions, however there is some evidence suggesting that the contractile and proliferative phenotypes are naturally occurring competing expression patterns within the ASM [41, 42]. Myocardin (MYOCD) is a transcription factor described to be the master regulator of ASM contractility [41]. Transcription of  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin (ACTA), smooth muscle heavy chain 11 (MHC11), calponin (CNN) and myosin light chain kinase (MYLK), the components of the ASM contractile apparatus, are all regulated by MYOCD [41]. MYOCD requires binding to another transcriptions factor, serum response factor (SRF), in order to bind to its promoter [42]. SRF is part of the MADS-box gene family, which is an evolutionarily conserved family of proteins that is known to regulate cell differentiation. In ASM cells, SRF will also competitively bind to ETS domain-containing protein Elk-1 (ELK-1) that has been demonstrated to not only prevent MYOCD interactions with SRF but will actively suppress the transcription of MYOCD target genes as well [42].

The regulation of the two ASM cell phenotypes may be the key to remodeling the ASM as a shift toward the proliferative phenotype can lead to an increase in ASM mass, and an

enhancement of the contractile phenotype can produce stronger contractions. A balance of both phenotypes may be at play, where a cycle of proliferation and maturation into an enhanced contractile phenotype occur. Multiple studies have been done to tease out the possible regulators of these pathways and the nature of these transcription factors present multiple possibilities. ELK-1, SRF and MYOCD are known to be activated or suppressed, through variable phosphorylation by the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and protein kinase C (PKC) pathways [43, 44]. Both pathways are commonly converged on when cells are exposed to various stimuli, from growth factors to cytokines and from cell-to-cell interactions to cellextracellular matrix (ECM) interactions [45, 46]. Combined with *in vivo* measurements of these factors within the lung, as well as *in vitro* studies on the effects of these factors on ASM phenotype, the major players in regulating the phenotypic switch between contractility and proliferation have been identified and are possible mediators of the asthmatic condition.

## 2.2 Mechanical Modulation of Phenotype

One modifier of ASM cell phenotype is the mechanical load, such as the strain ASM senses during airway contraction. Early studies made use of compressible membranes coated in collagen to mimic *in vivo* contraction. Canine ASM cells isolated from the trachea, were grown on these membranes and subjected to short cycles of pressure by a vacuum applied to the membrane so as to deform it and thus applying mechanical strain to the cells [47]. The system used was found to apply the greatest strain at the periphery of the membrane creating a gradient toward the center [47]. ASM cells stimulated with high strain were found to express more MHC11 and MYLK compared to control ASM cells which were unstimulated [47]. No differences were found with a low strain stimulation compared to the control, demonstrating that the level of strain can dictate ASM cell phenotype [47]. A high strain stimulation, in contrast to the control, also demonstrated an increase in desmin expression, a cytoskeletal protein associated with fully differentiated cells and the contractile phenotype of ASM cells [47]. However, no differences in vimentin were found, another cytoskeletal protein associated with the epithelial-mesenchymal transition and the proliferative phenotype of ASM cells [47].

This shift towards the contractile phenotype was demonstrated to have functional consequences as well. In the same *in vitro* compression system, cell lysates from strained cells demonstrated a greater ability to phosphorylate LC20, the regulatory chain on the myosin light chain (MLC) and target of MYLK [48]. ATPase activity was also assessed with and without the presence of calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) in order to differentiate MYLK dependent ATPase activity from other ATPase dependent cellular processes. MYLK requires binding of Ca<sup>2+</sup> activated calmodulin in order to carry out its kinase function. Only MYLK dependent ATPase activity was elevated in strained ASM cells lysates compared to the control [48]. These studies have shown that ASM cells respond to mechanical strain by shifting towards a contractile phenotype which results in greater activity of contractile activators.

Recent studies have elucidated a mechanism behind the ASM cells response to mechanical strain. Strips of ASM were dissected from canine trachea and were placed vertically in a force transducer. ASM strips were then subjected to a 1g or 0.5g weight to induce a strain on the strips [49]. A 1g load induced greater activation of an integrin bound protein, focal adhesion kinase (FAK) compared to a 0.5g load [49]. This resulted in a reduced activation Protein kinase B (AKT), a kinase that has been shown to inhibit SRF binding to its promoter [49]. Greater inhibition of AKT at the 1g load resulted in increased MHC11 expression compared to ASM strips stimulated with a 0.5g load [49]. To test their synthetic activity, ASM was treated with IL-13 to induce eotaxin release. ASM strips under the 1g load demonstrated a reduced response release of eotaxin in response to IL-13 [49]. This suggests a greater load is not only inducing a contractile phenotype, but it is also inhibiting the proliferative phenotype. Treating tissues with elastase inhibited effects of mechanical strain on ASM strips. Elastase cleave ECM fibers, preventing the transfer of force between cells through integrins [50]. This is significant in the context of asthma, as asthmatic sputum was found to contain high levels of neutrophil elastase [51]. Elastase can also induce AHR in animal models, suggesting a possible mechanism for the induction of remodeling [52]. Other cell types can also interact with ASM through various integrins, such as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, providing other potential routes of ASM phenotype modulation [53].

## 2.3 Growth Factor Influence on Phenotype

Growth factors have the potential to have a major influence on ASM cell phenotype. These molecules are known to act on proliferative and differentiating pathways of various cell types, and they play a similar role in ASM cells. Three growth factors/family of growth factors have been identified as potent modulators of ASM phenotype and they are also found in higher levels in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from asthmatic patients compared to healthy subjects. These growth factors are transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) ligands: epidermal growth factor (EGF), heparin binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF), and amphiregulin (AREG).

Many sources of the abovementioned growth factors have been identified, from structural cells to infiltrating leukocytes, and their expression has both chronic and acute kinetics related to asthmatic pathology. Epithelial cells, for example. have been found to have elevated expression in asthmatics as assessed through immunohistochemical staining of tissue sections [54, 55]. A spike of growth factor release has also been demonstrated after an acute asthma attack which has been linked to airway contraction [56]. Both mechanical and chemical mechanisms have been proposed for growth factor release within the airways. Inducing contraction of airways through methacholine, a contractile agonist thought to only act on ASM cells, can induce the release of TGF- $\beta$  [31]. Application of transcellular pressure on epithelial cells can induce the release of HB-EGF [57]. A similar effect can be achieved using histamine, an airway contractile agonist, without the presence of any contractile load [58]. Functionally these growth factors from stimulated epithelial cells can modulate ASM phenotype in both proproliferative or pro-contractile directions.

2.3.1 TGF-в

TGF- $\beta$  is a growth factor that acts on a serine/threonine kinase receptor, causing a signaling cascade involving the Smads and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways that regulate cellular proliferation, differentiation, migration and apoptosis [59]. In the airways, many sources of TGF- $\beta$  have been identified, but in the asthmatic condition, the major producers are infiltrating eosinophils [60]. These inflammatory leukocytes contribute to Th2 responses in the airways and are a characteristic cellular marker of asthmatics. Multiple other sources of TGF- $\beta$  can be found within the mucosal and submucosal regions of the airway including epithelial cells, lymphocytes and ASM cells [61-63]. TGF- $\beta$ , paradoxically, has been demonstrated to act as both a proliferative and contractile stimulus on ASM cells but this may be explained by divergent signaling cascades activated in response to TGF- $\beta$ .

It has been demonstrated in multiple studies that treating ASM cells with TGF- $\beta$  in culture induces proliferation [64-66]. This response seems to be mediated by the phosphorylation/activation of MAPK and subsequent phosphorylation/activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1/2 (ERK1/2) upon activation of the TGF- $\beta$  receptor [64, 65]. It is possible that this pathway converges on the activation of ELK-1 as it is a known target of ERK-1/2 [67]. Treating ASM cells with an NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors or a corticosteroid such as dexamethasone can also inhibit TGF- $\beta$  stimulated proliferation implicating a possible role of inflammation [68]. There is some evidence that this augmentation in proliferation is independent of the Smad pathway as knocking out these proteins had no effect on ASM proliferation [68]. However, a separate study demonstrated that TGF- $\beta$  can activate Smad2/3 resulting in an increase expression and activation of histone deacetylase-4 (HDAC4) causing the upregulation of cyclin D1, a pro-proliferative regulator [66]. Activation of this pathway did result in ASM cell proliferation thus it is possible that multiple factors regulate the effect of TGF- $\beta$  on ASM cells and further research is required to elucidate the differences in these studies. Cellular metabolism is a regulator of the TGF- $\beta$  response. The proliferation induced by TGF- $\beta$  induces a Warburg-like effect, shifting ASM cell metabolism sharply towards glycolysis [69, 70]. This is accompanied by an increase in glucose consumption, an upregulation of glycolytic enzymes and a down regulation of cellular respiratory activators [69, 70]. TGF- $\beta$  stimulated proliferation can be inhibited by replacing glucose in the medium with 2-deoxy-D-glucose, a glucose analog that cannot be metabolized by glycolytic enzymes [69, 70]. This may be a simple energy imbalance, but some signaling consequences have been found as well. Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), an enzyme active during times of low [ATP] and high [AMP], by metformin can inhibit the activation of HDAC4 and subsequent induction of proliferation by TGF- $\beta$  [66]. TGF- $\beta$  has also been shown to have anti-proliferative effects on ASM treated with EGF and thrombin [71]. Interestingly, this effect was mediated through the inhibition of MAPK activation, therefore the effects of TGF- $\beta$  seem to be context dependent.

Not surprisingly TGF-β modulates ASM contractile activation. By mounting murine tracheal rings on a force transducer, an increase in force was found in response to bradykinin with TGF-β treatment [72]. An increase in peak calcium concentration in response to a contractile agonist demonstrated an augmentation in contractile activation had occurred. Recently, another mechanism has been proposed involving the activation of the Smad3 pathway [73]. Using human precision cut lung slices (PCLS) investigators determined that TGF-β enhanced MLC phosphorylation through inhibition of myosin phosphatase (MLP) causing enhanced narrowing of airways [73]. An increase in cell stiffness was also found after TGF-β treatment [73]. This is dependent on the activation of Smad3 and subsequent activation of ROCK, a negative regulator of MLP [73].

TGF- $\beta$  not only enhances contractile activation, it can induce a phenotype change leading an enhanced response attributable to effects downstream of contractile activation. Treating ASM cells in culture with TGF- $\beta$  induces hypertrophy and increases protein synthesis, including ACTA, MHC11 and MYLK [74, 75]. ASM cells were not just bigger, but there was an increase in length, taking on a more muscle-like morphology [74-76]. ACTA filaments were thicker and more organized in TGF- $\beta$  treated cells suggesting that cytoskeletal rearrangement into contractile filaments had occurred [75, 76]. Functionally, TGF- $\beta$  treated cells were stiffer than untreated cells and had an enhanced shortening response to a contractile agonist [75, 76]. Similar to its proliferative effects, multiple pathways have been found to be involved in the enhancement of contraction by TGF- $\beta$ . Activation of PI3K is required for the inhibition of Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4E-BP) a general translational repressor [75]. Other mechanisms have been proposed through the study of vascular smooth muscle since TGF- $\beta$  has a similar pro-contractile effect in this tissue. TGF- $\beta$  induces the activation of Ras homolog family member A (Rho-A) which seems to promote MAPK activation as well as Smad3 translocation into the nucleus [77, 78]. These processes lead to an increase in SRF expression and binding to serum response elements respectively, resulting in increased contractile gene expression [79-81].

The above evidence demonstrates that TGF- $\beta$  is a regulator of ASM phenotype and is a potential target for therapy. However, the variable effects of TGF- $\beta$  also suggest that modulating other aspects of TGF- $\beta$  signaling, such as nutrition, may be an alternative or a required supplement to molecular therapies.

## 2.3.2 PDGF

PDGF is another well studied modulator of ASM cells for its pro-proliferative properties. PDGF is known as a mitogen for a variety of cells, such as the epithelial cells and fibroblasts. It comes in four isoforms that homodimerize to bind to its receptors, PDGF receptor (PDGFR)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . PDGFR is a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) that dimerizes upon ligand binding and initiates the PI3K pathway [82]. Early reports found only elevated levels of PDGF in eosinophils from asthmatics [83, 84]. However, more recent studies have identified epithelial cells, along with eosinophils, as a source of increased PDGF in chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) patients with asthma compared to CRS patients without asthma [85]. Further studies are needed to elucidate the sources and elevation of PDGF expression in asthma but its effects on ASM are significant.

PDGF has been demonstrated as a possible mediator of ASM remodeling and AHR in asthma models. Intranasal administration of an adenovirus with PDGF encoded in the adenovirus genome to overexpress PDGF in the airways of mice was sufficient to induce ASM proliferation and an increase in ASM area [86]. An analysis of gene expression showed a downregulation of ASM contractile genes, however no changes in ASM cell size occurred with PDGF overexpression [86]. An increase in airway responsiveness was determined using methacholine challenges indicating that PDGF overexpression was sufficient to cause AHR [86]. PDGF was also found in the BAL of wild type ovalbumin (OVA) sensitized mice after chronic exposure to OVA to induce an asthma phenotype [86]. Chronic exposure to OVA also resulted in the same ASM outcomes as overexpressing PDGF in these mice [86]. In another asthma mouse model using exposure to diesel exhaust particulate matter, neutralizing PDGF through an antagonizing antibody inhibited increases in airway resistance and airway thickening [87]. Epithelial cells and macrophages were observed sources of PDGF in these mice [87].

PDGF has been observed as a pro-proliferative growth factor for ASM cells [86, 88-93]. ASM strips treated with PDGF produce less force in response to methacholine [93]. Similar to *in vivo* results, reduced contraction by the ASM paralleled reduced expression of contractile genes [93]. ASM from asthmatic rats have a greater proliferative response to PDGF compared to healthy rat ASM [92]. However, no differences in PDGFR phosphorylation was observed suggesting downstream signaling mechanisms are responsible for PDGF induce proliferation augmentation [92]. Two major pathways have been determined to regulate PDGF-induced proliferation: the PI3K pathway and the Janus Kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription proteins (STAT) pathway. PI3K is a common target of RTK such as the PDGFR, and transduces its signal through activation of kinases, ERK1/2 and AKT, and through calcium-dependent signaling. PDGF causes the activation of both ERK1/2 and AKT in ASM cells, as well

as increasing intracellular calcium concentrations [88, 92, 94-96]. Inhibition of any of these of proteins and knocking out Orai1 or STIM1, regulators of the store-operated calcium entry response, prevents PDGF induced proliferation [88, 94-96]. PDGF also activates JAK2-STAT3 leading to expression and suppression of STAT3 target genes cyclin D1 (pro-proliferative) and p27 (anti-proliferative), respectively [90, 97].

Other cellular processes can also regulate the effectiveness of PDGF pro-proliferative processes. One of the targets of AKT is mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a nutrient sensor that regulates PDGF induced proliferation [95]. AMPK activation through metformin can inhibit PDGF induced proliferation through inhibition of mTOR, suggesting nutrient levels or rates of cellular metabolism can affect PDGF induced proliferation of ASM cells [95, 98]. Metformin had no measurable effects on ASM stiffness [98]. Casticin, an anti-inflammatory found in certain plants, can also inhibit PDGF induced proliferation through inhibition of ERK1/2 and NFκB [94]. It was recently found that the pro-inflammatory regulator NFkB can also be a major regulator of PDGF signaling in ASM as it appears to be essential for PDGF induced proliferation and downregulation of contractile genes [94, 99]. Dimethyl sulfoxide a modulator of the antioxidant response, can also reduce PDGF induced proliferation through enhanced heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) expression [89]. Increase in this antioxidant mediator is significant because activation of STATs can be regulated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) [100]. Similar to TGF-β, addressing separate cellular processes, such as inflammation, may resolve or suppress PDGF related pathologies.

## 2.3.3 EGFR Ligands

The EGFR ligands are a major family of growth factors commonly known as modulators of ASM phenotype. Like the PDGFR, the EGFR is a RTK with 4 isoforms that dimerize upon ligand binding, initiating a signaling cascade. Three ligands of the EGFR have been associated with asthma and airway remodeling: EGF, HB-EGF and AREG. In asthma, EGFR signaling has been mainly associated with epithelial cell repair and differentiation into mucus-producing goblet

cells [101-104]. Epithelial cells are also known as the major sources of EGFR ligands when stimulated with various stressors, such as epithelial shedding, physical contraction and cytokine signaling [55, 58, 103, 105]. ASM cells also have a similar upregulation of EGFR ligand expression in response to these stressors [58, 106, 107]. EGFR ligands can also be stored within the extracellular space bound to extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins that are released upon shearing of ECM fibers through the action of MMPs [108]. Activation of the EGFR is a proproliferative process and has been demonstrated as a driver of ASM remodeling both *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

The potential for EGFR ligands to drive ASM remodeling has been elucidated in both human and animal model studies. Histological analysis of bronchoscopic biopsies revealed that ASM in biopsies from severe asthmatics expressed more HB-EGF than in healthy airway samples [107]. Rat models of asthma revealed increased expression of HB-EGF in the epithelium upon repeated OVA challenges, along with increased ASM mass and AHR [109]. The ASM remodeling was inhibited by pretreating these rats with an EGFR inhibitor, AG1478 [109, 110]. ASM thickening was enhanced with intranasal treatment with HB-EGF along with OVA challenges in a mouse model of asthma [111]. A similar study in the rat found that increased MHC11 expression in ASM of the large airways by OVA challenge can also be inhibited by AG1478 [110]. Conversely, this study did not find increased HB-EGF expression in the epithelium, but elevated levels of HB-EGF and AREG were detected in BAL samples [110]. The effects on ASM remodeling by inhibiting EGFR was mirrored in a mouse study using house dust mite challenges and EGFR inhibition through erlotinib or by the expression of a dominant negative EGFR expressing mouse [112]. Elevated levels of EGF and AREG were also found in sputum samples from asthmatics after an acute asthma attack, demonstrating that challenge of the airways in humans also induces increased EGFR expression [104]. Various other animal model studies have demonstrated a release of EGFR ligands in the airways upon exposure to various insults, such as microbes, allergens and environmental pollutants, however the authors did not make any correlations to changes in the ASM [105, 113, 114].

Activation of the EGFR is known to induce proliferation of ASM cells *in vitro*. HB-EGF, EGF and AREG were all found to induce proliferation of ASM cells through similar pathways [58, 104, 109, 110, 115-117]. EGFR, being an RTK, will activate the PI3K pathway leading to subsequent activation of ERK1/2, AKT and MAPK. These three kinases are the major downstream regulators of this pathway and are commonly used as markers of PI3K activation. Treating ASM cells with EGFR ligands was found to induce phosphorylation, and therefore activation, of all these kinases [104, 113, 117]. To further strengthen this evidence, inhibition of the proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src (Src), a necessary activator of PI3K, inhibited EGF-induced proliferation [118]. Activation of the PI3K pathway was also found in whole lung lysates of OVA sensitized mice [113]. The possible mechanisms behind PI3K modulation of the ASM phenotype have been described above.

Similar to TGF- $\beta$  and PDGF induced proliferation, secondary factors, such as inflammation, seem to play a role in EGFR mediated proliferation by ASM cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are possible mediators of EGFR activation as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-induced ASM proliferation can be inhibited by afatinib, another EGFR inhibitor [119]. Furthermore, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been shown to mediate remodeling in murine asthma models and possibly human asthmatics as well [120, 121]. Treating ASM cells with fluticasone or dexamethasone, two anti-inflammatories, enhanced EGF binding to the EGFR [122]. It is unclear of the functional consequences of enhanced binding since dexamethasone is also known to inhibit EGF-induced proliferation of ASM cells [116]. A  $\beta$ 2-agonist was demonstrated to reduce the binding of EGF to the EGFR suggesting that the contractile state or stiffness of the muscle may modulate proliferative responses [122]. EGF induced proliferation was also inhibited by  $\beta$ 2-agonists in a cyclic-adenosine-monophosphate (AMP) dependent manner [123]. Again, effects of growth factors on ASM phenotype are dependent on several other factors and treating asthmatics with anti-inflammatories and bronchodilators, as in current practice, may have growth factor-dependent benefits outside of their intended actions.

### 2.4 Role of Inflammation and Cytokine Signaling in Phenotype Modulation

Inflammation plays a key role in asthma pathology. Various pro-inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines, have been found at elevated levels in asthmatic airway samples and have been implicated in driving the disease in animal models. Various sources of inflammation can be found within the airways from infiltrating leukocytes to the structural cells within the airway. This pro-inflammatory environment can modulate the ASM phenotype in multiple ways. As described above, it can modulate growth factor signaling but it can also initiate growth factor release from both ASM and the epithelium. Studies have also shown that cytokines and pro-inflammatory lipid mediators may modulate ASM phenotype directly. Three families of pro-inflammatory mediators have been implicated as the major regulators of ASM: Th2/17 cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$ , and lipid mediators.

### 2.4.1 T-Helper Cytokines

T-helper cytokines get their name for being distinct markers of T-helper subset activity but they are known to be expressed by various other leukocytes and structural cells, including the ASM. The Th2 phenotype is one of the better recognized endotypes of asthma as it is known to mediate the allergic response, including immunoglobulin class switching. Th2 cells are thought to be the major source of Th2 cytokines in asthma but mast cells, type II innate-like lymphoid cells (ILC2), epithelial cells and ASM cells are also contributing sources. IL-4, IL-13 and IL-8 have been studied as regulators of ASM phenotype and have been shown to drive asthma in multiple asthma models. Th17 cells, characterized by IL-17 expression, have also been implicated in asthma and ASM remodeling in murine asthma models. Evidence shows that T-helper cytokines, and thus CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, are possible drivers of asthma pathology.

### 2.4.1.1 IL-4 and IL-13

IL-4 and IL-13 are the prototypical Th2 cytokines and are commonly linked in their activity as they share a receptor subunit, IL-4 receptor (IL-4R)  $\alpha$ . IL-4 uses the common gamma chain as its

second subunit while IL-13 uses the IL-13 receptor  $\alpha$ 1. Signaling by these two cytokines converges on the activation of STAT6, a transcription factor, but IL-4 is capable of initiating the PI3K pathway through the common gamma chain subunit. There is some evidence for IL-13 also activating PI3K in colon cancer cells but it was dependent on signaling through scaffold proteins and FAK [124]. This may have implications in ASM as FAK activation has also been implicated in ASM phenotype modulation by mechanical stimulation [125]. IL-13 also binds the IL-13 receptor  $\alpha$ 2, however, this subunit is described as a decoy receptor, sequestering IL-13. The Th2 responses are known to play a role in the clearance of bacteria and are critical for the formation of mature immunoglobulin producing B cells. This axis of the T helper response is also associated with allergic responses, like those seen in asthma pathology.

The effects of IL-4 and IL-13 on asthma pathology have not been completely elucidated, however, it is clear they are able to promote AHR. Analysis of bronchial biopsies showed an increased number of IL4R $\alpha$  expressing cells in asthmatics, however, there was no difference in IL4R $\alpha^+$  cells within ASM bundles [126]. The effect of IL4R $\alpha$  varies as IL-4 is dependent on IL4R $\alpha$ signaling, while IL-13 can induce AHR independently. By knocking out Stat6 in an OVA sensitized murine model of asthma, the development of AHR can be prevented [127]. Inhibiting IL-4 and IL-13 using antagonists produces a similar effect [128]. The two cytokines have had implications for AHR independently of one another. Treating mice with IL-4 intratracheally could induce AHR and this phenomenon was independent of knocking out IL-13 [129]. Inhibiting IL4R $\alpha$  however, prevented IL-4 induced AHR [129]. By transferring IL-13-null CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells into mice and stimulating them with OVA, researchers demonstrated that IL-13, specifically from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, is required for allergen induced AHR [130]. Interestingly, this effect was not inhibited by knocking out IL4R $\alpha$  or STAT6, demonstrating that IL-13 can induce AHR in an IL-4 and IL-4R $\alpha$ independent manner [130]. The effects on ASM remodeling were not assessed in these studies.

The implications of IL4R $\alpha$  signaling in ASM were studied in a set of experiments using selective expression or knockout of IL4R $\alpha$  in ASM cells. First, a cre-lox system was created where a flox-

IL4R $\alpha$  was cleaved by a cre-recombinase controlled by the MYH11 promoter resulting in mice lacking IL4R $\alpha$  in the ASM only [131]. These mice developed AHR after sensitization and challenge with OVA, suggesting IL4R $\alpha$  was not necessary for AHR [131]. No differences in any other asthma marker, such as airway inflammation or goblet cell hyperplasia, were found [131]. A separate study demonstrated the sufficiency of IL4R $\alpha$  signaling in ASM to induce AHR. A mouse expressing a transgene for IL4R $\alpha$  controlled by the smooth muscle specific promoter, SMP8, was bred with an IL4R $\alpha$  knockout mouse creating a model where IL4R $\alpha$  was only active in ASM (IL4R $\alpha^{ASM}$ ) [132]. Intratracheal treatment with IL-13 induced AHR in these mice while an IL4R $\alpha^{-/-}$  mouse similarly treated did not show the same effect [132]. The level of AHR, however, was not as great as IL4R $\alpha^{+/-}$  mice treated with IL-13 [132]. IL-4 had a similar effect, except IL4R $\alpha^{ASM}$  mice showed the highest level of airway responsiveness [132]. Challenging mice with the allergen, house dust mite, reproduced the effects of IL-4 treatment, showing IL-4 signaling, at the very least, is involved in allergen mediated AHR [132]. IL-13 and IL-4 were still able to induce AHR in a selective knock out of IL4R $\alpha$  in this study, however IL-13 did so to a lesser degree [132]. These experiments show a sufficiency but necessity of IL4R $\alpha$  signaling in ASM to induce AHR.

*In vitro* studies on IL-4 and IL-13 have enabled the proposing of possible mechanisms by which these cytokines can modulate the ASM phenotype and cause the above-mentioned pathologies. Both cytokines are known to inhibit growth factor induced proliferation of ASM cells through an inhibition of cyclin D1 upregulation [133, 134]. They can contribute to synthetic activities of the ASM. When given to ASM cells in combination with either TNF $\alpha$  or IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4 and IL-13 can enhance eotaxin release [135, 136]. Inhibiting IL4R $\alpha$  and the ERK/MAPK pathway prevents the response demonstrating that IL4R $\alpha$  signaling activates the ERK/MAPK pathway [135, 136]. The context dependence of this pathway is again exemplified, as this pathway has been shown to be pro-proliferative in response to growth factors. A separate study showed IL-13 itself can induce eotaxin and, interestingly, IL-13 pre-treatment can inhibit this response [137]. Desensitization to IL-13 occurs through an upregulation of IL-13R $\alpha$ 2 [137]. This receptor is known as a decoy receptor but its expression was required for IL-13 to inhibit PDGF induced

proliferation [133]. Recent studies have discovered that IL-13Rα2 has signaling properties through interactions with the EGFR and activator protein-1, however, these findings were in the context of glioblastoma tumor cells [138, 139]. Further research is required to elucidate the significance of IL-13Rα2 expression by ASM.

IL-4 and IL-13 can also modulate contractile properties of ASM but they may have opposing effects. IL-13 is known as a pro-contractile factor while IL-4 can be both pro- and anticontractile. Force production by murine ASM tissue in response to acetylcholine was significantly enhanced by IL-13 pre-treatment [35]. ASM tissue from mice intranasally treated with IL-13 was also able to produce greater force than without IL-13 [35]. The increased expression of RhoA induced by IL-13 was postulated as a possible mediator of this response [35]. Using gel contraction assays, further proof was obtained of IL-13's pro-contractile properties and IL-4's opposing contractile properties. IL-13 pre-treatment enhanced gel contraction in response to adenosine-triphosphate (ATP) while IL-4 diminished contraction [140]. However at high concentrations IL-13 slightly abrogated the enhanced contractile response [140]. IL-4 at low concentrations, however, augmented contractile responses [140]. It was determined that PI3K dependent expression of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 was required for both the IL-13 and IL-4 mediated contractile modulation [140]. It is not clear how MMP-1 can both enhance and diminish contractility, but it appears to be concentration dependent. The authors suggested that MMP-1 can induce a reorganization of the ECM to allow for more efficient contraction but an overabundance can detach ECM connections from the ASM cell, reducing force transfer [140]. This theory was supported by data showing IL-4 inducing higher expression of MMP-1 compared to IL-13, as well as analysis of greater ECM density by electron microscopy with IL-13 treatment compared to IL-4 [140]. It was also shown IL-4 can be more pro-contractile than IL-13 when MMP-1 was knocked down in ASM cells [140].

Different signaling outcomes may account for the differences between IL-13 and IL-4. IL-13 enhanced peak calcium response to histamine by ASM cells while IL-4 reduced peak calcium

responses to carbachol [133, 141]. IL-4 reduced calcium response was dependent on activation of PI3K [141]. No force measurements were made on IL-4 treated cells but the stiffness of IL-13 treated cells was measured through atomic force microscopy after histamine stimulation. IL-13 treated cells were significantly stiffer than cells without treatment but no differences in contractile protein expression was found [133]. This suggests that IL-13 can modulate ASM contractile responses without enhancing expression of the contractile apparatus, but it may still be able to. A recent study comparing IL-13 responses by ASM from healthy and cystic fibrosis patients showed IL-13 can upregulate MYLK expression [142]. Activation kinetics of STAT6 also differ slightly between IL-13 and IL-4 and ASM cells. Phosphorylation of STAT6 peaks at 15min and 1h with IL-4 and IL-13 treatment respectively [143]. Activation kinetics of the downstream kinase, ERK, however, were not different [143]. IL-13 diminished the relaxation response to isoproterenol in ASM which was determined to be ERK dependent [143]. IL-4 did change responses to isoproterenol, even though a similar degree of activation of ERK to IL-13 was achieved [143]. The effects of IL-4 are still unclear but IL-13 has proven to be a pro-contractile factor for ASM.

## 2.4.1.2 IL-8

IL-8, also known as chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)8, is a chemoattractant that is not commonly associated with a specific T-helper response, but it has implications in Th2 immunity as eosinophils have been identified as a major source in asthmatics [144]. Other sources of IL-8 in the airways include macrophages and epithelial cells [145, 146]. IL-8 is best known for its ability to attract neutrophils and is correlated with airway neutrophilia in asthmatics [147, 148]. The highest levels of IL-8 in the serum are found in patients during an asthma attack [149]. This is significant as neutrophils are one of the earliest infiltrating leukocytes during an airway challenge. IL-8 has properties in addition to chemoattraction. Its receptors include C-X-C motif chemokine receptor (CXCR) 1 and 2. These G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) induce a cascade of G-protein signaling that leads to the activation of PI3K and ERK, a pathway common to many modulators of ASM phenotype.

The effects of IL-8 on ASM or AHR have not been greatly studied *in vivo* outside of neutrophilic effects but much *in vitro* research has demonstrated IL-8 as a modulator of the ASM phenotype. One in vivo study implicated CXCR1/2 in mediating neutrophilia and AHR in IL-33 and IL-17 induced AHR, however, this study did not examine the effects of IL-8 directly [150]. In vitro, ASM cells have been demonstrated to be able to produce IL-8 with various stimuli, such as antimicrobial peptides, cigarette smoke extracts, cytokines and growth factors [151-154]. Interestingly, Th2 cytokines, IL-4,13 and 10, repressed IL-1β induced IL-8 expression while the Th17 cytokine IL-17, enhanced it [152, 155]. IL-8 expression by ASM might have implications for airway neutrophilia as its expression is regulated by neutrophil elastase, but IL-8 stimulation seems to have both pro-contractile and pro-proliferative consequences for ASM cells [156]. It was determined that IL-8 itself can act as a contractile agonist. IL-8 induces phospholipase C dependent release of intracellular calcium stores, resulting in the activation of actin-myosin cross-bridging and cellular contraction [157, 158]. IL-8 is also a mitogen for ASM [158]. Airway epithelial cells have been shown to express high level of IL-8 when exposed to Areca nuts, an allergen associated with increased asthma risk [159-161]. Conditioned medium from these cells was able to induce ASM cell proliferation in an IL-8 dependent manner [159]. These results show possible mechanisms by which IL-8 can contribute to remodeling and AHR outside of its chemotactic functions.

## 2.4.1.3 IL-17

IL-17 is a marker of the Th17 phenotype of CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells and is associated with the clearance of fungal infections. Although there is some evidence that severe asthma may be associated with fungal colonization, IL-17 has implications beyond fungal involvement in driving the disease. High levels of IL-17 can be found in the BAL or sputum of asthmatics [162-165]. Biopsies reveal an increase in IL-17<sup>+</sup> cells as well. IL-17 also correlates with functional outcomes of asthmatics [163]. Levels of IL-17 in asthmatic sputum samples correlated positively with the level of AHR [165]. IL-17 mRNA in the sputum also correlates with the level of airway neutrophilia [164]. It may even regulate steroid insensitivity in some asthma patients [162, 166]. Although Th17 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are known to be the main producers of IL-17 in the airways, other sources have been identified from epithelial cells to other leukocytes such as ILC3s, B cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells [163, 167-169].

Many in vivo studies have demonstrated that IL-17 production is vital for the induction of AHR in various models. Ozone-induced AHR in mice can be prevented by knocking out the IL-17 receptor (IL-17R) [170]. A similar effect can be achieved using an intranasal sensitization to an allergen, such as OVA or house dust mite, and again knocking out IL-17R or treating mice with an antagonistic antibody for IL-17 [171-173]. Cytokine induced AHR can be exacerbated with the addition of IL-17. Intranasal administration of IL-13 induced AHR but it also increased the number of IL-17 producing CD4 and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells [174]. By co-administering IL-13 and IL-17, AHR was exacerbated but only at low levels of IL-17 as high levels had an opposing effect [174]. A combination of IL-33 and IL-17 can also induce greater AHR than either cytokine alone [150]. Many of these studies have found that IL-17 treatment enhances neutrophilia and CXCR2 signaling which is necessary for IL-17's effects on AHR [150, 170-172]. It is commonly known that IL-17 does induce IL-8 release in various cells but it may also play a role in remodeling. Airway remodeling, including ASM and goblet cell hyperplasia, induced by OVA sensitization in mice can be amplified by adoptively transferring Th17 cells [175]. The level of remodeling and AHR even correlated with Th17 cells in the lung [175]. This remodeling was determined to be EGFR dependent with HB-EGF being the likely activating ligand, demonstrating Th17 cells are also capable of inducing HB-EGF expression [175]. Th17 cells were able to induce HB-EGF expression by epithelial cells when placed in co-culture, which was then shown to induce ASM proliferation [175].

*In vitro* studies have implicated IL-17 as a regulator of many ASM cell functions including the expression of IL-8, potentially contributing to neutrophilia [176-178]. The IL-17 receptor uses TNF receptor associated factor (TRAF) 6 and NF-κB activator 1 (Act1) adaptor proteins to induce a signaling cascades down both the NF-κB and MAPK pathways. IL-17-induced IL-8 expression

was shown to be dependent on both the NF-κB and MAPK pathways [179]. As discussed previously, ERK1/2 are 2 of the major kinases in the MAPK pathway and regulate ASM phenotype. IL-17 was shown to induce proliferation of ASM cells which was inhibited by knocking down or antagonizing ERK1/2 [180]. Inhibition of NF-κB however, did not prevent IL-17 induced proliferation, but it may play a role in modulation of ASM contractility [180]. Treating tracheal rings with IL-17 increased contractile force production in response to methacholine [171, 181, 182]. NF-κB-mediated upregulation of RhoA and ROCK was responsible for the increased contraction [171, 181]. Recently, a second mechanism independent of NF-κB was found. IL-17 was found to activate Ras-related protein Rab-35 (Rab35) by recruitment to Act1 [182]. Through adaptor proteins, Rab35 recruits and activates Protein Kinase C (PKC) alpha which in turn recruits and binds to Fascin [182]. Fascin is a protein that bundles actin filaments, preventing them from forming contractile units with myosin. The recruitment of Fascin to PKCα freed actin filaments to interact with myosin filaments, increasing contractile force production by ASM [182]. It is clear that IL-17 has various potential mechanisms by which it may mediate ASM remodeling in asthmatics.

## 2.4.2 II-1β and TNFα

IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  are pro-inflammatory cytokines that are key regulators of inflammatory processes in clearing infections and inflammatory diseases. Both cytokines are mainly expressed by cells in the innate arm of the immune response such as macrophages and mast cells [183, 184]. These leukocytes use IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  to induce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression locally and systemically. IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  are released early during infections and are associated with initiating immune responses at the site of infection but they are also released systemically mediating symptoms such as fever [183, 184]. They can also regulate other cellular processes such as differentiation and apoptosis [183, 184]. IL-1 $\beta$  and its regulator, an inflammatory protein complex called the inflammasome, also regulates a specialized apoptotic process associated with high levels of inflammation named pyroptosis [183]. Elevated levels of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  have been found in various compartments of the lung and body including BAL, sputum and serum [185-194]. Expression analysis of cells from the BAL and sputum, as well as histological analysis of bronchial biopsies, revealed various cells that express IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  in asthmatics. The major producers of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  are macrophages and mast cells respectively, but neutrophils, eosinophils and epithelial cells are also capable of producing these cytokines [186, 188-195]. Both cytokines have been associated with levels of airway neutrophilia, particularly in severe asthmatics [186, 196-198]. Levels of NACHT, LRR and PYD domain-containing protein 3 (NLRP3), an essential component of the inflammasome, and IL-1 $\beta$  in the sputum and BAL correlated with neutrophilic asthmatic patients, but not eosinophilic [186, 198]. Experiments where healthy and mild asthmatic subjects were treated with inhaled TNF $\alpha$  both increased AHR and neutrophils in sputum samples [199, 200].

Studies done on animal models have revealed functional IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  roles in vivo that correlate with the above human findings. Intratracheal treatment with either cytokine is capable of inducing AHR in mice that was accompanied by a significant increase in neutrophils within the BAL [201-204]. Both cytokines have been found to play essential roles in various other animal models of asthma. Allergen sensitization increased both TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels in the BAL of mice [201, 204-206]. Inhibiting these cytokines prevents the development of AHR and in the case of TNF $\alpha$ , mast cells were the key source [201, 204-208]. Preventing mast cell development through knock out of KIT proto-oncogene RTK was sufficient to reduce AHR to levels similar to TNFa inhibition [204]. One study did find that knocking out TNFa exacerbated OVA induced AHR while overexpression of TNF $\alpha$  prevented AHR [209]. This effect was dependent on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells as inhibiting their activity abolished the protective effects of TNF $\alpha$ , suggesting context-dependent roles of TNFa [209]. Knocking out the inflammasome components, NLRP3 or Apoptosis-associated speck like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain (ASC), or the IL-1 receptor also mimicked IL-1 $\beta$  inhibition in allergen models of asthma [205, 208]. Chemically induced AHR using pollutants such as ozone can also be prevented by antagonizing IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF $\alpha$  [210-213].

IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  can also have significant effects on ASM function, giving these cytokines multiple possible roles in mediating AHR other than just regulating inflammatory responses. Studies have also shown that they have synergistic functions in augmenting ASM contractility. Both cytokines have been demonstrated to increase shortening and force production by ASM while inhibiting proliferation [203, 214-217]. One study did find that IL-1 $\beta$  can have mitogenic effects through the MAPK pathway but the exact same signaling cascade has been implicated in IL-1β mediated enhanced contractility [216, 218]. Both cytokines were found to enhance the contractile response to 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT; serotonin) which induces weak contractile response in baseline conditions [203, 216]. Oddly,  $IL-1\beta$  reduces contractile force production in response to histamine [219]. The synergistic effects of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  have been mainly studied in the context of relaxant responses. Various studies have shown that ASM maintain their stiffness in response to isoproterenol when treated with either IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF $\alpha$  but not to the degree of a combined treatment [220-223]. This effect was mediated by an increase in cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) expression leading to an increased synthesis and autocrine signaling of PGE<sub>2</sub> [221, 222]. Increased force production and shortening was also measured but its connection to COX2 and PGE<sub>2</sub> is unclear as PGE<sub>2</sub> is a known relaxant of ASM cells [221, 223, 224]. Transcriptomic analysis revealed that with combined treatment ASM upregulates many genes in response to IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  [221]. These include various cytokines and adhesion molecules that have functional consequences on interacting cells [221]. Supernatant from IL-1 $\beta$ and TNF $\alpha$ -stimulated ASM can enhance eosinophil viability through GM-CSF [225, 226]. Upregulation of adhesion molecules such as Intercellular Adhesion Molecule (ICAM)-1 increases interactions with CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells [227, 228].

The presented evidence demonstrates IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  as complex and diverse mediators of asthma pathology. They can have direct effects on ASM to induce AHR, but they can also mediate inflammatory processes in the lung, that can then act on ASM to induce AHR.

### 2.4.3 Lipid Mediators: Leukotrienes and Prostaglandins

Leukotrienes (LT) and prostaglandins (PG) are lipid-based molecules and are part of the eicosanoid family that mediate pro-inflammatory responses. Both eicosanoids are synthesized through various enzymatic reactions on arachidonic acid. PGs require COX-1 or 2 in conjunction with PGE synthase to form PGE<sub>2</sub> or PGD synthase to form PGD<sub>2</sub> while LTs depend on 5-lipoxygenase (5LO) to form LTA<sub>4</sub> which is either hydrolyzed by LTA<sub>4</sub> hydrolase (LTA<sub>4</sub>H) to form LTB<sub>4</sub> or is bound to a glutathione molecule by LTC<sub>4</sub> synthase (LTC<sub>4</sub>S) to form the cysteinyl (Cys) LTS: LTC<sub>4</sub>, LTD<sub>4</sub>, and LTE<sub>4</sub>. Synthesis of LTs is limited to certain cell types due to the limited expression of their synthetic enzymes. The complete synthetic pathway is typically found in leukocytes but LTA<sub>4</sub>'s ability to cross cellular membranes allows for a process called transcellular biosynthesis. Mice lacking 5LO transplanted with bone marrow cells from LTA<sub>4</sub>H and LTC<sub>4</sub>S lacking mice expressed normal levels of LTs in response to Zymosan [229].

Both LTs and PGs have been found at elevated levels in asthmatics, but they may play opposing roles as LTs have been associated with exacerbating the disease, PGs seem to have protective capabilities. Phospholipase  $A_2$  (PLA<sub>2</sub>), a secreted enzyme responsible for the synthesis of arachidonic acid is found at elevated levels in BAL of asthmatics suggesting an increase potential for the production of PGs and LTs [230, 231]. Staining of bronchoscopy samples found epithelial cells and macrophages to be the major producers of PLA<sub>2 [230]</sub>. LTB<sub>4</sub>, CysLTs, PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGD<sub>2</sub> have also been measured at elevated levels in asthmatic BAL and sputum with or without a respiratory challenge such as an allergen or an exercise test [232-237]. CysLTs can even be found in exhaled condensates from asthmatics [232, 234, 238]. The sources of these eicosanoids require consensus but various cells from mast cells and macrophages to epithelial cells and ASM cells have been proposed [239, 240]. The levels of LTs and PGs tended to correlate with opposing inflammatory and lung function readouts. Sputum levels of PGE<sub>2</sub> were highest in patients without eosinophilia, while CysLT levels trended with the eosinophil count [233]. PGE<sub>2</sub> and CysLTs correlated with FEV<sub>1</sub> in a similar manner, thus suggesting protective and harmful roles of PGs and LTs respectively [233]. CysLT levels are also correlated with asthma severity and the magnitude of the fall in  $FEV_1$  with exercise induced bronchoconstriction [232, 235]. Treatment of patients with inhaled LTs or PGE<sub>2</sub> gave definitive evidence for their opposing roles. LTD<sub>4</sub> inhalation did not significantly exacerbate AHR but it did enhance eosinophilia while PGE<sub>2</sub> inhibited early and late phase responses to allergen [241, 242]. Inhalation of CysLTs was able to exacerbate AHR in asthmatics subjects only [243].

### 2.4.3.1 Leukotrienes in Experimental Models

Modulation of LTB<sub>4</sub> and CysLT expression and signaling in animal models of asthma have further demonstrated their harmful role in asthma. In dogs, inhaled treatment of LTB<sub>4</sub> was sufficient to induce AHR and neutrophilia but LTD<sub>4</sub> failed to do the same in mice [244, 245]. LTD<sub>4</sub> is able to exacerbate AHR, neutrophilia and eosinophilia when given in combination with OVA [245]. OVA sensitization was shown to increase levels of both LTD<sub>4</sub> and CysLTs in the BAL and lung tissue, respectively [246, 247]. An irritant model of asthma using inhaled chlorine demonstrated that chlorine elevates CysLT levels in the BAL and enhances CysLT receptor (CysLTR) 1 expression in the lung [248]. AHR brought on by both OVA and chlorine can be prevented using various methods of LT inhibition [247, 249-252]. OVA sensitization fails to induce AHR, eosinophilia and neutrophilia in LTB<sub>4</sub> receptor (BLT) 1 or LTA<sub>4</sub>H knockout mice [247, 249-252]. This effect was dependent on BLT1 expression on CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells and dendritic cells (DC), required to induce proper Th2 responses and thus LTB<sub>4</sub> may not have a direct action on ASM [247, 249].

CysLTs may play a more direct role in ASM modulation. Inhibition of CysLT signaling using CysLTR1 inhibitors, montelukast or 36ranlukast, confers a similar inhibition of OVA induced pathologies as knocking out BLT1 and LTA<sub>4</sub>H [245, 246, 253, 254]. These effects are mimicked in studies using chlorine inhalation [248]. CysLTR1 inhibition was also shown to prevent airway remodeling in OVA sensitized mice [246, 253, 254]. Both a reduction in ASM area and goblet cell numbers were observed [246, 253, 254]. No changes in ASM cell area was found with montelukast treatment but reduced DNA synthesis was discovered as a marker of reduced proliferation with pranlukast [246, 253]. This suggests that CysLTs are involved in ASM hyperplasia but not hypertrophy. Overexpression of CysLTR1 on ASM induced spontaneous AHR in mice, however, it had no effect on allergen induced AHR [255]. The findings in irritant asthma
caused by chlorine involving innate immune mechanisms differ from findings from allergen driven models involving adaptive immunity. Knocking out CysLTR1 exacerbates rather than protects against chlorine induced airway inflammation and AHR [256]. CysLTs appear to be required for a functional antioxidant response by epithelial cells, demonstrated to be a protective mechanism against chlorine [256].

*In vitro* studies demonstrate both proliferative and contractile functions of LTB<sub>4</sub> and CysLTs. Both LTB<sub>4</sub> and LTD<sub>4</sub> have shown mitogenic properties in ASM cells through activation of the PI3K, ERK and MAPK pathways, however, LTD<sub>4</sub> acts indirectly on these pathways [257]. LTD<sub>4</sub>induced proliferation was dependent on the activation of the EGFR and subsequent activation of ERK [258-260]. Through the same pathway, LTD<sub>4</sub> can potentiate EGF and TGF-β induced ASM cell proliferation [258-260]. Other studies have shown that LTD<sub>4</sub> cannot induce ASM cell proliferation alone, thus its proliferative effects may be dependent on the presence of EGFR ligands or LTD<sub>4</sub> may have the ability to induce EGFR ligand expression in certain contexts [259, 260]. Indirect induction of proliferation has yet to be studied using LTB<sub>4</sub>. LTB<sub>4</sub> and LTD<sub>4</sub> were found to induce increases in intracellular calcium concentrations and subsequent ASM contraction by stimulating ASM tissue and tracheal rings [255, 260-263]. Overexpressing the CysLTR1 in ASM cells can even augment force generation in response to LTD<sub>4</sub> [255]. LTD<sub>4</sub> also induces actin cytoskeletal rearrangement through Rho GTPases, forming organized filaments associated with increased contractility [264]. The mechanism underlying LTB<sub>4</sub> induced contraction has yet to be elucidated.

## 2.4.3.2 Prostaglandins in Experimental Models

*In vivo* studies on PGs have been mostly conducted through the genetic and chemical inhibition of PG synthetic enzymes, however protective effects of PGE<sub>2</sub> have also been demonstrated through the administration of exogenous PGE<sub>2</sub> and a PGE<sub>2</sub> receptor (EP2)-agonist, butaprost. Allergen induced AHR and eosinophilia using house dust mites can be inhibited by intranasal administration of either PGE<sub>2</sub> or butaprost [265]. This effect of PGE<sub>2</sub> was suggested to be dependent on mast cells [265]. Inhibition of COX1/2 using indomethacin has been shown to exacerbate OVA induced AHR in mice that was accompanied by increased eosinophilia and lymphocytosis [266, 267]. IL-13 and IL-5 were the only T-helper cytokines found in elevated levels in the lung tissue [266, 267]. Knocking out EP<sub>2</sub> in mice mirrored results seen with indomethacin except levels of IL-4 and IL-17 were also elevated in the BAL [268]. PGE<sub>2</sub> can also cause bronchodilation which is prevented in EP<sub>2</sub> knockout mice [269]. COX1 and 2 appear to differ in their effects. One study found that a selective COX1 inhibitor, FR122047, reduced AHR in response to OVA sensitization [270]. However, inhibition of neither COX1 nor 2 worsened eosinophilia [270]. The COX2 selective inhibitor, lumiracoxib, actually reduced eosinophilia and levels of total inflammation [270]. A follow up study showed either COX1 or 2 inhibition exacerbated OVA induced AHR whereas only COX2 inhibition reduced total cell numbers but not eosinophil numbers in the BAL [271]. Inhibition of both COX1 and 2 are required to evoke elevated levels of IL-13 in the BAL [270, 271]. Neither COX1 or 2 inhibition had any effect on aspects of remodeling, including increases in ASM area and goblet cell hyperplasia [271].

*In vitro*, ASM cells have been shown to express COX2 and release PGE<sub>2</sub> in response to various stimuli. Along with the above-mentioned cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$ , bradykinin, protease-activated receptor (PAR) stimulation, trypsin, and the growth factors EGF and PDGF also induced COX2 expression and PGE<sub>2</sub> release [239, 272-275]. PGE<sub>2</sub> seems to have inhibitory functions in ASM cells as it has shown to both reduce their proliferation and contractility, although the data on contraction have been contradictory. Both EGF and FBS induced proliferation of ASM cells are inhibited by PGE<sub>2</sub> through activation of EP2 and not EP3 [276-278]. Asthmatic ASM cells expressed higher levels of both receptors and were more sensitive to the anti-proliferative effects of PGE<sub>2</sub> [277]. These effects were mediated by the activation of PKA and were correlated with the inhibition of PI3K activation by EGF [276]. PGE<sub>2</sub> is also a known relaxing and contractile agonist of ASM [275-283]. Asthmatics may be more resistant to the relaxant effects as rabbit tracheas incubated with human asthmatic serum maintained greater tension despite treatment with PGE<sub>2</sub> compared to serum stimulation from a healthy subject [282]. Contractile effects were dependent on the activation of Rho-Kinase [280]. PGE<sub>2</sub>

can also augment contractile responses to histamine and carbachol [283]. These opposing effects can be explained by variety of PGE<sub>2</sub> receptors expressed by ASM. EP<sub>1</sub> was demonstrated as pro-contractile receptor while EP<sub>2</sub> acted to relax the muscle [279]. The modulation of contraction by PGE<sub>2</sub> can thus be modulated through the use of EP<sub>1</sub> and EP<sub>2</sub> specific inhibitors [279].

#### 3. Immune Cell Involvement in Asthma

It is evident that inflammation is a key factor in mediating and regulating AHR and airway remodeling. Although structural cells within the airways contribute to the inflammatory milieu, leukocytes are the major mediators of the inflammatory mechanisms in asthma. Analysis of BAL, sputum and histological samples from asthmatics shows their lungs are infiltrated by all subsets of leukocytes but not all asthmatics present the same profile of inflammatory cells. The recent concept of endotypes has been proposed to better characterize asthmatics with the hope to clarify the different mechanisms of asthma onset and exacerbation, as well as personalize therapies [284, 285]. A consensus set of endotypes has yet to be determined but the proposed distinguishing factors have commonly been levels of eosinophilia and neutrophilia, and whether the T-helper response is or is not Th2 dominant [284, 285]. Eosinophilia is commonly associated with Th2-asthma while neutrophilia is associated with non-Th2-asthma however both processes can occur in the same patient [284, 285]. These leukocytes have been demonstrated to have significant consequential roles in mediating both AHR and airway remodeling, including direct interactions with ASM cells.

Both direct co-cultures between neutrophils or eosinophils with ASM or stimulating ASM with neutrophil and eosinophil specific products have been shown to modulate ASM proliferation and contractility. Eosinophils make direct contact with ASM via very late antigen (VLA)-4 and Integrin alpha M (ITGAM) which induces TGF-β production and release by ASM leading to proliferation through autocrine signaling [36, 286, 287]. Neutrophil elastase induces ASM proliferation by a similar TGF-β mediated mechanism [288, 289]. However neutrophils directly co-cultured with ASM cause apoptosis via neutrophil elastase [290]. Direct contact between these two cells was not necessary, demonstrating opposing roles of neutrophil elastase on ASM [290]. Exosome derived from neutrophils were taken up by ASM cells after treating them with LPS [291]. This led to proliferation of ASM, showing a novel mechanism of signaling between ASM and neutrophils [291]. Eosinophils also enhanced expression of  $\alpha$ SMA and collagen gel contraction by ASM and eosinophils isolated from asthmatic subjects had even greater effects [292]. Inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and eicosanoids are clearly not the only pathological consequence of inflammatory cell infiltration into the lung.

#### *3.1 CD4⁺ T cells*

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, also known as T-helper cells, are part of the adaptive immune system which functions as immune modulators, directing the immune responses of various cells to aid in efficient clearance of infections or repairing damaged tissue. They are antigen specific cells that require activation through binding of their T cell receptor (TCR) to a specific protein epitope. A subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells known as follicular helper cells are responsible for inducing immunoglobulin class switching and antibody expression by B cells that are specific to the same protein epitope. The other major T-helper subsets include Th2, Th1, Th17 and Treg, each being induced by different types of infections. Bacterial, viral and fungal infections clearance require Th2, Th1 and Th17 responses respectively, while Treg cells are responsible dampening the immune response post clearance [293]. The adaptive arm of the immune response is also responsible for immune memory. One of the last stages of the immune response is the transition of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from effector cells to memory cells, a dormant cell that localizes to the site of infection and lymph nodes [293]. Upon recognition of their specific antigen, these memory cells induce a stronger immune response than the response to the original insults, allowing for more efficient clearing of the infection.

As described above, asthmatics can be grouped by whether a Th2 dominant response is present in the lungs. One measure of Th2 responses is based on the cytokine expression profile of CD4<sup>+</sup>

T cells present in the lungs. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can be found at elevated levels in BAL, sputum bronchial biopsies and peripheral blood of asthmatics and which were also found to be express higher levels of activation markers [7, 294-301]. The majority of studies has found CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells express predominantly express Th2 cytokines, particularly IL-4 and IL-5 [295, 297, 298]. IFN-γ expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, associated with a Th1 phenotype, have also been found in asthmatic samples but it seems that the Th1 phenotype may play a bigger role in infant asthma [302]. Functional correlations with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have also been identified in asthmatics. Levels of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells seem to correlate with levels of eosinophilia [7, 296, 299]. Levels of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, particularly Th17 cells, are correlated with FEV<sub>1</sub> levels, and thus asthma severity [297, 300]. Depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells using an anti-CD4 antibody, keliximab, increased peak expiratory flow rates indicating an improvement of lung function [37]. Histological analysis of bronchial biopsies revealed CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells localized to sub-epithelial regions of the airways, even being found either within or in between ASM bundles [300, 301]. Their elevated levels and possible interactions with ASM make CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells a potential player in mediating or modulating AHR and/or ASM remodeling in asthma.

The consequences of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration on AHR have been elucidated through depletion and adoptive transfer experiments in murine models of asthma. Allergen specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can be found at elevated levels in the BAL, sub-epithelial compartments or cervical lymph nodes of mice or rats sensitized with an allergen to induce AHR [303-308]. Adoptive transfer of these CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was able to induce AHR in naïve rats after a single allergen challenge [303, 307, 308]. Transfer of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells failed to replicate these findings [303]. Intravenous staining of Thy1 allowed researchers to identify tissue resident T cells as they would be protected from the Thy1 antibody [306]. After a 3-week house dust mite sensitization protocol a significant increase in tissue resident CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was found that localized around the airways [306]. Levels of tissue resident CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were maintained for 4-6 weeks of rest after sensitization [306]. These T cells demonstrated an enhanced ability to produce Th1, Th2 and Th17 cytokines when isolated and challenged with house dust mite in culture [306]. Challenging rested mice showed AHR was also maintained but could be abolished when depleted of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells using a Thy1

antibody [306]. These results suggest a robust tissue resident memory response by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is present in this asthma model and is required for late phase AHR. To strengthen this theory, knocking out CD4 in mice does not prevent OVA induced AHR after an initial sensitization period, however, AHR is not maintained after 6 weeks of rest after the last challenge [309]. Depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was also associated with a loss of eosinophilia which seems to be due to the high production of RANTES and IL-5 by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [303, 304, 309, 310].

Effects of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells on airway remodeling have also been studied in murine models. Adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from OVA sensitized rat induced increases in ASM mass after a three OVA challenges in naive rats [311]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from a naïve rat did not replicate these findings [311]. Increased ASM mass was accompanied by increased proliferation and decreased apoptosis of both ASM cells and epithelial cells [311]. Increased thickening of the airway wall induced by OVA sensitization in mice was shown to be inhibited by CD4 depleting antibody [305]. The presented evidence suggests that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may be mediating both AHR chronically and remodeling, although they may be connected, in asthmatics. This aligns with their physiologic function of mediating immune memory, thus, regulating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses may be key to preventing asthma progression.

#### 3.1.1 Interactions with ASM cells

*In vitro* studies have revealed many modes of interactions between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells. Possible effects of paracrine factors such as cytokines were addressed above, but CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also physically interact with ASM cells through various adhesion mechanisms. ASM cells are known to constitutively express CD44, an adhesion molecule capable of binding CD44 on another cell through hyaluronic acid [53]. Stimulated with either IL-1β or TNFα induces the expression of ICAM-1 and Vascular Adhesion Molecule (VCAM)-1, adhesion molecules that binds Lymphocyte Function-Associated Antigen (LFA)-1 and Very Late Antigen (VLA)-4 respectively, which are commonly associated with extravasation of leukocytes [53]. Furthermore, co-culturing ASM cells with CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells activated with CD3/28 also induced ICAM-

1 expression [312]. CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells adherence to ASM stimulated with TNFα increased, which could be inhibited to varying degrees by antagonizing the above-mentioned adhesion molecules [53, 312]. LFA-1 antagonists had the strongest effects alone, but combinations of CD44/ICAM-1/VCAM-1/LFA-1/VLA-4 antagonists had additive effects on adhesion [53]. ASM cells also express Fcε-receptors, allowing ASM cells to be stimulated with IgE which was found to induce the expression of CD40, CD86 and CD11a [313, 314]. These are co-stimulatory molecules that can mediate adhesion but are better known for mediating secondary signaling during T cell activation. Inhibition of these molecules reduced CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells adhesion to ASM cells as well [313].

Functionally, adhesion between CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells and ASM cells induces changes in phenotype that favor AHR and airway remodeling activities. Co-culture with CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells induces proliferation of ASM cells which can be inhibited by antagonizing CD44 [53, 315]. Activated CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells express EGFR ligands that can also mediate proliferation of ASM cells [315]. Cleavage and release of the EGFR ligands were suggested to be dependent on MMP9 sequestration on CD44 [315]. Rabbit ASM tissue produced more force in response to acetylcholine after co-culture with activated CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells [313]. Relaxant responses to isoproterenol were also inhibited by CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells [313]. Inhibition of both CD40 and CD86 or inhibition of CD11a abolished contractile changes caused by CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells [313]. These results were not replicated in studies of rat ASM tissue, but an enhancement of shortening velocity was measured with CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells in co-culture [316]. Coculturing in a Transwell<sup>®</sup> system, where CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells were physical separated from the ASM using a porous membrane, did not increase shortening velocity of the ASM [316]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also increased MLCK expression by ASM, resulting in increased LC20 phosphorylation following stimulation with methacholine [316]. Further in vitro studies are required for more detailed mechanistic explanations for these effects which in vivo evidence suggests would potentially provide effective therapies against asthma progression.

ASM cells also play modulator roles on CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells. Activated CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells induce major histocompatibility complex (MHC) II expression on ASM cells via IFN- $\gamma$  suggesting ASM cells may present antigen and activate CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells [312, 313]. This is a surprising finding as structural cells are not generally regarded as having antigen presenting capabilities. IFN- $\gamma$  stimulated ASM cells were not able to induce proliferation of resting CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells, suggesting they were not capable of activating CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells [312]. A follow up study did find an increase in T cell activation markers on CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells co-cultured with IgE stimulated ASM cells [313]. Treating ASM cell with staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) in combination with IFN- $\gamma$  enhanced activation marker expression on CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells after co-culture [317]. Imaging experiments surprisingly showed an ASM cell binding to CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells via a CD3/MHC II complex [317]. The combination of SEA and IFN- $\gamma$  also enhanced CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell adhesion to ASM cells [317]. A Th2-like response was initiated as an increase in IL-13 expression was found in CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells that in turn increased force production by ASM tissue [317].

The last mode of physical interaction discovered between CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells and ASM cells is through membrane nanotubes (MNT) [318, 319]. MNTs are a method of cellular communication through tubular cellular projections that was originally thought to be exclusive to single celled organisms. However, recent studies have identified that various mammalian cells have the capacity to form MNTs. In particular, immune cells, including CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells, dendritic cells and macrophages, have been the most commonly discovered MNT producers but MNTs from structural cells such as cancer cells and tumor associated fibroblasts have also been described. MNTs are capable of transferring various molecules to neighboring cells, such as DNA and RNA, proteins, organelles and membrane components. MNTs have yet to be found in *in vivo* studies, except for one instance where MNTs from DC were discovered inside a mouse cornea. However, mesenchymal stem cells have been shown to produce MNTs toward macrophages and pass mitochondria to them. It was then found that macrophages received mesenchymal derived mitochondria in the alveoli, however the method by which this transfer occurred was not verified. CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells have been shown to transfer HIV particles through MNTs demonstrating a possible mode of HIV progression [320]. Between ASM cells, CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells form

tubulin dense MNTs that range in length from 2.9-60.5µm and 1.3-2µm in width [318]. Fibroblastic growth factor-2b (FGF2b) from ASM was partially responsible for inducing MNT formation by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [318].

The functional consequences of communication via MNTs are unclear but the package being delivered may give some clues. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells receive anti-apoptotic proteins, B-cell lymphoma-2 and myeloid leukemia cell differentiation protein-1, enhancing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell viability [319]. Inhibition of CD44 reduced the enhancement of viability by ASM cells, suggesting that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may still need direct contact with ASM cells to form MNTs [319]. Intracellular calcium release in ASM during a contractile response to histamine was also transferred through MNTs, increasing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell calcium concentrations [319]. The consequences of increased calcium in the CD4<sup>+</sup> cells are not clear, but calcium regulates many pro-inflammatory processes in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induces increases in calcium concentrations as well. Mitochondria are donated to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by ASM cells through MNTs [318]. Similar to increased calcium concentrations, the consequences of mitochondrial transfer need further research, but various potential pro-inflammatory mechanisms exist. ASM cells isolated from asthmatic lungs expressed more FGF2b and also induced more MNT formation by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells suggesting MNTs may play a role in asthma [318].

It is clear that ASM-CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell interactions have biologically interesting and consequential implications in asthma but multiple pieces of research are incomplete in this field. Modulation of ASM phenotype has major implications in mediating AHR and remodeling, but the mechanism by which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells accomplish this eludes us. Modulating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activity, particularly through the transfer of a vital metabolic and signaling organelle like the mitochondrion, can also have major implications in mediating airway inflammation and progression of asthma. However, the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell side of this interaction is greatly understudied. Progression in this field has great potential to greatly progress our understanding of asthma which will in turn lead to better therapies.

#### 4. Engineering Solutions to Studying Cellular Projections

The study of membrane nanotubes has been limited by current available techniques. Some efforts have been made to isolate a small number of cells in multiple chambers using a microfluidic system for high-throughput analysis, but most studies are constrained to simple co-culture methods [321]. This requires researchers to image and scan large culture areas in the hope of finding MNTs and if used to study formation mechanics or kinetics, they would need to catch an MNT during its induction. When working with cells with high rates of MNT formation, this may not be a significant hindrance, but less than half of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can be observed producing MNTs with ASM cells at a time [318]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell to ASM cell MNTs are also short lived. Observations of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells forming MNTs, connecting to ASM cells and releasing from ASM cells showed that MNT kinetics are in a time scale of seconds (unpublished data). An assay where the location of MNT formation can be guided would greatly increase the efficiency of MNT research.

The use of microfluidics has been commonly implemented to study other cellular projections, particularly neuronal projections. These devices separate two chambers by microfluidic channels, generally ranging from 10-1000µm wide and 200µm-2mm long [322]. They are generally constructed by pouring polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) over a micro-patterned mold [322]. These molds can be made using a variety of techniques such as photolithography. Photolithography uses a photoactive material that crosslinks upon exposure to UV light which can be done at micron to nanoscale dimensions [323]. However, the commonly generated dimensions are too large to restrain CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells as they can pass through a 10µm gap and their MNTs only achieve a length of 60µm. Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are approximately 10µm wide, they have been shown to squeeze through a 3µm pore, requiring a microfluidic channel <2µm to prevent their migration [324]. Micro-patterning cell adherent areas can also be implemented to

allow for precise ASM cell placement, thus creating predictable zones of MNT formation. Again, a photoactivated material can be used to create micropatterns using UV light, but cell adherence needs to be accounted for [325]. For example, collagen molecules have been conjugated to photoactive molecules, which process allows the crosslinking of collagen using UV light instead of heat [326]. Regions with crosslinked collagen would allow for ASM adherence while collagen free regions will be devoid of cells. Micro manipulation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells using optical tweezers is another means of studying MNTs. By isolating single cells and pulling them towards ASM cells, MNT formation can be predictably and efficiently visualized. Various potential methods exist to increase the efficiency of MNT research, but manufacturing devices with micron details will have its limitations as it requires extreme precision.

#### 5. Hypothesis

Multiple pieces of evidence have shown that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell interactions with ASM cells can play a major role in mediating and/or exacerbating the asthma condition. However, studies on the mechanisms by which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells modulate each other are very limited. The purpose of this thesis was to elucidate some of these mechanisms and further demonstrate the importance and consequential nature of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cell interaction. I purpose these interactions will have implications on exacerbating asthma. This will be mediated by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell alterations to ASM phenotype as to promote AHR and/or airway remodeling, properties which will include enhanced proliferative and contractile capacities. Concurrently, ASM cells will induce a pro-inflammatory phenotype in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells particularly through a mitochondrial transfer-dependent mechanism. In order to study mitochondrial transfer, I will describe the experimental work performed to create a novel assay using engineering techniques to better study the cellular interactions.

## 6. Modulation of ASM Cell Phenotype by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells through ICAM-1

Joyce H. Jang, Soroor Farahnak<sup>1</sup>, Anna Wang<sup>1</sup>, Michelle Kim<sup>2</sup>, Ruchi Sharan<sup>3</sup>, James G. Martin Meakins Christie Laboratories, McGill University, Montreal, QC

<sup>1</sup>Performed qPCR experiments to measure expression of ASM contractile factors and measured proliferation of ASM cells with afatinib treatment

<sup>2</sup>Performed qPCR experiments to measure expression of adhesion molecules

<sup>3</sup>Performed all calcium experiments

#### 6.1 Abstract

AHR, the excessive narrowing of the airways and defining characteristic of asthma, is thought to be caused by increased ASM mass and/or differentiation of ASM cells into a hypercontractile phenotype. Understanding the mechanisms inducing ASM remodeling is the key to understanding and treating asthma. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been found at elevated levels in the airways of asthmatics and localize around the ASM in the subepithelial compartment. *In vitro* experiments have demonstrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells interact with ASM through various integrins leading to ASM proliferation and hyper-contractility. This study used co-culture methods to elucidate the mechanisms behind this process. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells enhanced proliferation and reduced calcium responses to histamine of ASM contractile factors was also induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Inhibition of ICAM-1 reversed the suppression of contractile factors, which may be mediated by FAK and AKT. These results demonstrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induce a pro-proliferative phenotype in ASM cells through ICAM-1.

#### 6.2 Introduction

Asthmatics are characterized by a phenomenon called AHR, which is an excessive narrowing of the airways in response to a contractile agonist. AHR is potentially mediated by airway remodeling, particularly of the ASM. ASM bundles in asthmatic airways are enlarged which is thought to allow enhanced force production causing excessive narrowing of the airways [1]. The phenotype of ASM cells themselves is also thought to be modulated to produce more contractile force. The mechanisms underlying airway remodeling are unclear, but many factors have been proposed. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are among the most promising cellular elements that may drive remodeling. Various studies have found CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at elevated levels in the subepithelial compartment of asthmatic airways [2-4]. Studies employing murine models driven by allergen sensitization and challenge have also shown that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are sufficient to induce airway remodeling and AHR [5]. CD4<sup>+</sup>cells were also demonstrated to be necessary for AHR maintenance after the initial sensitization and challenge [6]. Very few experiments have been

done to model the effects of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells in culture, however, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been shown to increase proliferation of ASM cells [7-9]. They can also increase force production by ASM tissue [10, 11]. Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are major producers of cytokines, their proliferative and contractile effects have been linked to growth factor expression and integrin binding [8, 9]. We aim to elucidate the modality of interaction and subsequent signaling mechanisms required in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell modulation ASM phenotype.

ASM cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells bind using various adhesion molecules including, ICAM-1, VLA-4 and CD44 [9]. Previous experiments have shown that inhibition of CD44 can reduce CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell induced ASM proliferation but inhibition of ICAM-1 resulted in the greatest binding inhibition [9]. ICAM-1 is also responsible for ASM tissue enhancement of force production [11]. The signaling mechanisms by which these integrins mediate these changes in ASM cells have not been further explored, but CD44 was determined to mediate HB-EGF release, which is the actual molecule inducing rat ASM proliferation [8]. Signaling downstream of integrins has also been demonstrated to have phenotype modulator roles in the context of mechanical stimuli. When ASM strips are put under a mechanical load, such as by attaching a weight, mechanical forces are transduced from cell to cell through integrins [12]. It was determined that heavier loads induced greater FAK activation that was localized to surface integrins. AKT was subsequently inhibited which resulted in SRF translocation into the nucleus and increased expression of contractile factors [12]. Binding of other cells, such as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, to ICAM-1 or VLA-4 may modulate a similar FAK dependent pathway.

The current study has demonstrated that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells enhance ASM proliferation in a contactdependent process as Transwell conditions do not enhance proliferation. Inhibition of CD44 or the EGFR was not sufficient to inhibit these pro-proliferative effects. Analysis of calcium responses to histamine showed that ASM cells were less responsive to contractile stimulation, both in proportion of responders and peak calcium release after co-culture with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. A reduction in expression of ASM contractile factors was also observed after co-culture. These effects were again contact dependent. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells activated AKT and inhibited FAK activation, mimicking ASM strips under a light load. Inhibition of ICAM-1 prevented suppression of the contractile factors. Preliminary results demonstrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induce a proliferative phenotype in ASM cells via interactions with ICAM-1

### 6.3 Methods

### ASM cell culture

ASM cells were isolated from transplant grade control lungs, procured by the International Institute for the Advancement of Medicine (IIAM, USA). ASM tissues were dissected out and incubated in 0.4mg/ml collagenase IV diluted in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Gibco) overnight to dissociate cells. Large pieces of tissue were removed, and the remaining cell suspension was centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min. The pellet of ASM cells was resuspended in growth medium (DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) and 100 U/ml penicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin and 2500 ng/ml amphotericin B (PSA, Gibco)) and kept in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air -5% CO2 at 37°C. Growth medium was changed every 2-3 days until cells were approximately 80-90% confluent before being passaged for experimentation. All cells used for experimentation were between passage 2-5.

## PBMC Activation and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Isolation

Following informed consent, human peripheral blood was collected from healthy volunteers in heparin-coated tubes and was diluted with PBS in at 1:2 ratio (blood: PBS). Diluted blood was deposited on Ficoll-Paque PLUS (GE Healthcare) and centrifuged at 1400 rpm for 35 minutes. The peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) layer was isolated from the centrifuged blood. PBMCs were cultured in RPMI 1640 (Gibco) supplemented with 10 % FBS and 1% PSA, 20 ng/ml of PMA and 250 nM ionomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 48 hours. CD4 T cells were isolated from PBMCs by CD4 negative selections using manufacturers recommended protocol (MACS)

### **Co-culture**

25,000 ASM cells were plated in 6 well plates in complete media and allowed to adhere overnight. They were starved using 0.5% FBS medium the next day for 24h before co-culture. 500,000 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were co-cultured with ASM cells in a 1 to 1 DMEM:RPMI mixture containing 0.5% FBS. Cells were co-cultured for 48 hours before analysis.

## **Proliferation assay**

Cell proliferation was evaluated by the incorporation of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) (BD Biosciences). BrdU (3mg/ml in PBS) was added 18h before harvest for a final concentration of 10µM. Cells were collected using trypsin, then fixed and stained with FITC conjugated anti-BrdU antibodies following manufacturer's recommended (BD Bioscience). BrdU incorporation was assessed by flow cytometry using FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences).

### IL-10, ICAM-1 and CD44 antagonism

For ICAM-1 and CD44 antagonism, ASM cells were incubated with 1µg/ml anti-ICAM-1 antibodies (Thermo Fisher Scientific) or 0.5-2µg/ml anti-CD44 antibodies (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 1 hour. When co-cultured, cells were treated with 1µg/ml anti-ICAM-1, 1µg/ml anti-IL-10 antibodies (Thermo Fisher Scientific) or 0.5-2µg/ml anti-CD44 antibodies were used.

## Afatinib Treatment

To Inhibit the EGFR, ASM cells were pre-treated with 1nM afatinib (Tocris), a chemical EGFR inhibitor, for 2 hours before co-culture. Co-cultures were also carried out in medium with 1nM afatinib.

### **Calcium assay**

Co-cultures were done in a 6 well plate with a glass coverslip on the bottom. After co-culture, cells were washed with HBSS and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C with 1mM Fura-2 AM (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Cells were again washed and incubated in HBSS for 15min to allow for complete esterification. Fresh HBSS was added and cells were fluorescently imaged using a deltaRAM (Horiba) which allows for rapid imaging at the 340nm and 380nm excitation

wavelengths. Calcium responses were evaluated by performing a ratiometric analysis of 340/380 values collected from individual ASM cells. Individual cells were hand traced.

#### RT-qPCR

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells were separated by collecting supernatant containing T cells and multiple washes of the ASM cells using PBS. RNA was extracted using a RNeasy mini-kit (Qiagen) and 500ng were retrotranscribed by AffinityScript qPCR cDNA synthesis kit (ABM). Quantitative real-time PCR was performed using CFX96 (Bio-Rad) with BrightGreen Mastermix (ABM), respectively to check mRNA expression levels. Relative mRNA expression was calculated using the " $\Delta\Delta$ Ct" method. Individual data were normalized against the housekeeping gene ribosomal S9. Results were expressed as a fold change in expression compared to a calibrator sample.

#### Western Blot

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells were separated by collecting supernatant containing T cells and multiple washes of the ASM cells using PBS. Cells were washed with ice-cold PBS and lysed using NP40 Cell lysis buffer (Life Technologies) supplemented with a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 10 minutes, and the supernatant was evaluated for protein concentration by Bradford assay (Biorad).

Five  $\mu$ g of protein were re-suspended in loading buffer (Bio-Rad Laboratories) containing Tris(2carboxyethyl) phosphine hydrochloride (TCEP) and incubated at 95°C for 6 minutes to denature proteins. Proteins were separated on a precast Tris/glycine gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and then transferred onto a PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratories) for immunoblotting. The membrane was blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in 5% BSA in Tris-buffered saline with 0,1% Tween (TBS-T). Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies against: vimentin (Cell Signaling Technologies),  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ SMA, Abcam), smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (MHC, Abcam), myosin light chain kinase (MLCK, Abcam), phospho/total protein kinase B (AKT, Cell Signaling), phospho/total Ik $\beta$  and phospho/total FAK (Cell Signaling Technologies), diluted in TBST, overnight at 4°C. After washing, membranes were incubated with an HRP linked secondary antibody (Cell Signaling Technologies) for 1 hour at room temperature and then visualized using the ChemiDoc<sup>™</sup> MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad Laboratories) after ECL Plus Western blotting detection (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Densitometric analysis was performed with Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Protein expression was normalized to glyceraldehyde 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH).

## Flow cytometry

When analyzing cytokine expression, cells were treated with Golgi-Stop (BD bioscience) for 4 hours before harvest. Cells were collected by trypsinization and stained with viability dye efluor780 for 10min. Cells were then fixed and permeabilized for 30min and stained with CD4, CD45, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-5 and IL-10 antibodies (Biolegend) for 1h. Cells were washed and analyzed by flow cytometry using FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences).

### **Statistical analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5 software. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM, unless otherwise specified. A one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posttest was implemented. The p values < 0.05(\*), 0.01(\*\*) and 0.001(\*\*\*) were considered significant.

### 6.4 Results

## CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells Enhance ASM cell Proliferation and Calcium Responses

To study proliferative effects of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells on ASM cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells isolated from PMA/Ionomycin activated PBMCs were co-cultured with ASM cells for 48 hours and incubated with BrdU for the last 18h. Analysis by flow cytometry showed more ASM cells incorporated with BrdU when co-cultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, indicating more cells have proliferated (Fig.1A). Co-culturing ASM cells with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in a Transwell system had no significant effects on proliferation (Fig.1A). Previous findings demonstrated adherence through CD44 and activation of the EGFR mediates CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induced proliferation of ASM cells in rats [8]. To explore this mechanism in humans, co-cultures were treated with afatinib and anti-CD44 antibodies to inhibit the EGFR and CD44 respectively. Neither afatinib nor anti-CD44 antibodies had any effect on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-induced proliferation of ASM cells (Fig.1B and 1C), differing from previous results on rat ASM cells.

Contractile activation of ASM cells was inferred by measuring intracellular calcium release in response to histamine using Fura-2, a calcium binding dye. Fewer ASM cells responded to histamine when co-cultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig.2A). Peak calcium release was also reduced when co-cultured with T cells. These findings were not replicable in Transwell cultures, suggesting a need for direct contact (Fig.2B). These results suggest an ASM cell proliferative phenotype is induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

#### CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells suppress ASM cell contractile phenotype

To assess phenotypic changes in ASM cells, ASM cell proliferative and contractile phenotype markers were assessed by qPCR and western blot. mRNA expression of contractile factors, CNN and MYOCD, was significantly reduced by co-cultures with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig3A and 3B). MLCK mRNA levels trended in the same way but MLCK protein was not significant reduced (Fig3D and 3F). These results were not replicable in Transwell cultures. No changes in αSMA were observed (Fig3C and 3E). No significant differences in proliferative markers were found (Fig4A-D). This data suggests that only a suppression of contractile factors was induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

### CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induce cytokine expression by ASM cells

Cytokine and growth factor expression by either ASM cells or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after co-culture was measured by qPCR and flow cytometry. qPCR analysis showed CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells increased the expression of IL-5 and TNF- $\alpha$  transcripts in ASM cells (Fig.5D and 5E), however, flow cytometry analysis showed no difference in protein expression (Fig.5G and 5H). IL-10 expression, however, was found to be significantly increased by flow cytometry in ASM cells (Fig.5F and 5I). ASM cells seem to reduce a broad range of cytokine expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-5 mRNA were significantly reduced in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after co-culture (Fig.6D and 6E) while IL-10 trended downward (Fig.6F). No significant differences in cytokine expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were found by flow cytometry (Fig.6G-I). All reported results were contact dependent and not replicable in Transwell cultures. No differences in HB-EGF and TGF- $\beta$  expression were found in either cell type (Fig.5A, 5B, 6A and 6B). This data suggests autocrine signaling by ASM cells are the only significant source of cytokines.

### IL-10 is not responsible for contractile phenotype suppression

IL-10 has been demonstrated in the past to act as both a pro-proliferative and pro-contractile factor for ASM cells. We explored whether autocrine signaling of IL-10 by ASM cells is responsible for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induced contractile phenotype suppression by inhibiting IL-10 using an antagonistic antibody. Inhibition of IL-10 did inhibit CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-induced MLCK expression by ASM cells, but it also significantly reduced basal levels of MLCK expression (Fig.7A and 7B). IL-10 inhibition may reduce MLCK expression to levels that cannot be further down regulated by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Along with the fact that IL-10 inhibition caused a reduction of MLCK expression, IL-10 does not seem to be responsible for the suppression of the contractile phenotype (Fig.7A).

#### CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induce expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 by ASM cells

Next, we examined the expression of various adhesion molecules by ASM cells to determine which are likely candidates that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells use to bind to ASM cells as well as mediate phenotypic modulation of ASM cells by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. qPCR analysis showed low levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression at basal levels but a significant increase in ICAM-1 was seen after coculture (Fig.8A-C). CD44 expression was only increased in the Transwell condition (Fig.8A).

### ICAM-1 is involved in contractile phenotype suppression

ICAM-1 has been previously demonstrated to be one of the stronger binding adhesion molecules in the interaction between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells although their phenotype modulatory functions have yet to be described [9]. Preliminary experiments antagonizing ICAM-

1 prevented down regulation of MLCK protein in ASM cells by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and enhanced basal expression of MLCK (Fig9A). No trends were observed in MHC11 expression with co-culture in these preliminary experiments, however inhibiting ICAM-1 seemed to upregulate MHC11 (Fig.9B). ICAM-1 seems to be a candidate for mediating contact dependent modulation of ASM cell contractile phenotype by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

#### AKT and FAK activation by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Previous studies have shown that mechanical stimulation modulates ASM cell phenotype and the changes are transduced through integrin-dependent signaling. Activation of AKT and FAK was measured in ASM cells to test whether CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells activate similar pathways. A significantly increased phosphorylation of AKT was induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig.10B). Preliminary results suggest a reduction in FAK phosphorylation by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was inhibited by ICAM-1 inhibition (Fig.11E and 11F). Preliminary results with AKT showed AKT phosphorylation was not enhanced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells when treated with an isotype antibody (Fig.11B). ICAM-1 antagonists increased AKT expression and phosphorylation (Fig.11A and 11B). It is currently unclear what signaling mechanisms are responsible for increasing ASM proliferation and suppressing their contractile phenotype.

#### 6.5 Conclusion

This study has demonstrated that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells promote a pro-proliferative and anti-contractile phenotype in ASM cells. Increased proliferation and reduced peak calcium responses were found in ASM after co-culture (Fig.1A and 2). A reduction in expression of ASM contractile factors was accompanied by increased expression of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-5 transcripts and IL-10 protein as measured by qPCR and flow cytometry (Fig.3 and 5). A generalized down-regulation of cytokines seems to occur in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after co-culture with ASM (Fig.6). Co-culturing in a Transwell system did not result in any of these phenotypic changes, suggesting that direct contact between the two cell types is key. Inhibition of IL-10 caused a reduction of MLCK, demonstrating opposing effects of IL-10 and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells on ASM cells (Fig.7). A significant increase in ICAM-1 expression by ASM cells was also induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig.8). To assess the role of ICAM-1, ICAM-1 was inhibited using an antagonistic antibody. Preliminary results showed ICAM-1 inhibition prevented MLCK down-regulation (Fig.9A). In further probing mechanisms we observed an increase in AKT activation in ASM cells co-cultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig.10). Both the ICAM-1 and isotype antibodies seem to greatly influence the activity and expression of AKT making it difficult to assess specific effects on ASM-CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell co-cultures (Fig.11A-C). FAK activation was shown to be reduced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, possibly through ICAM-1 but these were again preliminary results and need further exploration (Fig.11D-F).

The results of this study have confirmed other reports of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell induced proliferation of ASM cells that is mediated by physical contact and engagement of adhesion molecules. ICAM-1 is a possible candidate molecule mediating the proliferative effects of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. FAK dependent pathways have been described as one of the intracellular signaling pathways down stream of ICAM-1 [13]. Recently, it was discovered that the level of mechanical strain on ASM tissue influences ASM phenotype through FAK. Heavier loads induced a more contractile phenotype, while lighter loads enhanced synthetic properties and inhibited contractility [12]. It was determined that ASM cells transduce the mechanical stimulus to neighboring cells through integrin connections [14]. Increased strain on the integrin connection induced FAK activation which was localized to the intracellular tail of the beta-subunit of integrins [12]. FAK activity leads to inhibition of AKT, reducing pro-synthetic effects of IL-13 on ASM cells [12]. Although ICAM-1 does not contain a beta-subunit, studies have demonstrated that ICAM-1 can modulate FAK through Rho [13]. Thus, we hypothesized that ICAM-1 mediated phenotypic changes in ASM through a similar pathway that ASM cell to cell interactions use. Preliminary results showed that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells actually reduced FAK activation that was reversed by ICAM-1 inhibition (Fig.11D-F). The effects of ICAM-1 on AKT were confounded by effects of antibody treatment (Fig.11A-C). Nevertheless, it is also possible that ICAM-1 activation on ASM cells can have graded effects on FAK, similar to mechanical strain.

Previous research done on ASM tissue has revealed that ASM and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell interactions through ICAM-1 induce opposite effects to those reported on cells in the current study. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells enhanced contractile force production in response to methacholine and reduced relaxation responses to isoproterenol [11]. Inhibition of ICAM-1 prevented this augmentation of contractility [11]. This may be due to various factors that differentiate tissue and cell cultures. One possible confounding factor is the ratio of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to ASM cells. Although precise cell counts of ASM tissue was not determined and precise number of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells used were not reported, the use of ASM tissue would significantly increase the number of ASM cells present compared to that of this study. Tissues are also 3-dimensional structures, thus CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are only interacting with the outer layer of ASM cells while all ASM cells in culture were exposed to T cells. Another significant factor is the starting phenotype of the ASM cells before co-culture. Previous studies have demonstrated that culturing ASM cells reduces their contractile capacity and induces a pro-proliferative change [15]. ASM cells in different states may respond to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells differently, possibly promoting their current phenotype.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells clearly play a role in modulating ASM cell contractile and proliferative phenotype and its mechanisms and outcomes seem to be context dependent. ICAM-1 is a candidate adhesion molecule that mediates their interaction and phenotypic modulation. With the importance that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells seem to play in asthma, further research should be done on their interaction with ASM cells.

#### 6.6 Figures

Figure 1: Proliferation of ASM cells after co-culture with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Proliferation was measured by analyzing BrdU incorporation by flow cytometry. (A) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells increased the proliferation of ASM cells but not in a Transwell system. (B,C) Inhibition of the

EGFR and CD44 using afatinib and an antagonistic antibody respectively did not affect CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell induced proliferation.

## Figure 2: Calcium responses to histamine

Calcium responses were recorded by fluorescently imaging cells stained with Fura-2. Data is presented as a ratiometric analysis of 340/380nm converted to [Ca] using the Grynkiewicz equation. (A) A reduced peak response was observed in ASM cell co-cultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (B) Fewer CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells responded as well.

## Figure 3: Suppression of ASM cell contractile phenotype

Expression ASM cell contractile factors CNN, MYOD,  $\alpha$ SMA and MLCK was measured by qPCR. Expression of  $\alpha$ SMA and MLCK was assessed by Western blot. (A-D) qPCR results showed significant reduction in CNN and MYOD with co-culture with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (E-F) Western blot analysis showed a down regulation in MLCK protein but not  $\alpha$ SMA with co-culture. All effects on contractile factor expression were contact dependent.

## Figure 4: Expression of ASM cell proliferative factors

Expression of ASM cell contractile factors ELK-1, KLF-4 and Vimentin was measured by qPCR. Expression of vimentin was also assessed by Western blot. (A-D) No differences in expression of proliferative factors were found at any level.

### Figure 5: Growth factor and cytokine expression by ASM

Expression of various growth factors and cytokines was assessed by qPCR and flow cytometry. (A-B) No significant differences in HB-EGF or TGFβ expression by ASM cells was induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (C) No statistical test could be run on IFN-γ due to the fact only one control sample expressed detectable levels of IFN- $\gamma$  transcript. (D-E) ASM upregulated IL-5 and TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA expression after co-culture. (F) IL-10 showed trending increases, but sample size needs to be increased. Transwell conditions failed to replicate co-culture results. (G-H) IL-5 and TNF $\alpha$  protein expression as measured by flow cytometry did not increase with co-culture. (I) IL-10 protein was significantly upregulated in ASM cells by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

### Figure 6: Growth factor and cytokine expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Panel of growth factors and cytokines measured in ASM cells was also measured in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (A-B) No differences in HB-EGF and TGF $\beta$  expression were determined by qPCR. (D-E) Significant reductions in IL-5 and TNF- $\alpha$  transcripts were found. (C-F) No significant differences in IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 transcripts were measured, however, IL-10 measurements are lacking in samples. (G-I) No differences in IL-5, TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-10 expression was found by flow cytometry.

## Figure 7: Effects of IL-10 antagonists on MLCK expression

Effects of IL-10 on the interaction between ASM and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was assessed by inhibiting IL-10 using  $1\mu$ g/ml of an antagonistic antibody. (A) Expression of MLCK was significantly reduced by IL-10 inhibition without co-culture. (B) Relative reduction of MLCK expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was inhibited by IL-10 inhibition.

## Figure 8: Expression of Adhesion Molecules Mediating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Interactions

Expression of CD44, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 by ASM cells was assessed by qPCR. Transwell but not co-culture conditions induced an upregulation of CD44. No differences in ICAM-1 or VCAM-1 expression were detected.

## Figure 9: Effects of ICAM-1 antagonists on ASM contractile proteins

1µg/ml of ICAM-1 antagonistic antibodies was added to co-cultures to assess the role of ICAM-1 in the modulation of MLCK and MHC11 expression. Levels of MLCK and MHC11 in ASM cells was measured by Western blot. (A-B) Preliminary results demonstrate a slight increase in both MLCK and MHC11 expression with ICAM-1 inhibition in control conditions.

## Figure 10: Activation of AKT by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Activation of AKT was inferred by its phosphorylation and measured by Western blot. (A) No difference in total AKT expression was induced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (B) Co-culture but not Transwell conditions induced a significant increase in pAKT.

Figure 11: Modulation of AKT and FAK signaling pathways by ICAM-1

Effects of ICAM-1 on AKT and FAK activation were assessed by measuring phosphorylation levels by Western blot. (A) Preliminary results showed ICAM-1 inhibition increased total AKT expression. (B) Isotype antibodies seem to be affecting activation of AKT as it seemed to have inhibited CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell induced phosphorylation. ICAM-1 inhibition, however, did not inhibit AKT activation. (C) Total FAK expression was down-regulated by co-culture which may have been inhibited by ICAM-1 inhibition. (D) Activation of FAK seemed to also be reduced with co-culture, which is again, unclear whether ICAM-1 is involved.





Figure 2



Figure 3

















Figure 7



Figure 8



Figure 9











## 6.7 References

- 1. Heard, B.E. and S. Hossain, *Hyperplasia of bronchial muscle in asthma*. The Journal of Pathology, 1973. **110**(4): p. 319-331.
- 2. Bentley, A.M., et al., *Identification of T lymphocytes, Macrophages, and Activated Eosinophils in the Bronchial Mucosa in Intrinsic Asthma: Relationship to Symptoms and Bronchial Responsiveness.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1992. **146**(2): p. 500-506.
- 3. Poston, R.N., et al., *Immunohistochemical Characterization of the Cellular Infiltration in Asthmatic Bronchi.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1992. **145**(4\_pt\_1): p. 918-921.
- 4. Ramos-Barbon, D., et al., *T Cells localize with proliferating smooth muscle alpha-actin+ cell compartments in asthma*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. **182**(3): p. 317-24.
- 5. Ramos-Barbón, D., et al., *Antigen-specific CD4+ T cells drive airway smooth muscle remodeling in experimental asthma.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 2005. **115**(6): p. 1580-1589.
- Joetham, A., et al., Airway hyperresponsiveness in the absence of CD4+ T cells after primary but not secondary challenge. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 2005. 33(1): p. 89-96.
- Al Heialy, S., et al., Nanotubes Connect CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T Cells to Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Novel Mechanism of T Cell Survival. The Journal of Immunology, 2015. 194(12): p. 5626.
- Al Heialy, S., et al., *T Cell–Induced Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation via the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor*. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2013.
  49(4): p. 563-570.
- 9. Lazaar, A.L., et al., *T lymphocytes adhere to airway smooth muscle cells via integrins and CD44 and induce smooth muscle cell DNA synthesis.* J Exp Med, 1994. **180**(3): p. 807-16.
- 10. Matusovsky, O.S., et al., *CD4+ T cells enhance the unloaded shortening velocity of airway smooth muscle by altering the contractile protein expression.* The Journal of physiology, 2014. **592**(14): p. 2999-3012.
- 11. Hakonarson, H., et al., *Bi-Directional Activation Between Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells and T Lymphocytes: Role in Induction of Altered Airway Responsiveness.* The Journal of Immunology, 2001. **166**(1): p. 293.
- Wu, Y., Y. Huang, and S.J. Gunst, Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and mechanical stimulation negatively regulate the transition of airway smooth muscle tissues to a synthetic phenotype. American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology, 2016. **311**(5): p. L893-L902.
- 13. Etienne, S., et al., *ICAM-1 signaling pathways associated with Rho activation in microvascular brain endothelial cells.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**(10): p. 5755-61.
- Lockett, A.D., Y. Wu, and S.J. Gunst, *Elastase alters contractility and promotes an inflammatory synthetic phenotype in airway smooth muscle tissues.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2018.
  **314**(4): p. L626-l634.
- 15. Halayko, A.J., et al., *Markers of airway smooth muscle cell phenotype*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1996. **270**(6): p. L1040-L1051.

After studying the effects of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells on modulating their proliferative and contractile phenotypes of ASM cells, we then looked at changes in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. The interaction between the two cells may also be inducing inflammatory changes in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and thus contributing to the inflammatory milieu of asthmatic airways. Enhancement in inflammatory activity in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may also enhance the modulation of ASM cells. These two processes are mechanisms by which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can exacerbate asthma with the influence of ASM cells.

# 7. Induction of Hyper-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by ASM Cells: Implications of Mitochondrial

# Transfer

Joyce H. Jang, Rui Sun<sup>1</sup>, James G. Martin Meakins Christie Laboratories, McGill University, Montreal, QC

<sup>1</sup>Transduced ASM cells with a lentivirus to express PDHA-1-tRFP

#### 7.1 Abstract

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are found in abundance in the airways of asthmatic patients and they are drivers of the inflammatory milieu and progression of the disease. Some of their effects on the ASM have been documented, but the mechanisms by which ASM cells can influence CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are understudied. The current study employed co-culture techniques to study the effects of ASM cells on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, to enhance their ability to exacerbate asthma. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were hyper-reactive to CD3/28 re-stimulation after co-culture with ASM cells. No differences in memory T cell markers were found, however, the lymph node homing chemoreceptor, CCR7, was increased in memory cells with re-stimulation in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Co-culture also enhanced metabolic activity of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, with significant enhancement of cellular respiration upon re-stimulation. Increased production of mitochondrial ROS and activation of caspase-1 were also measured in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, possibly through mitochondrial ROS dependent activation of the inflammasome.

#### 7.2 Introduction

Asthma is widely recognized as an inflammatory disease. Inflammatory factors such as cytokines or immune cells have been linked to AHR and airway remodeling in asthmatics. The severity of these processes defines the severity of the disease and have been correlated to the levels of inflammatory factors in the airways [1]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells has been particularly implicated as their Th2 subset mediates the allergic response, including the maturation of B cells to produce immunoglobulins. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are also major producers of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-13 and IL-17, all factors that have strong modulatory effects on the tissues of the airways that promote AHR and airway remodeling [2, 3]. In particular, the ASM is a key tissue that increases in mass and/or becomes hypercontractile [4]. Although a few studies have discovered various mechanisms by which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells interact with and induce these changes in the ASM, not much is known about the effects of ASM on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. This study aims to explore the effects

of ASM and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell interactions has on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, focusing on pro-inflammatory processes that may contribute to asthma onset or progression.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells play a crucial role in the immune response, which is to mediate immune memory. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are activated in by antigen presenting cells (APCs) expressing an MHC II with an antigen that matches the T cell receptor of that T cell. These CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells will contract after clearance of the infection, leaving a small population of memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that remain dormant within tissues or the lymph nodes until re-introduced to the same initiating antigen. These memory cells are also more reactive to the antigen compared to their original response. As a reflection of this memory property, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been shown to mediate AHR during secondary challenges to allergen in murine asthma models [5]. A tissue-specific subset of memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells has also been discovered within the lungs allowing for immediate responses to lung insults [6]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells localize to the subepithelial compartments of the airways and have been found near and within ASM bundles [7]. This observation triggered research into the modulatory roles of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells on ASM, but mechanisms by which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are affected also have emerged.

Various modalities of interactions have been discovered between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells. Paracrine factors such as cytokines and growth factors are commonly described modulators of either cell type but CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells make many physical bonds. Adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and CD44 on ASM cells have been shown to mediate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells binding through LFA-1, VLA-4 and CD44/hyaluronic acid [8]. These molecules are commonly associated with T cell migration, but they can have consequences for T cell processes such as activation. ASM cells have also been identified as APCs capable of presenting superantigen to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells causing their activation [9]. Recently, a tubular membrane protrusion called membrane nanotubes (MNTs), produced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were discovered to connect with ASM cells allowing for transfer of various cellular products [10, 11]. Anti-apoptotic proteins B cell lymphoma-2 and induced myeloid leukemia cell differentiation protein are transferred from
ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells through MNTs, enhancing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell survival [10]. Mitochondria are also passed from ASM cell to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, but the consequences of this process need further elucidation [11].

In the current study, ASM cells were co-cultured with activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to study immunomodulatory effects that occur in the T cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells co-cultured with ASM cells were hyper-reactive to CD3/28 re-stimulation. There were no changes in memory T cell markers in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with co-culture, however, expression of the lymph node homing chemoreceptor, CCR7, was increased in memory cells upon re-stimulation, unlike control cells. Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were glycolytically and mitochondrial more active. Upon re-stimulation, enhancement of their cellular respiration was greater in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells but glycolytic enhancements were similar. Interestingly, control CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells maintained their glycolytic activity better than co-cultured cells with re-stimulation. Re-stimulation of co-cultured cells also induced greater mitochondrial ROS production. An increased activation of caspase-1 accompanied the mitochondrial ROS, suggesting a possible inflammasome-dependent pathway. However, IL-1β was not detected in co-culture and re-stimulation cultures after 24 hours. These results point to an enhancement of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell immune responses by ASM cells, possibly mediating asthma exacerbations.

### 7.3 Methods

### ASM cell culture

See 'ASM cell culture' in section 6.3 above.

### CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Isolation and Activation

For isolation of PBMCs from peripheral blood, see '*PBMC activation and CD4*<sup>+</sup> *T cell Isolation*' in section 6.3 above. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were isolated from PBMCs using CD4 positive selection (MACs) using the manufacturer's recommended protocol. 5 million CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were activated in a 6

well plate using a 1:1 ratio of CD3/28 Dynabeads (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to cells for 72 hours. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were separated from beads using magnetic separation and cultured in complete RPMI (Gibco).

### ASM-T cell co-culture

50,000 ASM cells were plated in a 6-well plate, 24 hours before co-culture. 1 million activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were co-cultured with ASMC in a 1:1 mixture of complete DMEM and RPMI for 24 hours.

### **Proliferation Assay**

Cell proliferation was evaluated by the incorporation of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) (BD Biosciences). BrdU (3mg/ml in PBS) was added 18h before harvest for a final concentration of 10µM. Cells were collected using trypsin, then fixed and stained with FITC conjugated anti-BrdU antibodies following manufacturer's recommended (BD Bioscience). BrdU incorporation was assessed by flow cytometry using FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences).

### **RT-qPCR**

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASMC were separated by collecting supernatant containing T cells and multiple washes of the ASMC using PBS. RNA was extracted using a RNeasy mini-kit (Qiagen, Venlo, Netherlands) and 500ng were retrotranscribed by AffinityScript qPCR cDNA synthesis kit (ABM). Quantitative real-time PCR was performed using CFX96 (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) with BrightGreen Mastermix (ABM), respectively to check mRNA expression levels. Relative mRNA expression was calculated using the " $\Delta\Delta$ Ct" method. Individual data were normalized against the housekeeping gene ribosomal S9. Results were expressed as a fold change in expression compared to a reference sample.

### Flow cytometry

When analyzing cytokine expression, cells were treated with Golgi-Stop (BD Bioscience) for 4 hours before harvest. Cells were collected by trypsinization and stained with viability dye efluor780 for 10min. For analysis of mitochondrial ROS, cells were incubated with 10µM

solution of mitoSOX (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 15 min before fixation. Cells were then fixed and permeabilized for 30min and stained with CD4, CD45, CD45RO, CD45RA, CCR7, IL-4, IL-5, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ , T-Bet, GATA3, FOXP3 and ROR $\gamma$ T antibodies (Biolegend) for 1h. Cells were washed and analyzed by flow cytometry using FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences).

## **Re-stimulation**

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with and without co-culture were collected and resuspended in a complete RPMI. 1 million CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were then re-stimulated using a 1:1 ratio of CD3/28 Dynabeads to cells for 24h.

## Seahorse Assay

The Seahorse<sup>™</sup> Assay (Agilent) was used to measure the extracellular acidification rate (ECAR), to assess glycolysis, and oxygen consumption (OCR), a measurement of mitochondrial respiration. 300,000 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with or without co-culture were collected and seeded in a Seahorse 96 well plate. After an initial baseline measurement, wells were injected with 1.2x10<sup>6</sup> CD3/28 Dynabeads. Metabolic measurements were taken every 5 min for 2 hours. Data were collected using the Seahorse Analyzer XF96 (Agilent).

### Western Blot

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASMC were separated by collecting supernatant containing T cells and multiple washes of the ASMC using PBS. Cells were washed with ice-cold PBS and lysed using NP40 Cell lysis buffer (Life Technologies) supplemented with a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 10 minutes, and the supernatant was evaluated for protein concentration by Bradford assay (Biorad Laboratories).

Five µg of protein were re-suspended in loading buffer (Bio-Rad Laboratories) containing Tris(2carboxyethyl) phosphine hydrochloride (TCEP) and incubated at 95°C for 6 minutes to denature proteins. Proteins were separated on a precast Tris/glycine gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and then transferred onto a PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratories) for immunoblotting. The membrane was blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in 5% BSA in Tris-buffered saline with 0,1% Tween (TBS-T). Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies against phospho/total Iκβ and caspase-1 (Cell Signaling Technologies), diluted in TBST, overnight at 4°C. After washing, membranes were incubated with an HRP linked secondary antibody (Cell Signaling Technologies) for 1 hour at room temperature and then visualized using the ChemiDoc<sup>™</sup> MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad Laboratories) after ECL Plus Western blotting detection (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Densitometric analysis was performed with Image Lab (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Protein expression was normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH).

## IL-1 $\beta$ ELISA

Supernatants from co-cultures and re-stimulation experiments were collected and spun down to remove T cells. The supernatant was analyzed for IL-1 $\beta$  content using an ELISA (R&D).

### PDHA-1-tRFP expressing ASM cells

A pre-packaged lentiviruses containing a Pyruvate dehydrogenase E1 component subunit alpha (PDHA-1) gene conjugated to turboRFP (tRFP) controlled by a CMV promoter was purchased from Origene. PDHA-1 is a mitochondrial membrane bound protein. To transduce ASM cells, 40,000 cells were plated in a 6 well plate in complete media. Cells were transduced the following day in complete DMEM without PSA and supplemented with 8µg/ml polybrene (Thermo Fisher Scientific). An MOI of 20 particles/cell was used. Viral particles were washed away after 20 hours of transduction and ASM cells were allowed to grow to 80-90% confluency in complete media. Successfully transduced cells were selected using through fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS).

### **Mitochondrial Transfer**

To study mitochondrial transfer, the same co-culture protocol was employed, except mitochondrion-tagged ASM cells were used. A Transwell (Fischer Scientific) culture was implemented to control for non-MNT mediated mitochondrial transfer. Frequency of CD4<sup>+</sup>tRFP<sup>+</sup> cells were measured by flow cytometry.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5 software. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM, unless otherwise specified. Either a Student t-test or a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's posthoc test was used to compare either the means of two or more groups, respectively. The p values < 0.05(\*), 0.01(\*\*), 0.001(\*\*\*) and 0.0001(\*\*\*\*) were considered significant.

### 7.4 Results

### Viability of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after co-culture with ASM cells

To study the effects of ASM cells on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were co-cultured with ASM cells for 24 hours before collecting for analysis. Cultures were treated with BrdU 18 hours before harvest to infer proliferation from BrdU incorporation. Apoptosis was assessed by Annexin V staining. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells reduced their incorporation of BrdU when co-cultured with ASM cells and had fewer cells positive for Annexin V (Fig.1A and 1B). These results indicate that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are more viable after co-culture with ASM cells, but they proliferate less.

### Characterization of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells Immune Activity after Co-culture with ASM cells

We next assessed cytokine expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by qPCR and flow cytometry to see if their immune activity reflects their proliferation. No significant differences in transcript levels of IL-5, IFN-γ, IL-10 and TNFα was measured in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after co-culture with ASM cells (Fig.2A-D). By flow cytometry, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells expressed more IL-5 when co-cultured with ASM cells (Fig.3B). An increase in IL-5 suggests that a Th2 like phenotype was induced, thus we separated T helper subsets by their defining transcription factors. No differences in T-BET, GATA3, FOXP3 or RORγT were found (Fig.4).

A lack of proliferation and an increase in cytokine expression suggests that ASM cells are inducing post-expansion effector CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. To confirm this observation, we measured the

expression of activation markers CD69, CD44 and CD25 as well as Iκβ phosphorylation, and thus inactivation, to infer NF-κB activation. There were no differences in the proportion of cells expressing any of the activation markers between control CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and co-cultured cells (Data not shown). The MFI of the early activation marker CD69 was significantly reduced after co-culture while no changes in the late activation marker CD25, were found (Fig.5A and 5C). These results suggest either CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have progressed through their activation process, leading to the eventual loss of CD69 expression or immune activity has been inhibited. The MFI of the antigen-experience marker CD44 was increased suggesting that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell immune activity may be enhanced but CD44 may also be upregulated to enhance adhesion to ASM cells (Fig.5B). ASM cells also increased phosphorylation of Iκβ, a key component in Nf-κB signaling, in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells as measured by Western blot (Fig.5D). Analysis of activation markers, cytokine expression and NF-κB signaling by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells suggest they may be more inflammatory.

### *Re-stimulation of CD4+ T cells*

To test whether ASM cells modulate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to re-stimulation, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were separated from ASM cells or collected under control conditions and incubated with CD3/28 Dynabeads. Cytokine expression with or without CD3/28 re-stimulation was assessed by flow cytometry. Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells significantly expressed more IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$  and TGF- $\beta$  with restimulation than control CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that were not co-cultured (Fig.6A, 6B and 6D). A significant increase in IL-10 expression was observed with re-stimulation in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that was not replicated by control CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig.6C). ASM cells induced hyper-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to CD3/28 re-stimulation, a property of memory T cells.

### Modulation of Effector and Memory Markers in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by ASM cells

Expression of memory T cell markers was measured by flow cytometry after co-culture and restimulation. CD45RA and CD45RO were used as naïve and memory T cell markers respectively while CCR7 were used as markers of lymphoid homing central memory T cells. 24 hours of coculture with ASM cells had no effect on CD45RA or CD45RO expression of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells demonstrating that no enhancement or loss of memory T cells occurred (Fig.7A). No differences between central or effector memory cells, as distinguished by CCR7<sup>+/-</sup>, were found either (Fig.7B and 7C). When re-stimulated, control CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells exhibited a predictable drop in CCR7 in CD45RA<sup>+</sup> cells (Fig.8C). However, co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells retained CCR7 in CD45RA<sup>+</sup> subpopulations (Fig.8C). In CD45RO<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CCR7 expression was significantly increased with re-stimulation in co-cultured cells compared to control cells (Fig.8D). This suggests that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that have interacted with ASM cells are destined for the draining lymph nodes.

### Mitochondrial transfer from ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

To measure mitochondrial transfer from ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, a line of ASM cells with fluorescently tagged mitochondria was established. Prepackaged lentiviral particles were designed by and purchased from Origene. PDHA-1, a mitochondrial membrane protein, conjugated to tRFP controlled by the CMV promoter was used as the mitochondrial tag. After transduction with MOI of 20 particles/cell, approximately 20% of the ASM cells expressed tRFP and were sorted by FACS. Transduced ASM cells were co-cultured with activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to measure mitochondrial transfer by flow cytometry. After 24 hours, a range of 4% to 60% of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells stained positive for tRFP, indicating they had received mitochondria (Fig.9A). This confirms previous reports of mitochondrial transfer from ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> t cells (Fig.9B).

### *Metabolic activity of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with re-stimulation*

Since we observed that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells received mitochondria from ASM cells we aimed next to assess whether co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had more activated cellular respiration. Using the Seahorse, the extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) and oxygen consumption rate (OCR) were measured as proxies for glycolytic rates and cellular respiration, respectively. After baseline measurements, control and co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were re-stimulated and metabolic measurements were taken for 2 hours (Fig10A-D). Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had a higher baseline ECAR and OCR (Fig10E and 10H). Upon re-stimulation, both groups had an equivalent fold increase in their ECAR but co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had greater enhancement of OCR (Fig10F and 10I). The increase in OCR was maintained for 2 hours, while ECAR unexpectedly dropped in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells while control cells were more stable (Fig.10J and 10G). Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have greater mitochondrial activity that may be relied upon for ATP production over glycolysis.

### Activation of Caspase-1 with re-stimulation

IL-1β has been shown to enhance CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to TCR stimulation, so we postulated that the inflammasome activates caspase-1 in a mitochondria dependent process, leading to the cleavage and release of IL-1 $\beta$  [12]. To test this hypothesis, levels of mitochondrial ROS were measured by flow cytometry using MitoSOX, a mitochondrial ROS specific dye, and the expression and activation of caspase-1 were measured by qPCR and Western blot. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells did not produce more mitochondrial ROS after co-culture, however, they had a greater enhancement of mitochondrial ROS production upon re-stimulation (Fig.11A-C). Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also expressed more caspase-1 mRNA (Fig.12A); however, this was not mirrored at the protein level (Fig.12B). Activation of caspase-1, as measured through levels of cleaved P20 caspase-1, did not differ with co-culture, however, a significant loss of pro-caspase-1 was observed (Fig.12D and 12C). Preliminary results on re-stimulation experiments suggest that CD3/28 treatment induces a greater caspase-1 activation in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig.12G). We then examined whether IL-1 $\beta$  can be detected in culture supernatants by ELISA. Supernatants collected from co-culture and re-stimulation experiments did not contain measurable levels IL-1 $\beta$  at a 24-hour time point (Data not shown). Further analysis of IL-1 $\beta$  at early time points is needed to implicate inflammasome activation in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells hyperreactivity.

### 7.5 Conclusions

This study has demonstrated ASM cells ability to enhance CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to CD3/28 restimulation. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Proliferation was reduced but viability was enhanced by co-culture with ASM cells (Fig.1). Expression of IL-5 was also increased by ASM cells (Fig.3B). A down regulation and upregulation of activation markers CD69 and CD44 was difficult to interpret, but an increase in Ikβ phosphorylation suggests CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are more inflammatory after co-culture (Fig.5). Re-stimulating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with anti-CD3/28 Dynabeads showed co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were hyper-reactive, similar to memory T cell responses (Fig.6). Neither the expression of the memory marker CD45RO, nor the lymphoid homing receptor CCR7 changed with co-culture, however, CCR7 expression was increased after re-stimulation (Fig.7 and 8D). It was also confirmed that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells received mitochondria from ASM cells (Fig.9). Analysis of their metabolism by Seahorse revealed co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were both glycolytically and oxidatively more active (Fig.10E and H). Re-stimulation induced a greater enhancement of the OCR in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells compared to control cells (Fig.10I). The difference in OCR was maintained (Fig.10J). ECAR also increased with re-stimulation, however, co-cultured and control CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell ECARs rose to similar levels (Fig.10F). Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had an uncharacteristic drop of their ECAR over time (Fig.10G). Activated T cells are known to have a strong glycolytic response [13]. Synthesis of mitochondrial ROS was also enhanced by restimulation and co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were capable of a greater enhancement (Fig.11B and C). Increased expression of caspase-1 mRNA was found thus an inflammasome dependent release of IL-1β was explored (Fig.12A). Preliminary results show an increased activation of caspase-1 upon re-stimulation however IL-1β was not detected in either control or co-cultured supernatants with or without re-stimulation for 24 hours (Fig.12G). These results show CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are hyper-reactive after co-culture, possibly through a caspase-1 dependent mechanism.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were hyper-reactive but their pro-inflammatory state right after co-culture was unclear. qPCR results showed no differences in IL-5 expression, but IL-5 protein expression was increased as measured by flow cytometry (Fig.2A and 3B). However, with the lack of significance in other cytokines, a conclusion that the CD4<sup>+</sup> cells are more pro-inflammatory is tentative but is supported by the increase in Ikβ phosphorylation (Fig.5D). The upregulation of IL-5 may indicate a Th2 like phenotype is being induced although expression of GATA3 did not differ (Fig3B and 4). Further analysis into CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells inflammatory state after co-culture with ASM cells is required and more detailed exploration of the time course of changes in transcription factors and protein expression is warranted.

The hyper-reactivity of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is very reminiscent of memory T cell responses. Memory like processes seem to be pertinent for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in asthma as they mediate AHR in response to secondary challenges [5]. Since CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells also localize around ASM bundles in the airways, it would make sense for ASM cells to play a role in the process of memory induction within the airways [14]. However, no increases in memory markers were found, both after co-culture and with re-stimulation. It is unlikely for the memory transition to occur within the 24 hours of coculture we studied therefore we may have analyzed CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells in the process of transitioning. An increased expression of CCR7 after re-stimulation may indicate that co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are more memory like (Fig.8D). CCR7 is a common marker for central memory T cells that reside in the lymph nodes, awaiting re-stimulation by their specific antigen. This notion conflicts with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells localizing to the ASM but this may be a dynamic process whereby CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells localize to but do not reside permanently within the ASM. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also receive mitochondria from ASM cells, and this study showed co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells seem to rely on their cellular respiration more than glycolysis (Fig.9 and 10). These are metabolic features of memory T cells as well [13]. Longer co-cultures may reveal that a fully differentiated memory phenotype is achieved.

Another possible mechanism mediating hyper-reactivity of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is through IL-1 $\beta$ . IL-1 $\beta$  is a cytokine that has been demonstrated to augment CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses to antigen presentation, similar to CD3/28 stimulation [15]. IL-1 $\beta$  is thought of as an innate cytokine as its production is dependent on the inflammasome. The inflammasome is an inflammatory protein complex containing caspase-1 that can be more commonly found in innate immune cells but lymphocyte-derived inflammasomes have been found [16]. Their function in lymphocytes is unknown, but in innate cells they regulate a special apoptotic process known as pyroptosis and are responsible for the cleavage of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 into their active forms [17]. The expression of inflammasome components is regulated by NF- $\kappa$ B and its activation can be induced by mitochondrial ROS, both being upregulated in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and with restimulation respectively (Fig.5D, 11B and C) [18]. The increase in mitochondrial ROS still needs explanation, but it may be related to increased mitochondrial mass via transfer from ASM cells. The increase in caspase-1 activation provides more evidence that co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are producing inflammasome components and upon re-stimulation, an increase in mitochondrial ROS activates the inflammasome leading to the cleavage and release of IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig.12G). IL-1 $\beta$  can then finally autologously act on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to enhance their response to CD3/28 restimulation.

ASM cells are clearly not the only cell that is modulated in its interactions with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. The hyper-reactive response induced by the ASM cells, suggest the they may contribute to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell mediated asthma exacerbations. One asthmatic process that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells mediate is ASM phenotype changes, thus the bidirectional modulations of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells may be a key process in asthma. More research in this area may reveal to have significant benefits on both understanding and treating asthma.

### 7.6 Figures

Figure 1: Proliferation and viability of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Incorporation of BrdU was analyzed by flow cytometry as a proxy for proliferation. Annexin V and PI staining was used as markers of proliferation and necrosis, respectively. (A) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were less proliferative after co-culture. (B) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were also more viable after co-culture as fewer cells were apoptotic.

# Figure 2: Cytokine mRNA expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Cytokine expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was measured by qPCR. (A) IL-5 was assessed as a Th2 cytokine. (B,D) IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  were assessed as Th1 cytokines. (C) IL-10 was assessed as a Treg cytokine. No differences in any of these cytokines were induced by ASM cells.

## Figure 3: Cytokine Protein Expression by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Protein expression of cytokines by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was measured by flow cytometry. (A-B) IL-4 and IL-5 were assessed as Th2 cytokines. (C) IFN- $\gamma$  was assessed as a Th1 cytokine. (D-E) IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  were assessed as Treg cytokines. MFI values were reported. (B) Only IL-5 was significantly upregulated with co-culture.

# Figure 4: ASM cells do not Induce Th2 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Expression of T-Bet, GATA3, FOXP3 and RORyT was used as markers of Th1, Th2, Treg and Th17 subsets. Expression of these transcription factors was assessed by flow cytometry. No consistent changes in T helper subsets were found after co-culture.

# Figure 5: Activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Expression of activation T cell activation markers and activation of NF $\kappa$ B, as measured by phosphorylation of I $\kappa$  $\beta$ , was analyzed to assess CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation state. CD69, CD44 and CD25 were measured by flow cytometry and phosphorylation of I $\kappa$  $\beta$  was measured by western blot. (A) Expression of CD69 was significantly reduced after co-culture. (B) ASM cells also increased expression of CD44 by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (C) No difference in CD25 was found. (D) Increased phosphorylation of I $\kappa$  $\beta$ , and thus increased activation of NF $\kappa$ B, was induced by ASM cells.

Figure 6: Re-stimulation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells using CD3/28 Dynabeads

CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells were separated from ASM cells by washing and re-stimulated with CD3/28 Dynabeads for 24 hours. Cytokine expression was measured by flow cytometry. (A-D) Restimulation increased IL-4, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  expression in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (A-B, D) Enhanced expression of IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$  and TGF $\beta$  by re-stimulation was greater in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

Figure 7: Expression of memory markers post co-culture

Expression of CD45RO and CCR7 was measured by flow cytometry as memory and lymphoid homing markers, respectively. CCR7 distinguishes CD45RO<sup>+</sup> memory cells as either central or effector memory cells. (A-C) No differences in any memory subset were found.

Figure 8: Expression of memory markers after re-stimulation

Expression of CD45RO, CD45RA and CCR7 was measured by flow cytometry as memory, naïve and lymphoid homing makers. CCR7 distinguishes central memory cells in CD45RO<sup>+</sup> cells while CD45RA<sup>+</sup> cells lose CCR7 upon activation [19].(A-C) No significant differences in naïve or CD45RO<sup>+</sup> populations. (D) CCR7 was significantly higher in re-stimulated cells in the co-culture conditions compared to control conditions.

Figure 9: Mitochondrial transfer from ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

ASM cells transduced with a lentivirus to express a tRFP tagged mitochondrial protein, PDHA-1, was used to measure mitochondrial transfer by ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. After co-culture, cells were collected and analyzed by flow cytometry for tRFP positivity. (A) A range of 3-40% of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells received tRFP tagged mitochondria. (B) Representative flow plots demonstrate mitochondrial transfer did not occur in Transwell cultures.

Figure 10: Cellular metabolism of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Measurements of ECAR and OCR were made to assess the metabolic activity using the Seahorse. CD3/28 Dynabeads were injected after baseline measurements. (A,C) Raw time course of ECAR and OCR is shown. (B,D) ECAR and OCR time course normalized to the baseline. (E,H) Baseline measurements showed co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were more glycolytically and mitochondrially more active. (F) Control and co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had equivalent relative spike in ECAR with re-stimulation. (I) Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had a greater relative spike in OCR after re-stimulation. (G) ECAR in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells declined faster than control cells. (J) Enhanced OCR by co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was maintained for the duration of the assay.

## Figure 11: Synthesis of Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species

Synthesis of mitochondria ROS was measured using a mitochondrial ROS specific dye, MitoSOX, and analyzing by flow cytometry. (A) Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells did not produce more mitochondrial ROS. (B-C) Co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were induced to produce more mitochondrial ROS with re-stimulation than control cells.

### Figure 12: Activation of Caspase-1

Expression of total Caspase-1 was assessed by qPCR and Western blot. Caspase-1 activation was measured as the quantity of its activated isoform, P20 and the reduction of its pro-isoform. Levels of each isoform was measured by western blot. (A) ASM cells induced caspase-1 transcription in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (B) No difference in total caspase-1 protein was detected. (C-D) Significant reduction in pro-caspase-1 was detected, however, no difference in P20 was found. (E-F) Preliminary results may indicate that an increase in P20 isoform and a reduction in the pro-isoform of capsase-1 is present in co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with re-stimulation.







T cell-IL-4 700 650 E 550 5**00**-

Figure 3

Α

С





Figure 4

T helper Subsets





TNFa T Cell



T cell-IFNy





D



Figure 6



















# 7.7 References

- 1. Bentley, A.M., et al., *Identification of T lymphocytes, macrophages, and activated eosinophils in the bronchial mucosa in intrinsic asthma. Relationship to symptoms and bronchial responsiveness.* Am Rev Respir Dis, 1992. **146**(2): p. 500-6.
- 2. Kay, A.B., *The role of T lymphocytes in asthma*. Chem Immunol Allergy, 2006. **91**: p. 59-75.
- 3. Bergeron, C., M.K. Tulic, and Q. Hamid, *Airway remodelling in asthma: from benchside to clinical practice.* Canadian respiratory journal, 2010. **17**(4): p. e85-e93.
- 4. Lambert, R.K., et al., *Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD.* Journal of Applied Physiology, 1993. **74**(6): p. 2771-2781.
- Joetham, A., et al., Airway hyperresponsiveness in the absence of CD4+ T cells after primary but not secondary challenge. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 2005. 33(1): p. 89-96.
- 6. Zhao, J., et al., *Airway Memory CD4(+) T Cells Mediate Protective Immunity against Emerging Respiratory Coronaviruses.* Immunity, 2016. **44**(6): p. 1379-1391.
- 7. Ramos-Barbon, D., et al., *T Cells localize with proliferating smooth muscle alpha-actin+ cell compartments in asthma*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. **182**(3): p. 317-24.
- 8. Lazaar, A.L., et al., *T lymphocytes adhere to airway smooth muscle cells via integrins and CD44 and induce smooth muscle cell DNA synthesis.* J Exp Med, 1994. **180**(3): p. 807-16.
- 9. Veler, H., et al., Superantigen Presentation by Airway Smooth Muscle to CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T Lymphocytes Elicits Reciprocal Proasthmatic Changes in Airway Function. The Journal of Immunology, 2007. **178**(6): p. 3627.
- 10. Al Heialy, S., et al., *Nanotubes Connect CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T Cells to Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Novel Mechanism of T Cell Survival.* The Journal of Immunology, 2015. **194**(12): p. 5626.
- 11. Farahnak, S., et al., *Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 Is a Determinant of CD4 T Cell-Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Communication through Membrane Conduits.* J Immunol, 2017. **199**(9): p. 3086-3093.
- 12. Abais, J.M., et al., *Redox regulation of NLRP3 inflammasomes: ROS as trigger or effector?* Antioxidants & redox signaling, 2015. **22**(13): p. 1111-1129.
- 13. Maciolek, J.A., J.A. Pasternak, and H.L. Wilson, *Metabolism of activated T lymphocytes*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2014. **27**: p. 60-74.
- 14. Ramos-Barbón, D., et al., *T Cells Localize with Proliferating Smooth Muscle α-Actin+ Cell Compartments in Asthma*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2010.
  182(3): p. 317-324.
- 15. Ben-Sasson, S.Z., et al., *IL-1 acts directly on CD4 T cells to enhance their antigen-driven expansion and differentiation.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2009. **106**(17): p. 7119-7124.
- 16. Arbore, G., et al., *T helper 1 immunity requires complement-driven NLRP3 inflammasome activity in CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T cells.* Science, 2016. **352**(6292): p. aad1210.
- 17. Dinarello, C.A., *Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity.* Immunological reviews, 2018. **281**(1): p. 8-27.
- Sorbara, M.T. and S.E. Girardin, *Mitochondrial ROS fuel the inflammasome*. Cell Research, 2011.
  21(4): p. 558-560.
- 19. Okada, R., et al., *Phenotypic classification of human CD4+ T cell subsets and their differentiation.* Int Immunol, 2008. **20**(9): p. 1189-99.

After observing mitochondrial transfer from ASM cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, we aimed to study the formation of MNTs, the structures responsible for the transfer. Understanding the conditions required for MNT formation may give more clues to their function. The infrequency and short kinetics of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell MNT formation make them difficult and time consuming to study. We sought to devise an assay where MNT formation can be predictably located, imaged and analyzed, in order to enhance the efficiency of studying MNTs.

# 8. Novel Assay to Study Membrane Nanotubes Using Optical Tweezers

Joyce H. Jang<sup>1</sup>, Megan Hammell<sup>1,3</sup>, Anne-Marie Lauzon<sup>1,2</sup>, James G. Martin<sup>1</sup>, J. Matt Kinsella<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Meakins Christie Laboratories, McGill University, Montreal, QC <sup>2</sup>Department of Bioengineering, McGill University, Montreal, QC

<sup>3</sup>Performed optical tweezer experiments

### 8.1 Abstract

MNT's are tubular cellular protrusions that can be used to transfer various molecules and cellular structures from one cell to another. These delivered packages can enhance tumor cell resistance to cytotoxic agents, enhance macrophage phagocytic capabilities and even spread HIV in CD4+ T cells. The study of MNTs is limited to simple co-culture techniques limiting the ability to probe mechanism, making MNT research inefficient and time consuming. This study aims to create a novel assay to studying nanotubes, particularly from non-adherent cells. CD4+ T cell derived MNTs towards ASM cells was used as the model system. A microfluidic device with 1µm high channels of various lengths was designed and manufactured with PDMS. Tumor associate fibroblasts were able to make MNTs through the micro channels in this device, while CD4+ T cell were not. By holding CD4+ T cells close to but separated from ASM cells, MNT formation by the CD4+ T cell was visualized. Initial contact between the two cell types was not necessary to induce MNT formation. This study demonstrated that the use of optical tweezers may be a viable tool to study MNT formation.

### 8.2 Introduction

MNTs are cellular structures that were previously thought to be exclusive to single celled organisms, but human cell-derived MNTs have been recently discovered. Various cell types have been shown to produce MNTs in culture such as tumor cells, macrophages and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [1-3]. MNTs are tube-like cellular protrusions that connect two or more neighboring cells allowing them to transfer molecules such as nucleic acids and proteins, as well as larger structures such as organelles and membrane components [1, 2, 4, 5]. This method of cellular communication has various significant consequences. Transfer of mitochondria to cardiomyocyte has been demonstrated to be a survival mechanism against cellular damage from hypoxia [6]. Viruses such as HIV can be transferred between two CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells introducing a novel method of viral infection [7]. Macrophages receiving mitochondria from mesenchymal stem cells increased their phagocytic capabilities and was crucial for antimicrobial effects in a

model of acute respiratory distress syndrome [8]. ASM cells pass anti-apoptotic proteins to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, enhancing their survival [2].

Studying nanotubes has been limited to simple co-culture methods where researchers must scan cultures in the hope of finding MNTs. In the case of MNTs connecting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells, less than 20% of the total CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can be observed to make MNTs after 24h of co-culture [5]. The transient nature of these structures makes it difficult and time consuming to catch MNTs during their formation (unpublished data). These properties of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell MNTs make it difficult and time consuming to study MNT formation. Not many reported steps have been taken to increase the efficiency of MNT research, but techniques can be taken from studying neuronal axon outgrowth. Microfluidic devices have been used in the past to connect two cell chambers by micro channels. This system forces axons to grow through the micro channels to form a synapse with cells on the other side [9]. This system may work for larger cells such as tumor cells, however, for smaller cells such as leukocytes, dimensions of the micro channels may be too large. For example, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell bodies are approximately 10µm, but they are known to migrate through a membrane with 3µm pores [10]. Manufacturing devices at these scales are difficult but can be done now with current 3D printing techniques.

Previous experiments on our laboratory have used optical tweezers to discover MNTs. Optical tweezers are a tool to make micro-manipulations of micro-structures such as microbeads or cells [11]. A laser is used to create a 'trap' in a liquid medium which can then be used to translate objects within the trap zone. In this case, a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell bound to an ASM cell was trapped and pulled away from the ASM cell. When released, the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell sprang back towards the ASM cell, leading to the discovery of a tubular structure connecting these two cell types (unpublished data). These were later confirmed to be MNTs by electron microscopy and by observing transfer of proteins and mitochondria from ASM cell to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [5]. Isolating and manipulating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells using the optical tweezers may be a viable method of studying MNTs from non-adherent cells, but it has yet to be explored.

This study aimed to optimize a technique to more efficiently study MNTs in culture using CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells as the model system. A microfluidic device was designed to contain micro channels 1µm high and 3µm wide with lengths ranging from 10µm to 200µm. These devices were commercially manufactured and adhered to a polyester membrane with 0.4µm pores to aid in cell migration. Fluorescently tagged fetal lung fibroblasts, IMR-90, and breast cancer adenocarcinoma cell line, MDA-231, was used for preliminary testing. Initial tests demonstrated that IMR-90 cells can make MNTs through the microchannels toward MDA-231 cells but CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells failed to with ASM cells. Using optical tweezers, CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells were trapped and brought close to an ASM cells, but no physical contact was made. Under these conditions, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were visualized to produce MNTs, demonstrating that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells do not require direct contact to initiate MNT formation. The use of optical tweezers may be a viable method for studying MNT formation.

### 8.3 Methods

### **Cell culture**

For ASM cell and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell culture, see 'ASM cell Culture' and 'CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Isolation and Activation' in sections 6.3 and 7.3 above. Jurkat cells were obtained from ATCC and cultured in complete RPMI. Jurkat cells were activated with a 1:1 ratio of CD3/28 Dynabeads to cells for 72 hours before co-culture. Activated Jurkat cells were cultured on Transwells<sup>™</sup> with 1µm and 3µm pores to determine the physical limits of T cell migration. Whether T cells can be found on the basolateral side of the Transwell was observed. MDA-231 and IMR-90, fluorescently tagged breast cancer adenocarcinoma cells and fetal lung fibroblasts were cultured in complete DMEM. MDA-231 cells' nucleus were tagged using a histone GFP tag and the IMR-90 cells' cytoplasm was tagged with mCherry.

### **Microfluidic Design and Manufacturing**

A microfluidic device with 3μm wide and 1μm high channels with lengths of 10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 μm were designed using Inventor Pro (Autodesk). PDMS based devices were manufactured

by μFluidix. A 2mm inlet ports were punched out and PDMS surfaces were activated using plasma chamber to enhance bonding to culture surfaces. Devices were then bound to either glass slide or a polyester membrane with 0.4μm pores (Sterlitech). Devices bound to porous membranes were cultured on Transwells. Jurkat cells and ASM cells were stained with calcein green and red respectively before co-culture. 5,000 ASM cells and 15,000 activated Jurkat cells in 10μL RPMI:DMEM each, were loaded into the microfluidic devices. MNT formation was visualized using fluorescent microscopy. For MDA-231- mCherry and IMR-90 cell experiments, approximately 5,000 cells of each type in 10ul were loaded into separate cell chambers and allowed to adhere overnight. Cells well were visualized by fluorescence microscopy (Olympus).

### **Optical Tweezers**

Our single beam laser trap assay was built around the Laser Tweezers Workstation (Molecular Machines & Industries) with an inverted microscope (TI, Nikon). A diode pumped Nd:YAG solid-state laser (TEM00, 8 W, 1070 nm) was used to create the trap. A temporary PDMS well was adhered to a sterile glass cover slip. 10,000 ASM cells were plated on the coverslip in complete DMEM the day before the assay. The cover slip was prepped for forming a glass chamber by aspirating the medium and removing the PDMS well. The glass coverslip was adhered onto a glass slide using double sided tape, creating a chamber that holds liquids through capillary action. Approximately 20,000 – 30,000 activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, stained with calcein-red/orange, in 40-70 $\mu$ L of 50:50 complete media. To perform the assay, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells visualized in bright field by a charge coupled device (CCD) camera (MXF285c, Molecular Machines & Industries) were captured in the laser trap. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were brought close to an ASM cell and visualized by fluorescence (KP-E500, Hitachi) and bright field imaging while the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was trapped or freed.

### 8.4 Results

Design of Microfluidic Device for Studying MNTs

To more efficiently study MNT fromation, strategies for studying other cellular protrusions, such as neuronal axons were implemented. A microfluidic device with two cell chambers separated by micro channels would allow ASM cell and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell bodies to be distant while allowing for paracrine communication and nanotube formation (Figure 1A). Dimensions of the micro channels were tuned to allow for MNT formation while preventing small cells such as a T cells from entering. A Transwells with 1µm pores was determined to prevent T cell migration while 3µm pores did not (Data not shown). Micro channels were thus designed to be 1µm high and 3µm wide channels with variable lengths: 10µm, 20µm, 50µm, 100µm and 200µm (Fig.1A). The device was manufactured by µFluidix, by curing PDMS onto a silicon mold that was 3D printed using proprietary methods. Inlet ports were punched out of the PDMS device using a 3mm hole punch. PDMS devices were determined to form a liquid tight seal against a glass slide without any treatment (Fig.1B).

### Optimization of Cell Loading into the Microfluidic Device

For initial testing, fluorescently tagged breast cancer cells, MDA-231, and fetal lung fibroblasts, IMR-90, were used. IMR-90 cells were visualized to form MNTs toward MDA-231 cells previously by other lab members. 5,000 cells were loaded in separate cell chambers in 10µL of complete DMEM. Loading cells by pipette or by syringe pump did not allow for enough cell migration towards the center micro channels and cells aggregated in the inlet ports (Fig.2A). We hypothesized that the small enclosed area of the cell chambers did not allow for adequate nutrient supply and/or oxygen diffusion. To address these problems, the device was adhered to a polyester membrane with 0.4µm pores and again, no treatment was required. The device-membrane system was cultured in a Transwell to allow for fresh medium diffusion through the bottom of the chamber (Fig.1C). This increased cell migration toward the center micro channels (Fig.2B). We now had a working system to test whether cells can form MNTs through the micro channels.

Formation of MNT by Tumor Associated Fibroblasts but not CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells through Micro Channels

Initial testing of the microfluidic device with IMR-90 and MDA-231 cells showed IMR-90 were able to make cellular protrusions through the micro channels toward MDA-231 cells (Fig.3A). These tubular structures were not confirmed to be MNTs; however, a proof of concept was established that cells can form structures through these micro channels. When the devices were tested using ASM cells and activated Jurkat cells, cells were stained with calcein-green and calcein-red/orange for easy visualization. Jurkat cells were not seen making MNTs through the micro channels toward ASM cells (Fig.3B). This assay may be a viable method for studying nanotubes by other cell types, but it was not adequate for T cells.

### *Controlling CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Movement and Visualizing MNT Formation using Optical Tweezers*

Optical tweezers, a method of trapping and manipulating small structures, such as micro-beads or cells, using a laser, was implemented as a possible tool for studying MNT formation. We hypothesized that by holding CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at variable distances away from an ASM cell, we can reproduce the conditions of the microfluidic device without the microchannels. Activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were flowed into a glass chamber containing ASM cells. Using the optical tweezers, a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell was trapped and moved close to an ASM cell and was visualized with the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell both trapped by the laser and freed. Under both trapped and freed conditions, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells formed MNTs that can connect them to ASM cells (Fig.4). Initial contact between the two cell types was not required (Fig.4). Optical tweezers have been demonstrated to be a feasible tool for studying MNT formation by non-adherent cells, like T cells.

### 8.5 Conclusions

To devise an optimal technique for studying MNTs, a microfluidic device was designed to have microchannels that are limited to a height of 1µm was designed (Fig.1A). These microchannels ranged from 10µm to 200µm in length. These microfluidic devices were commercially manufactured out of PDMS and required assisted nutrient and/or oxygen delivery (Fig.2A). To achieve this support, the devices were adhered to a microporous membrane and cultured on a

Transwell allowing for nutrient and oxygenated medium diffusion through the bottom of the culture system (Fig.1B and C). This is system allowed for sufficient cell migration to the microchannels to study MNT formation (Fig.2B). Initial testing using IMR-90 and MDA-231 cells demonstrated that IMR-90 cells can form what appeared to be MNTs through the microchannels toward MDA-231 cells (Fig.3A). However, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells did not produce MNTs toward ASM cells in these devices (Fig.3B). Using optical tweezers, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were trapped and placed near ASM cells without allowing them to touch (Fig.4). Using this technique, it was shown that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells could form MNTs towards ASM cells without the need of initial contact (Fig.4). This study has demonstrated the feasibility of using optical tweezers to study MNTs formed by non-adherent cells.

Simple culture and scan methods to study MNTs are inefficient for the study of these transient structures, particularly for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells as less than half of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can be found making MNTs toward ASM cells at one time [5]. Placing T cells close to but not in contact with ASM cells using optical tweezers allowed us to predictably locate MNTs as we could control the exact position of trapped CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Being able to reliably visualize the MNTs as they form will also greatly ease studies on mechanisms of their formation. Drug treatments can be easily done in the glass chamber by adding the desired drugs to the T cell suspension before flowing into chamber. The negative aspect of working with optical tweezers is that it is a low throughput technique. Multiple cells can be trapped and manipulated at one time, but it is limited by the number of lasers within the setup. Therefore, this assay may be more suitable for mechanistic studies on MNT formation, and not for functional studies of the effects of MNT.

It is unclear why CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were not able to form MNTs through the microchannels, as IMR-90 cells were (Fig.3). It is difficult to compare CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and IMR-90 cells as one is a nonadherent leukocyte and the other is a cancer associated adherent fibroblast. The nature of MNT induction and formation may differ widely between these two cell types. One possibility is that the 10µm minimum distance given between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells may have been too far

pg. 101

for proper MNT signaling to occur. This hypothesis can be tested using the optical tweezer technique developed by holding CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells various distances from an ASM cell.

Both microfluidic devices and optical tweezers were demonstrated to be viable methods for studying MNTs, however each has their limitations. The use of optical tweezers will be exclusively limited to non-adherent cell types. The use of these techniques will hopefully further advance the understanding of this mechanism of mammalian cell communication.

## 8.6 Figures

# Figure 1: Design of Microfluidic Devices

(A) A microfluidic device with two cell chambers separated by microchannels was designed and sent to  $\mu$ Fluidix for manufacturing. Channels were designed to be 3 $\mu$ m wide and 1 $\mu$ m high with lengths of 10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 $\mu$ m. (B-C) A schematic of the two culture methods implemented.

# Figure 2: Cell migration with a Glass Slide or Transwell

Cell loading and migration was viewed using fluorescence microscopy. Red cells are IMR-90 cells that were fluorescently tagged with mCherry. Green cells are MDA-231 cells with a nuclear GFP tag. (A) Adhering microfluidic devices to glass resulted in only a few cells reaching the microchannels. (B) Using a microporous membrane and culturing on a Transwell, more cells reached the microchannels after loading.

Figure 3: Formation of IMR-90 derived MNTs through Microchannels

The formation of MNTs through the microchannels was imaged by live fluorescence microscopy. (A) IMR-90 cells produced tube like structures toward MDA-231 cells through the

microchannels. (B) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells were stained with calcein-green and calceinred/orange respectively for easier visualization. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells failed to form MNTs toward ASM cells in the microfluidic device.

Figure 4: CD4+ T cells trapped by Optical Tweezers form MNTs

CD4+ T cells and ASM cells were co-cultured in a custom glass chamber designed for use with Optical Tweezers and visualized using phase contrast microscopy. CD4+ T cells were trapped by the optical tweezers and brought close to an ASM cell without making physical contact. A time course of 6 second intervals is shown. CD4+ T cells were kept in the trap until approximately the 18s time point. Black arrow indicates the first MNT formed. The Red arrow indicates the second MNT formed. No initial contact was required, and MNTs only lasted 30-36 seconds.











# 8.7 References

- 1. Panasiuk, M., et al., *Tunneling Nanotubes as a Novel Route of Cell-to-Cell Spread of Herpesviruses*. Journal of Virology, 2018. **92**(10): p. e00090-18.
- 2. Al Heialy, S., et al., Nanotubes Connect CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T Cells to Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Novel Mechanism of T Cell Survival. The Journal of Immunology, 2015. **194**(12): p. 5626.
- 3. Hanna, S.J., et al., *Tunneling nanotubes, a novel mode of tumor cell–macrophage communication in tumor cell invasion.* Journal of Cell Science, 2019. **132**(3): p. jcs223321.
- 4. Haimovich, G., et al., *Intercellular mRNA trafficking via membrane nanotube-like extensions in mammalian cells.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2017. **114**(46): p. E9873.
- 5. Farahnak, S., et al., *Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 Is a Determinant of CD4 T Cell-Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Communication through Membrane Conduits.* J Immunol, 2017. **199**(9): p. 3086-3093.
- 6. Shen, J., et al., *Mitochondria are transported along microtubules in membrane nanotubes to rescue distressed cardiomyocytes from apoptosis.* Cell Death & Disease, 2018. **9**(2): p. 81.
- 7. Sowinski, S., et al., *Membrane nanotubes physically connect T cells over long distances presenting a novel route for HIV-1 transmission.* Nature Cell Biology, 2008. **10**(2): p. 211-219.
- 8. Jackson, M.V., et al., *Mitochondrial Transfer via Tunneling Nanotubes is an Important Mechanism by Which Mesenchymal Stem Cells Enhance Macrophage Phagocytosis in the In Vitro and In Vivo Models of ARDS.* Stem Cells, 2016. **34**(8): p. 2210-23.
- 9. Millet, L.J. and M.U. Gillette, *New perspectives on neuronal development via microfluidic environments.* Trends in neurosciences, 2012. **35**(12): p. 752-761.
- 10. Justus, C.R., et al., *In vitro cell migration and invasion assays*. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE, 2014(88): p. 51046.
- 11. Bradac, C., *Nanoscale Optical Trapping: A Review.* Advanced Optical Materials, 2018. **6**(12): p. 1800005.

#### 9. Discussion

Throughout this thesis, evidence for various mechanisms by which ASM cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells interact was presented. These mechanisms resulted in phenotypes that can have consequential impacts on asthma. ASM cells co-cultured with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were more proliferative. Following the dual phenotype theory of ASM cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells also reduced ASM cell contractility. This was determined by the findings of a reduction in peak calcium responses to histamine and a down regulation of ASM contractile factors. Physical contact between the cells was key to mediating these changes and ICAM-1 is possibly mediating these changes. With CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells localizing around or within ASM bundles in asthmatics, this pro-proliferative interaction may occur in vivo leading to ASM thickening. Thickening of the ASM is a key component of airway remodeling and thought to be responsible for AHR. Allergen stimulated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have already been shown to be necessary to cause ASM mass increases and ICAM-1 is required for the induction of AHR with allergen sensitizations in mice. The interaction between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells via ICAM-1 may be a link to these findings.

Changes in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can have significant consequences on the progression of the disease. ASM cells induced hyper-reactive responses by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to CD3/28 re-stimulation as measured by increased cytokine expression. This stimulation is meant to mimic the activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells through TCR-MHC II interactions. This suggests that the interaction between CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells can have significant impact on asthmatics with repeated exposure to allergens such as ragweed. As CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are significant contributors of inflammatory mediators in the airways, thus an enhancement of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses can exacerbate inflammation in an already inflammatory disease. This mechanism has already been demonstrated in murine models of asthma. Initial challenge of sensitized mice with OVA was able to induce AHR regardless of the presence of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, however, secondary challenge induced AHR was dependent on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [309]. Even though these mice were rested after the initial sensitization and challenge to restore normal lung functions, a single secondary challenge was able to induce AHR [309]. Hyper-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells formed from the initial challenge may be mediating the maintenance of AHR in response to allergen.

pg. 107

The mechanism by which this is occurring is unclear, but this study has outlined two possibilities. The first mechanism proposed is the induction of memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by ASM cells. A hyper-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell to re-stimulation is one of the key functions of memory T cells to confer rapid protection to repeat infections. No upregulation of memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell markers was found but CCR7 expression was increased after re-stimulation. This lymphoid homing chemoreceptor may indicate that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are destined for the lymph nodes after co-culture with CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells where central memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells reside. Although they would not be within the airways ready for an allergen challenge, the store of memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the lymph nodes would not require T cell selection and expansion mechanisms leading to immediate migration to the lungs. Further experimentation is required to confirm these findings. For example, only 24 hours of co-culture may be insufficient to induce a complete transition into the memory phenotype by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. The second proposed mechanism was through an activation of the inflammasome that is enhanced by mitochondrial transfer from ASM cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells form MNTs toward ASM cells, through which mitochondria is transferred to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Upon re-stimulation an increase in synthesis of mitochondrial ROS was detected, which is a known inflammasome activator. IL-1 $\beta$ , a product of inflammasome activation, has been demonstrated to enhance CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells response to TCR stimulation, similar to effects seen in this experiment [335]. IL-1 $\beta$ , however, was not detected in culture supernatants, but it is possible the correct time point was not analyzed.

These results demonstrate a cyclic mechanism by which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and ASM cell interaction can exacerbate asthma pathology. Repeated insults to the lungs by some allergen will eventually lead to allergen induced asthma. Through this process CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells will infiltrate the lungs, as suggested by increased CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell in asthmatic lungs [300, 303]. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can now induce ASM proliferation leading to increased ASM mass. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were become hyperreactive due to their interaction with ASM cells. Upon reintroduction and re-stimulation to the allergen, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells will be hyper-active, leading to more interactions with and proliferation of
ASM cells. Cytokines produced by these hyper-active CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, such as IL-4, can also exacerbate ASM cell proliferation and/or contractility. This cycle can continue upon re-exposure to the allergen leading progressively more severe asthma conditions.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells interacting through MNTs may play important roles in the process outline above but the lack of efficient assays to study MNTs may have retarded research in this area. Using optical tweezers, MNT formation by non-adherent cells, such as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, can be studied in a controlled manner. Optimization of the assay is still ongoing; however, this assay may significantly progress the study MNTs and the formation in particular.

This thesis sought to demonstrate the importance of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and ASM interactions and the mechanisms by which these interactions happen. Processes that can play significant roles in airway remodeling and progression of asthma have been outlined but it is still very preliminary findings in the context of this field. The bi-directional modulation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ASM cells has been severely understudied as, based on a literature search in PubMed only 8 articles have been published on this topic. Hopefully, this study will convince asthma researchers of the importance and need for continued work in this field. It not only has the potential to progress our understanding of asthma but may also lead to novel therapies.

## 10. References

- 1. Dharmage, S.C., J.L. Perret, and A. Custovic, *Epidemiology of Asthma in Children and Adults*. Frontiers in pediatrics, 2019. **7**: p. 246-246.
- 2. Trends in asthma prevalence, health care use, and mortality in the United States, 2001-2010, S. National Center for Health, Editor. 2012: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics.
- 3. Wark, P.A. and P.G. Gibson, *Asthma exacerbations . 3: Pathogenesis.* Thorax, 2006. **61**(10): p. 909-15.
- 4. Cockcroft, D.W., et al., *Allergen-induced increase in non-allergic bronchial reactivity*. Clinical Allergy: Journal of the British Allergy Society, 1977. **7**(6): p. 503-513.
- 5. Porsbjerg, C., et al., *Association of airway hyperresponsiveness with reduced quality of life in patients with moderate to severe asthma*. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol, 2007. **98**(1): p. 44-50.
- 6. Cisneros, C., et al., *Bronchial reactivity indices are determinants of health-related quality of life in patients with stable asthma*. Thorax, 2010. **65**(9): p. 795.
- Azzawi, M., et al., Identification of Activated T Lymphocytes and Eosinophils in Bronchial Biopsies in Stable Atopic Asthma. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1990. 142(6\_pt\_1): p. 1407-1413.
- 8. Bentley, A.M., et al., *Identification of T lymphocytes, Macrophages, and Activated Eosinophils in the Bronchial Mucosa in Intrinsic Asthma: Relationship to Symptoms and Bronchial Responsiveness.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1992. **146**(2): p. 500-506.
- 9. Galli, S.J. and M. Tsai, *IgE and mast cells in allergic disease*. Nat. Med, 2012. **18**(5): p. 693-704.
- 10. Lewis, S.A., et al., *The relation between peripheral blood leukocyte counts and respiratory symptoms, atopy, lung function, and airway responsiveness in adults.* Chest, 2001. **119**(1): p. 105-14.
- 11. Di Stefano, A., et al., *Airflow limitation in chronic bronchitis is associated with T-lymphocyte and macrophage infiltration of the bronchial mucosa*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1996. **153**(2): p. 629-632.
- 12. Lewis, S.A., et al., *The Relation Between Peripheral Blood Leukocyte Counts and Respiratory Symptoms, Atopy, Lung Function, and Airway Responsiveness in Adults.* Chest, 2001. **119**(1): p. 105-114.
- 13. Griffin, E., et al., *Blood eosinophil number and activity in relation to lung function in patients with asthma and with eosinophilia.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 1991. **87**(2): p. 548-557.
- 14. Olivieri, D., et al., *Effect of short-term treatment with low-dose inhaled fluticasone propionate on airway inflammation and remodeling in mild asthma: a placebo-controlled study.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1997. **155**(6): p. 1864-71.
- 15. Redington, A.E. and P.H. Howarth, *Airway wall remodelling in asthma*. Thorax, 1997. **52**(4): p. 310-2.
- 16. James, A.L., et al., *The relationship of reticular basement membrane thickness to airway wall remodeling in asthma.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2002. **166**(12 Pt 1): p. 1590-5.
- 17. Carroll, N., et al., *The structure of large and small airways in nonfatal and fatal asthma*. Am Rev Respir Dis, 1993. **147**(2): p. 405-10.
- 18. Messer, J.W., G.A. Peters, and W.A. Bennett, *Causes of Death and Pathologic Findings in 304 Cases of Bronchial Asthma.* Diseases of the Chest, 1960. **38**(6): p. 616-624.
- 19. Heard, B.E. and S. Hossain, *Hyperplasia of bronchial muscle in asthma*. The Journal of Pathology, 1973. **110**(4): p. 319-331.

- 20. Lambert, R.K., et al., *Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD.* J Appl Physiol (1985), 1993. **74**(6): p. 2771-81.
- 21. Lambert, R.K., et al., *Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD.* J. Appl. Physiol, 1993. **74**(6): p. 2771-2781.
- 22. Slats, A.M., et al., *Expression of smooth muscle and extracellular matrix proteins in relation to airway function in asthma*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2008. **121**(5): p. 1196-202.
- 23. Woolcock, A.J., K. Yan, and C.M. Salome, *Effect of therapy on bronchial hyperresponsiveness in the long-term management of asthma*. Clin Allergy, 1988. **18**(2): p. 165-76.
- 24. Ramsdale, E.H., et al., *Prolonged protection against methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction by the inhaled beta 2-agonist formoterol.* Am Rev Respir Dis, 1991. **143**(5 Pt 1): p. 998-1001.
- 25. Jeffery, P.K., et al., *Bronchial biopsies in asthma. An ultrastructural, quantitative study and correlation with hyperreactivity.* Am Rev Respir Dis, 1989. **140**(6): p. 1745-53.
- 26. Innes, A.L., et al., *Epithelial mucin stores are increased in the large airways of smokers with airflow obstruction.* Chest, 2006. **130**(4): p. 1102-8.
- 27. Boulet, L.P., et al., *Bronchial subepithelial fibrosis correlates with airway responsiveness to methacholine.* Chest, 1997. **112**(1): p. 45-52.
- 28. Royce, S.G., et al., *The regulation of fibrosis in airway remodeling in asthma*. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 2012. **351**(2): p. 167-75.
- 29. Michalik, M., et al., *Fibroblast-to-myofibroblast transition in bronchial asthma*. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS, 2018. **75**(21): p. 3943-3961.
- 30. Brown, N.J., et al., *Airway distensibility in adults with asthma and healthy adults, measured by forced oscillation technique.* Am. J. Respir. Crit Care Med, 2007. **176**(2): p. 129-137.
- 31. Oenema, T.A., et al., *Bronchoconstriction Induces TGF-8 Release and Airway Remodelling in Guinea Pig Lung Slices.* PLOS ONE, 2013. **8**(6): p. e65580.
- 32. Young, P.G., S.J. Skinner, and P.N. Black, *Effects of glucocorticoids and beta-adrenoceptor agonists on the proliferation of airway smooth muscle.* Eur J Pharmacol, 1995. **273**(1-2): p. 137-43.
- 33. Hoshino, M., et al., Inhaled corticosteroid reduced lamina reticularis of the basement membrane by modulation of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I expression in bronchial asthma. Clin Exp Allergy, 1998. **28**(5): p. 568-77.
- 34. Leclere, M., et al., *Corticosteroids and Antigen Avoidance Decrease Airway Smooth Muscle Mass in an Equine Asthma Model.* Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol, 2012.
- Chiba, Y., et al., Interleukin-13 Augments Bronchial Smooth Muscle Contractility with an Up-Regulation of RhoA Protein. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2009.
   40(2): p. 159-167.
- 36. Januskevicius, A., et al., *Suppression of Eosinophil Integrins Prevents Remodeling of Airway Smooth Muscle in Asthma.* Frontiers in Physiology, 2017. **7**(680).
- 37. Kon, O.M., et al., *The effects of an anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody, keliximab, on peripheral blood CD4+ T-cells in asthma*. European Respiratory Journal, 2001. **18**(1): p. 45.
- 38. Halayko, A.J., et al., *Markers of airway smooth muscle cell phenotype*. Am J Physiol, 1996. **270**(6 Pt 1): p. L1040-L1051.
- 39. Halayko, A.J., et al., *Markers of airway smooth muscle cell phenotype*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1996. **270**(6): p. L1040-L1051.
- 40. Chamley-Campbell, J., G.R. Campbell, and R. Ross, *The smooth muscle cell in culture. [Review].* Physiol. Rev, 1979. **59**(1): p. 1-61.
- 41. Wang, Z., et al., *Myocardin is a master regulator of smooth muscle gene expression.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2003. **100**(12): p. 7129.

- 42. Wang, Z., et al., *Myocardin and ternary complex factors compete for SRF to control smooth muscle gene expression*. Nature, 2004. **428**(6979): p. 185-189.
- 43. Gosens, R., et al., *Functional characterization of serum- and growth factor-induced phenotypic changes in intact bovine tracheal smooth muscle.* British Journal of Pharmacology, 2002. **137**(4): p. 459-466.
- 44. Wang, L., et al., *Mechanical Strain Inhibits Airway Smooth Muscle Gene Transcription via Protein Kinase C Signaling*. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2004. **31**(1): p. 54-61.
- 45. Morrison, D.K., *MAP kinase pathways.* Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2012. **4**(11): p. a011254.
- 46. Newton, A.C., *Protein kinase C: poised to signal.* American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism, 2010. **298**(3): p. E395-E402.
- 47. Smith, P.G., R. Moreno, and M. Ikebe, *Strain increases airway smooth muscle contractile and cytoskeletal proteins in vitro.* Am J Physiol, 1997. **272**(1 Pt 1): p. L20-7.
- 48. Smith, P.G., T. Tokui, and M. Ikebe, *Mechanical strain increases contractile enzyme activity in cultured airway smooth muscle cells.* Am J Physiol, 1995. **268**(6 Pt 1): p. L999-1005.
- Wu, Y., Y. Huang, and S.J. Gunst, Focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and mechanical stimulation negatively regulate the transition of airway smooth muscle tissues to a synthetic phenotype. American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology, 2016. **311**(5): p. L893-L902.
- Lockett, A.D., Y. Wu, and S.J. Gunst, *Elastase alters contractility and promotes an inflammatory synthetic phenotype in airway smooth muscle tissues*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2018.
  314(4): p. L626-I634.
- 51. Vignola, A.M., et al., *Increased levels of elastase and alpha1-antitrypsin in sputum of asthmatic patients.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1998. **157**(2): p. 505-11.
- 52. Suzuki, T., et al., Aerosolized human neutrophil elastase induces airway constriction and hyperresponsiveness with protection by intravenous pretreatment with half-length secretory leukoprotease inhibitor. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1996.
  153(4): p. 1405-1411.
- 53. Lazaar, A.L., et al., *T lymphocytes adhere to airway smooth muscle cells via integrins and CD44 and induce smooth muscle cell DNA synthesis.* J Exp Med, 1994. **180**(3): p. 807-16.
- 54. Amishima, M., et al., *Expression of epidermal growth factor and epidermal growth factor receptor immunoreactivity in the asthmatic human airway.* Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med, 1998.
  157(6 Pt 1): p. 1907-1912.
- 55. Polosa, R., et al., *Expression of c-erbB receptors and ligands in the bronchial epithelium of asthmatic subjects.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2002. **109**(1): p. 75-81.
- 56. Takamasu, T., et al., *An Acute Asthma Attack Induces Tissue Remodeling By Hypersecretion Of Epidermal Growth Factor (egf) And Amphiregulin (areg) In The Airway.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2011. **127**(2): p. AB59.
- 57. Tschumperlin, D.J., et al., *Mechanotransduction through growth-factor shedding into the extracellular space*. Nature, 2004. **429**(6987): p. 83-86.
- 58. Hirota, N., et al., *Histamine may induce airway remodeling through release of epidermal growth factor receptor ligands from bronchial epithelial cells.* Faseb j, 2012. **26**(4): p. 1704-16.
- 59. Chin, D., et al., *What is transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β)?* British Journal of Plastic Surgery, 2004. **57**(3): p. 215-221.
- 60. Balzar, S., et al., *Increased TGF-beta2 in severe asthma with eosinophilia*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. **115**(1): p. 110-7.

- 61. Duvernelle, C., V. Freund, and N. Frossard, *Transforming growth factor-β and its role in asthma*. Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 2003. **16**(4): p. 181-196.
- 62. Magnan, A., et al., *Transforming growth factor beta in normal human lung: preferential location in bronchial epithelial cells.* Thorax, 1994. **49**(8): p. 789.
- 63. Magnan, A., et al., *Altered compartimentalization of transforming growth factor-β in asthmatic airways.* Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1997. **27**(4): p. 389-395.
- 64. Chen, G. and N. Khalil, *TGF-B1 increases proliferation of airway smooth muscle cells by phosphorylation of map kinases.* Respiratory Research, 2006. **7**(1): p. 2.
- Kie, S., et al., Mechanisms of induction of airway smooth muscle hyperplasia by transforming growth factor-6. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2007.
  293(1): p. L245-L253.
- 66. Pan, Y., et al., Activation of AMPK inhibits TGF-81-induced airway smooth muscle cells proliferation and its potential mechanisms. Scientific Reports, 2018. **8**(1): p. 3624.
- 67. Cruzalegui, F.H., E. Cano, and R. Treisman, *ERK activation induces phosphorylation of Elk-1 at multiple S/T-P motifs to high stoichiometry.* Oncogene, 1999. **18**(56): p. 7948-7957.
- 68. Xie, S., et al., *Mechanisms of induction of airway smooth muscle hyperplasia by transforming growth factor-beta*. American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology, 2007. **293**(1): p. L245-L253.
- 69. Michaeloudes, C., et al., *Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and glycolysis in airway smooth muscle cell proliferation in COPD.* 2015. **46**(suppl 59): p. OA488.
- 70. Michaeloudes, C., I. Adcock, and K.F. Chung, *The role of glycolysis in TGF-6-mediated airway smooth muscle cell proliferation.* 2014. **44**(Suppl 58): p. P3843.
- 71. Cohen, M.D., V. Ciocca, and R.A. Panettieri, *TGF-beta 1 modulates human airway smooth-muscle cell proliferation induced by mitogens.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 1997. **16**(1): p. 85-90.
- 72. Kim, J.H., et al., *TGF-*β potentiates airway smooth muscle responsiveness to bradykinin. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2005. **289**(4): p. L511-L520.
- 73. Ojiaku, C.A., et al., *TGF-beta1 Evokes Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Shortening and Hyperresponsiveness via Smad3.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2018. **58**(5): p. 575-584.
- 74. Gawaziuk, J.P., et al., *Transforming growth factor-*β *as a differentiating factor for cultured smooth muscle cells.* 2007. **30**(4): p. 643-652.
- 75. Goldsmith, A.M., et al., *Transforming growth factor-beta induces airway smooth muscle hypertrophy.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2006. **34**(2): p. 247-54.
- 76. Schuliga, M., et al., *Transforming growth factor-β-induced differentiation of airway smooth muscle cells is inhibited by fibroblast growth factor-2.* American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 2013. **48**(3): p. 346-353.
- 77. Chen, S., et al., *RhoA Modulates Smad Signaling during Transforming Growth Factor-8-induced Smooth Muscle Differentiation.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2006. **281**(3): p. 1765-1770.
- 78. Deaton, R.A., et al., *Transforming Growth Factor-*β1-induced Expression of Smooth Muscle Marker Genes Involves Activation of PKN and p38 MAPK. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2005. 280(35): p. 31172-31181.
- 79. Qiu, P., X.-H. Feng, and L. Li, *Interaction of Smad3 and SRF-associated complex mediates TGFβ1 signals to regulate <em>SM22</em> transcription during myofibroblast differentiation.* Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, 2003. **35**(12): p. 1407-1420.
- 80. Hirschi, K.K., et al., *Transforming Growth Factor-*β *Induction of Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotpye Requires Transcriptional and Post-transcriptional Control of Serum Response Factor.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2002. **277**(8): p. 6287-6295.

- Hautmann, M.B., C.S. Madsen, and G.K. Owens, A Transforming Growth Factor β (TGFβ) Control Element Drives TGFβ-induced Stimulation of Smooth Muscle α-Actin Gene Expression in Concert with Two CArG Elements. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1997. 272(16): p. 10948-10956.
- 82. Zhang, H., et al., *PDGFRs are critical for PI3K/Akt activation and negatively regulated by mTOR.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 2007. **117**(3): p. 730-738.
- 83. Ohno, I., et al., *Eosinophils as a potential source of platelet-derived growth factor B-chain (PDGF-B) in nasal polyposis and bronchial asthma*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1995. **13**(6): p. 639-47.
- 84. Chanez, P., et al., *Platelet-derived growth factor in asthma*. Allergy, 1995. **50**(11): p. 878-83.
- 85. Kouzaki, H., et al., *Role of platelet-derived growth factor in airway remodeling in rhinosinusitis.* Am J Rhinol Allergy, 2009. **23**(3): p. 273-80.
- 86. Hirota, J.A., et al., *In vivo role of platelet-derived growth factor-BB in airway smooth muscle proliferation in mouse lung.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2011. **45**(3): p. 566-72.
- 87. Yamashita, N., et al., *Platelet-derived growth factor is involved in the augmentation of airway responsiveness through remodeling of airways in diesel exhaust particulate-treated mice.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2001. **107**(1): p. 135-42.
- 88. Jiang, S. and D.D. Tang, *Plk1 regulates MEK1/2 and proliferation in airway smooth muscle cells.* Respir Res, 2015. **16**: p. 93.
- 89. Seidel, P., et al., *DMF inhibits PDGF-BB induced airway smooth muscle cell proliferation through induction of heme-oxygenase-1.* Respiratory Research, 2010. **11**(1): p. 145.
- 90. Simeone-Penney, M.C., et al., *PDGF-induced human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation requires STAT3 and the small GTPase Rac1.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2008. **294**(4): p. L698-L704.
- 91. Hirst, S.J., P.J. Barnes, and C.H. Twort, *PDGF isoform-induced proliferation and receptor expression in human cultured airway smooth muscle cells.* Am J Physiol, 1996. **270**(3 Pt 1): p. L415-28.
- 92. Zacour, M.E., B. Tolloczko, and J.G. Martin, *Calcium and growth responses of hyperresponsive airway smooth muscle to different isoforms of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF).* Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology, 2000. **78**(11): p. 867-873.
- 93. Dekkers, B.G.J., et al., *Functional consequences of human airway smooth muscle phenotype plasticity*. British Journal of Pharmacology, 2012. **166**(1): p. 359-367.
- 94. Dai, Y., et al., *Casticin inhibits PDGF-induced proliferation and migration of airway smooth muscle cells.* Eur J Pharmacol, 2018. **830**: p. 39-46.
- 95. Liu, L., et al., *Activation of AMPK* α2 *inhibits airway smooth muscle cells proliferation*. European Journal of Pharmacology, 2016. **791**: p. 235-243.
- 96. Spinelli, A.M., et al., *Airway smooth muscle STIM1 and Orai1 are upregulated in asthmatic mice and mediate PDGF-activated SOCE, CRAC currents, proliferation, and migration.* Pflügers Archiv European Journal of Physiology, 2012. **464**(5): p. 481-492.
- 97. Simon, A.R., et al., *Role of the JAK-STAT pathway in PDGF-stimulated proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2002. **282**(6): p. L1296-L1304.
- 98. Ratnovsky, A., et al., *Airway smooth muscle proliferation and mechanics: effects of AMP kinase agonists.* Mol Cell Biomech, 2007. **4**(3): p. 143-57.
- 99. Cheng, W., et al., *ABCA1 inhibits PDGF-induced proliferation and migration of rat airway smooth muscle cell through blocking TLR2/NF-kappaB/NFATc1 signaling*. J Cell Biochem, 2018. **119**(9): p. 7388-7396.
- 100. Simon, A.R., et al., *Activation of the JAK-STAT pathway by reactive oxygen species*. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology, 1998. **275**(6): p. C1640-C1652.

- 101. Takeyama, K., J.V. Fahy, and J.A. Nadel, *Relationship of epidermal growth factor receptors to goblet cell production in human bronchi.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001. **163**(2): p. 511-6.
- 102. Puddicombe, S.M., et al., *Involvement of the epidermal growth factor receptor in epithelial repair in asthma*. Faseb j, 2000. **14**(10): p. 1362-74.
- 103. Allahverdian, S., et al., *Secretion of IL-13 by Airway Epithelial Cells Enhances Epithelial Repair via HB-EGF.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2008. **38**(2): p. 153-160.
- 104. Enomoto, Y., et al., *Tissue remodeling induced by hypersecreted epidermal growth factor and amphiregulin in the airway after an acute asthma attack.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2009. **124**(5): p. 913-920.e7.
- Rumelhard, M., et al., *Expression and role of EGFR ligands induced in airway cells by PM<sub&gt;2.5&lt;/sub&gt; and its components.* European Respiratory Journal, 2007. **30**(6): p. 1064.
- 106. Deacon, K. and A.J. Knox, *Human airway smooth muscle cells secrete amphiregulin via bradykinin/COX-2/PGE2, inducing COX-2, CXCL8, and VEGF expression in airway epithelial cells.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2015. **309**(3): p. L237-49.
- 107. Hassan, M., et al., Airway smooth muscle remodeling is a dynamic process in severe longstanding asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2010. **125**(5): p. 1037-1045.e3.
- 108. Wu, W., et al., *Heparin-Binding Epidermal Growth Factor Cleavage Mediates Zinc-Induced Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Phosphorylation.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2004. **30**(4): p. 540-547.
- 109. Tamaoka, M., et al., *The epidermal growth factor receptor mediates allergic airway remodelling in the rat.* European Respiratory Journal, 2008. **32**(5): p. 1213.
- 110. Siddiqui, S., et al., *The modulation of large airway smooth muscle phenotype and effects of epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition in the repeatedly allergen-challenged rat.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2013. **304**(12): p. L853-62.
- 111. Wang, Q., et al., *HB-EGF–Promoted Airway Smooth Muscle Cells and Their Progenitor Migration Contribute to Airway Smooth Muscle Remodeling in Asthmatic Mouse.* The Journal of Immunology, 2016. **196**(5): p. 2361.
- 112. Le Cras, T.D., et al., *Epithelial EGF receptor signaling mediates airway hyperreactivity and remodeling in a mouse model of chronic asthma*. American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology, 2011. **300**(3): p. L414-L421.
- 113. Hur, G.Y., et al., *Potential use of an anticancer drug gefinitib, an EGFR inhibitor, on allergic airway inflammation.* Exp Mol Med, 2007. **39**(3): p. 367-75.
- 114. Gao, F.S., et al., *Effects of chronic exposure to Aspergillus fumigatus on epidermal growth factor receptor expression in the airway epithelial cells of asthmatic rats.* Exp Lung Res, 2014. **40**(6): p. 298-307.
- 115. Shim, J.Y., et al., *The effect of interleukin-4 and amphiregulin on the proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells and cytokine release.* J Korean Med Sci, 2008. **23**(5): p. 857-63.
- 116. Vlahos, R., et al., Differential inhibition of thrombin- and EGF-stimulated human cultured airway smooth muscle proliferation by glucocorticoids. Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 2003.
  16(3): p. 171-180.
- 117. Yamanaka, Y., et al., EGF Family Ligand-Dependent Phenotypic Modulation of Smooth Muscle Cells through EGF Receptor. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2001.
  281(2): p. 373-377.
- 118. Krymskaya, V.P., et al., *Src is necessary and sufficient for human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration.* The FASEB Journal, 2004. **19**(3): p. 428-430.
- 119. Al Heialy, S., et al., *T cell-induced airway smooth muscle cell proliferation via the epidermal growth factor receptor.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2013. **49**(4): p. 563-70.

- 120. Ramos-Barbón, D., et al., *T Cells Localize with Proliferating Smooth Muscle α-Actin+ Cell Compartments in Asthma.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2010.
  182(3): p. 317-324.
- 121. Ramos-Barbon, D., et al., *Antigen-specific CD4+ T cells drive airway smooth muscle remodeling in experimental asthma.* J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(6): p. 1580-9.
- 122. Kassel, K.M., N.A. Schulte, and M.L. Toews, *Modulation of epidermal growth factor receptor binding to human airway smooth muscle cells by glucocorticoids and 82-adrenergic receptor agonists.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2009. 296(4): p. L693-L699.
- 123. Kassel, K.M., et al., Inhibition of human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation by beta 2adrenergic receptors and cAMP is PKA independent: evidence for EPAC involvement. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2008. **294**(1): p. L131-8.
- 124. Bartolome, R.A., et al., *IL13 Receptor alpha2 Signaling Requires a Scaffold Protein, FAM120A, to Activate the FAK and PI3K Pathways in Colon Cancer Metastasis.* Cancer Res, 2015. **75**(12): p. 2434-44.
- Bartolomé, R.A., et al., *IL13 Receptor α2 Signaling Requires a Scaffold Protein, FAM120A, to Activate the FAK and PI3K Pathways in Colon Cancer Metastasis.* Cancer Research, 2015. **75**(12): p. 2434-2444.
- 126. Siddiqui, S., et al., *Airway Wall Expression of OX40/OX40L and Interleukin-4 in Asthma*. CHEST, 2010. **137**(4): p. 797-804.
- 127. Hoshino, A., et al., *STAT6-mediated signaling in Th2-dependent allergic asthma: critical role for the development of eosinophilia, airway hyper-responsiveness and mucus hypersecretion, distinct from its role in Th2 differentiation.* International Immunology, 2004. **16**(10): p. 1497-1505.
- 128. Kasaian, M.T., et al., *An IL-4/IL-13 Dual Antagonist Reduces Lung Inflammation, Airway Hyperresponsiveness, and IgE Production in Mice*. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2013. **49**(1): p. 37-46.
- 129. Perkins, C., M. Wills-Karp, and F.D. Finkelman, *IL-4 induces IL-13–independent allergic airway inflammation.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2006. **118**(2): p. 410-419.
- 130. Mattes, J., et al., *IL-13 Induces Airways Hyperreactivity Independently of the IL-4Rα Chain in the Allergic Lung.* The Journal of Immunology, 2001. **167**(3): p. 1683-1692.
- Kirstein, F., et al., *Expression of IL-4 receptor α on smooth muscle cells is not necessary for development of experimental allergic asthma*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2010.
  126(2): p. 347-354.
- 132. Perkins, C., et al., *Selective stimulation of IL-4 receptor on smooth muscle induces airway hyperresponsiveness in mice.* The Journal of experimental medicine, 2011. **208**(4): p. 853-867.
- 133. Risse, P.-A., et al., *Interleukin-13 inhibits proliferation and enhances contractility of human airway smooth muscle cells without change in contractile phenotype*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2011. **300**(6): p. L958-L966.
- 134. Hawker, K.M., et al., Interleukin-4 inhibits mitogen-induced proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells in culture. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1998. **275**(3): p. L469-L477.
- Moore, P.E., et al., *IL-13 and IL-4 cause eotaxin release in human airway smooth muscle cells: a role for ERK.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2002.
  282(4): p. L847-L853.
- 136. Hirst, S.J., et al., Selective Induction of Eotaxin Release by Interleukin-13 or Interleukin-4 in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells Is Synergistic with Interleukin-1 β and Is Mediated by the

*Interleukin-4 Receptor* α *-Chain.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2002. **165**(8): p. 1161-1171.

- 137. Moynihan, B.J., et al., *IFN-γ*, *IL-4 and IL-13 modulate responsiveness of human airway smooth muscle cells to IL-13*. Respiratory Research, 2008. **9**(1): p. 84.
- 138. Bhardwaj, R., et al., Identification of a novel role of IL-13Rα2 in human Glioblastoma multiforme: interleukin-13 mediates signal transduction through AP-1 pathway. Journal of Translational Medicine, 2018. 16(1): p. 369.
- 139. Newman, J.P., et al., *Interleukin-13 receptor alpha 2 cooperates with EGFRvIII signaling to promote glioblastoma multiforme.* Nature Communications, 2017. **8**(1): p. 1913.
- 140. Ohta, Y., et al., *Dual Modulation of Airway Smooth Muscle Contraction by Th2 Cytokines via Matrix Metalloproteinase-1 Production.* The Journal of Immunology, 2008. **180**(6): p. 4191.
- 141. Ethier, M.F., E. Cappelluti, and J.M. Madison, *Mechanisms of interleukin-4 effects on calcium signaling in airway smooth muscle cells.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2005. **313**(1): p. 127-33.
- 142. Matusovsky, O.S., et al., *Contractile Properties of Intrapulmonary Airway Smooth Muscle in Cystic Fibrosis.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2018. **60**(4): p. 434-444.
- 143. Laporte, J.C., et al., Direct effects of interleukin-13 on signaling pathways for physiological responses in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001.
  164(1): p. 141-8.
- 144. Yousefi, S., et al., *IL-8 is expressed by human peripheral blood eosinophils. Evidence for increased secretion in asthma.* The Journal of Immunology, 1995. **154**(10): p. 5481.
- 145. Hoshi, H., et al., *IL-5, IL-8 and GM-CSF immunostaining of sputum cells in bronchial asthma and chronic bronchitis.* Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1995. **25**(8): p. 720-728.
- 146. Hallsworth, M.P., et al., *Selective enhancement of GM-CSF, TNF-alpha, IL-1 beta and IL-8 production by monocytes and macrophages of asthmatic subjects.* European Respiratory Journal, 1994. **7**(6): p. 1096.
- 147. OrdoÑEz, C.L., et al., *Increased Neutrophil Numbers and IL-8 Levels in Airway Secretions in Acute Severe Asthma.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2000. **161**(4): p. 1185-1190.
- 148. Nocker, R.E., et al., *Interleukin-8 in airway inflammation in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. Int Arch Allergy Immunol, 1996. **109**(2): p. 183-91.
- 149. Liu, G., R. Zhu, and B. Li, *TNF-alpha and IL-8 of the patients with allergic asthma*. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci, 2005. **25**(3): p. 274-5, 309.
- 150. Mizutani, N., T. Nabe, and S. Yoshino, *IL-17A Promotes the Exacerbation of IL-33–Induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness by Enhancing Neutrophilic Inflammation via CXCR2 Signaling in Mice.* The Journal of Immunology, 2014. **192**(4): p. 1372.
- 151. Zuyderduyn, S., et al., *The antimicrobial peptide LL-37 enhances IL-8 release by human airway smooth muscle cells.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2006. **117**(6): p. 1328-1335.
- 152. John, M., et al., *Expression and Release of Interleukin-8 by Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Inhibition by Th-2 Cytokines and Corticosteroids.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 1998. **18**(1): p. 84-90.
- 153. Lin, X., et al., Upregulation of TRPM7 augments cell proliferation and interleukin-8 release in airway smooth muscle cells of rats exposed to cigarette smoke. Molecular Medicine Reports, 2016. **13**.
- 154. Fong, C.Y., et al., *TGF-81 stimulates IL-8 release, COX-2 expression, and PGE2release in human airway smooth muscle cells*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2000. **279**(1): p. L201-L207.

- Dragon, S., et al., *IL-17 enhances IL-16-mediated CXCL-8 release from human airway smooth muscle cells*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2007.
  292(4): p. L1023-L1029.
- Ho, S.-C., et al., Neutrophil Elastase Represses IL-8/CXCL8 Synthesis in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells through Induction of NF-κB Repressing Factor. The Journal of Immunology, 2009.
   183(1): p. 411-420.
- 157. Govindaraju, V., et al., *Interleukin-8: novel roles in human airway smooth muscle cell contraction and migration.* American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology, 2006. **291**(5): p. C957-C965.
- 158. Govindaraju, V., et al., *The effects of interleukin-8 on airway smooth muscle contraction in cystic fibrosis.* Respiratory research, 2008. **9**(1): p. 76-76.
- 159. Kuo, P.-L., et al., Bronchial Epithelium–Derived IL-8 and RANTES Increased Bronchial Smooth Muscle Cell Migration and Proliferation by Krüppel-like Factor 5 in Areca Nut–Mediated Airway Remodeling. Toxicological Sciences, 2011. **121**(1): p. 177-190.
- 160. Taylor, R.F.H., et al., *Betel-nut chewing and asthma*. The Lancet, 1992. **339**(8802): p. 1134-1136.
- 161. Kiyingi, K.S., *Betel-nut chewing may aggravate asthma*. P N G Med J, 1991. **34**(2): p. 117-21.
- 162. Nanzer, A.M., et al., Enhanced production of IL-17A in patients with severe asthma is inhibited by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in a glucocorticoid-independent fashion. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2013. **132**(2): p. 297-304.e3.
- 163. Al-Ramli, W., et al., *T(H)17-associated cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) in severe asthma*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2009. **123**(5): p. 1185-7.
- 164. Bullens, D.M., et al., *IL-17 mRNA in sputum of asthmatic patients: linking T cell driven inflammation and granulocytic influx?* Respir Res, 2006. **7**: p. 135.
- 165. Barczyk, A., W. Pierzchala, and E. SozaÑSka, *Interleukin-17 in sputum correlates with airway hyperresponsiveness to methacholine.* Respiratory Medicine, 2003. **97**(6): p. 726-733.
- 166. McKinley, L., et al., T<sub&gt;H&lt;/sub&gt;17 Cells Mediate Steroid-Resistant Airway Inflammation and Airway Hyperresponsiveness in Mice. The Journal of Immunology, 2008.
   181(6): p. 4089.
- 167. Murdoch, J.R. and C.M. Lloyd, *Resolution of allergic airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity is mediated by IL-17-producing {gamma}{delta}T cells.* American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 2010. **182**(4): p. 464-476.
- 168. Kim, H.Y., et al., *Interleukin-17-producing innate lymphoid cells and the NLRP3 inflammasome facilitate obesity-associated airway hyperreactivity*. Nat Med, 2014. **20**(1): p. 54-61.
- 169. Vazquez-Tello, A., et al., *IL-17A and IL-17F expression in B lymphocytes*. Int Arch Allergy Immunol, 2012. **157**(4): p. 406-16.
- 170. Pinart, M., et al., *IL-17A modulates oxidant stress-induced airway hyperresponsiveness but not emphysema*. PloS one, 2013. **8**(3): p. e58452-e58452.
- 171. Chesné, J., et al., *Prime role of IL-17A in neutrophilia and airway smooth muscle contraction in a house dust mite–induced allergic asthma model.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2015. **135**(6): p. 1643-1645.e5.
- 172. Wilson, R.H., et al., *Allergic Sensitization through the Airway Primes Th17-dependent Neutrophilia and Airway Hyperresponsiveness.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2009. **180**(8): p. 720-730.
- 173. Willis, C.R., et al., *IL-17RA Signaling in Airway Inflammation and Bronchial Hyperreactivity in Allergic Asthma*. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2015. **53**(6): p. 810-821.
- 174. Kinyanjui, M.W., et al., *Dose-Dependent Effects of IL-17 on IL-13–Induced Airway Inflammatory Responses and Airway Hyperresponsiveness.* The Journal of Immunology, 2013. **190**(8): p. 3859.

- 175. Wang, Q., et al., *The Overexpression of Heparin-Binding Epidermal Growth Factor Is Responsible for Th17-Induced Airway Remodeling in an Experimental Asthma Model.* The Journal of Immunology, 2010. **185**(2): p. 834.
- 176. Rahman, M.S., et al., *IL-17R activation of human airway smooth muscle cells induces CXCL-8 production via a transcriptional-dependent mechanism.* Clinical Immunology, 2005. **115**(3): p. 268-276.
- 177. Wuyts, W.A., et al., Interleukin-17-Induced Interleukin-8 Release in Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Role for Mitogen-Activated Kinases and Nuclear Factor-κB. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation, 2005. **24**(7): p. 875-881.
- 178. Dragon, S., et al., *IL-17A mediates a selective gene expression profile in asthmatic human airway smooth muscle cells*. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 2014. **50**(6): p. 1053-1063.
- 179. Hata, K., et al., *IL-17 stimulates inflammatory responses via NF-κB and MAP kinase pathways in human colonic myofibroblasts.* American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 2002. **282**(6): p. G1035-G1044.
- 180. Chang, Y., et al., *Th17-associated cytokines promote human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation*. The FASEB Journal, 2012. **26**(12): p. 5152-5160.
- 181. Kudo, M., et al., *IL-17A produced by αβ T cells drives airway hyper-responsiveness in mice and enhances mouse and human airway smooth muscle contraction*. Nature Medicine, 2012. 18(4): p. 547-554.
- 182. Bulek, K., et al., *IL-17A Recruits Rab35 to IL-17R to Mediate PKCα-Dependent Stress Fiber Formation and Airway Smooth Muscle Contractility.* The Journal of Immunology, 2019. 202(5): p. 1540-1548.
- 183. Dinarello, C.A., *Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity.* Immunological reviews, 2018. **281**(1): p. 8-27.
- 184. Sedger, L.M. and M.F. McDermott, *TNF and TNF-receptors: From mediators of cell death and inflammation to therapeutic giants past, present and future.* Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 2014. **25**(4): p. 453-472.
- 185. Thomas, S.S. and S.K. Chhabra, *A study on the serum levels of interleukin-1beta in bronchial asthma.* Journal of the Indian Medical Association, 2003. **101**(5): p. 282, 284, 286 passim.
- 186. Rossios, C., et al., *Sputum transcriptomics reveal upregulation of IL-1 receptor family members in patients with severe asthma*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2018. **141**(2): p. 560-570.
- 187. Fu, J.-j., et al., Airway IL-16 and Systemic Inflammation as Predictors of Future Exacerbation Risk in Asthma and COPD. Chest, 2015. **148**(3): p. 618-629.
- 188. Sousa, A.R., et al., *Expression of interleukin-1 beta (IL-1beta) and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) on asthmatic bronchial epithelium*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1996. **154**(4): p. 1061-1066.
- 189. Borish, L., et al., *Detection of alveolar macrophage-derived IL-1 beta in asthma. Inhibition with corticosteroids.* The Journal of Immunology, 1992. **149**(9): p. 3078.
- 190. Pujol, J.L., et al., *Interleukin-1 release by alveolar macrophages in asthmatic patients and healthy subjects.* Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol, 1990. **91**(2): p. 207-10.
- 191. Ying, S.U.N., et al., *TNFα mRNA expression in allergic inflammation*. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1991. **21**(6): p. 745-750.
- 192. Bradding, P., et al., *Interleukin-4, -5, and -6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in normal and asthmatic airways: evidence for the human mast cell as a source of these cytokines.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 1994. **10**(5): p. 471-480.

- 193. Bradding, P., et al., *TNF*  $\alpha$  *is localized to nasal mucosal mast cells and is released in acute allergic rhinitis.* Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 1995. **25**(5): p. 406-415.
- 194. Costa, J.J., et al., *Human eosinophils can express the cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha.* The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1993. **91**(6): p. 2673-2684.
- 195. Finotto, S., et al., *TNF-alpha production by eosinophils in upper airways inflammation (nasal polyposis).* The Journal of Immunology, 1994. **153**(5): p. 2278.
- 196. Kikuchi, S., et al., *Association of Tumor Necrosis Factor-α and Neutrophilic Inflammation in Severe Asthma.* Allergology International, 2005. **54**(4): p. 621-625.
- 197. Yang, X., et al., *Neutrophilic Asthma Is Associated with Increased Airway Bacterial Burden and Disordered Community Composition.* BioMed Research International, 2018. **2018**: p. 11.
- Evans, M.D., et al., Sputum cell IL-1 receptor expression level is a marker of airway neutrophilia and airflow obstruction in asthmatic patients. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2018.
  142(2): p. 415-423.
- 199. Thomas, P.S., D.H. Yates, and P.J. Barnes, *Tumor necrosis factor-alpha increases airway responsiveness and sputum neutrophilia in normal human subjects.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1995. **152**(1): p. 76-80.
- 200. Thomas, P.S. and G. Heywood, *Effects of inhaled tumour necrosis factor alpha in subjects with mild asthma*. Thorax, 2002. **57**(9): p. 774.
- 201. Tsukagoshi, H., et al., *Effect of interleukin-16 on airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation in sensitized and nonsensitized Brown-Norway rats.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 1994. **93**(2): p. 464-469.
- 202. Guedes, A.G.P., et al., *Role of CD38 in TNF-α-induced airway hyperresponsiveness*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2008. **294**(2): p. L290-L299.
- 203. Makwana, R., et al., *TNF-\alpha-induces airway hyperresponsiveness to cholinergic stimulation in guinea pig airways.* British journal of pharmacology, 2012. **165**(6): p. 1978-1991.
- 204. Kim, Y.-S., et al., *Mast cells play a key role in the developmentof late airway hyperresponsiveness through TNF-αin a murine model of asthma.* European Journal of Immunology, 2007. **37**(4): p. 1107-1115.
- 205. Kim, R.Y., et al., Role for NLRP3 Inflammasome–mediated, IL-1β–Dependent Responses in Severe, Steroid-Resistant Asthma. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2017.
   196(3): p. 283-297.
- 206. Choi, I.-W., et al., *TNF-α* induces the late-phase airway hyperresponsiveness and airway inflammation through cytosolic phospholipase A2 activation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2005. **116**(3): p. 537-543.
- 207. Mahmutovic Persson, I., et al., *IL-16 mediates lung neutrophilia and IL-33 expression in a mouse model of viral-induced asthma exacerbation.* Respiratory Research, 2018. **19**(1): p. 16.
- 208. Ritter, M., et al., Functional relevance of NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated interleukin (IL)-16 during acute allergic airway inflammation. Clinical and experimental immunology, 2014. 178(2): p. 212-223.
- 209. Kanehiro, A., et al., *Tumor Necrosis Factor-*  $\alpha$  *Negatively Regulates Airway Hyperresponsiveness through*  $\gamma\delta$  *T Cells.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2001. **164**(12): p. 2229-2238.
- 210. Che, L., et al., *Ozone-induced IL-17A and neutrophilic airway inflammation is orchestrated by the caspase-1-IL-1 cascade.* Scientific Reports, 2016. **6**(1): p. 18680.
- Park, J.-W., et al., Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist Attenuates Airway Hyperresponsiveness Following Exposure to Ozone. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2004.
   **30**(6): p. 830-836.

- 212. Verhein, K.C., D.B. Jacoby, and A.D. Fryer, *IL-1 Receptors Mediate Persistent, but Not Acute, Airway Hyperreactivity to Ozone in Guinea Pigs.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2008. **39**(6): p. 730-738.
- Shore, S.A., et al., *Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 2 Contributes to Ozone-induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness in Mice.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2001.
   164(4): p. 602-607.
- 214. Whelan, R., et al., *Role and regulation of interleukin-1 molecules in pro-asthmatic sensitised airway smooth muscle.* European Respiratory Journal, 2004. **24**(4): p. 559.
- 215. Wu, Z.X., et al., *Interleukin-16-induced airway hyperresponsiveness enhances substance P in intrinsic neurons of ferret airway*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2002. **283**(5): p. L909-L917.
- 216. Zhang, Y., L.-O. Cardell, and M. Adner, *IL-18 induces murine airway 5-HT2A receptor hyperresponsiveness via a non-transcriptional MAPK-dependent mechanism.* Respiratory Research, 2007. **8**(1): p. 29.
- 217. Tliba, O., et al., *Tumor Necrosis Factor* α *Modulates Airway Smooth Muscle Function via the Autocrine Action of Interferon* β. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2003. **278**(50): p. 50615-50623.
- 218. Zhai, W., et al., *Mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathways in IL-1 beta-dependent rat airway smooth muscle proliferation.* Br J Pharmacol, 2004. **143**(8): p. 1042-9.
- 219. Pype, J.L., et al., *Mechanisms of interleukin 1beta-induced human airway smooth muscle hyporesponsiveness to histamine. Involvement of p38 MAPK NF-kappaB.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001. **163**(4): p. 1010-7.
- 220. Emala, C.W., et al., *TNF-alpha inhibits isoproterenol-stimulated adenylyl cyclase activity in cultured airway smooth muscle cells*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1997. **272**(4): p. L644-L650.
- Hakonarson, H., et al., Association Between IL-1 β /TNF- α –Induced Glucocorticoid-Sensitive Changes in Multiple Gene Expression and Altered Responsiveness in Airway Smooth Muscle. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2001. 25(6): p. 761-771.
- 222. Moore, P.E., et al., Selected Contribution: Synergism between TNF-α and IL-16 in airway smooth muscle cells: implications for 6-adrenergic responsiveness. Journal of Applied Physiology, 2001.
  91(3): p. 1467-1474.
- 223. Hakonarson, H., et al., *Mechanism of cytokine-induced modulation of beta-adrenoceptor responsiveness in airway smooth muscle.* The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1996. **97**(11): p. 2593-2600.
- 224. Ansell, T.K., et al., *TNF and IL-18 exposure increases airway narrowing but does not alter the bronchodilatory response to deep inspiration in airway segments*. Respirology, 2016. **21**(6): p. 1041-1048.
- Hallsworth, M.P., et al., *Cultured Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells Stimulated by Interleukin-1 β Enhance Eosinophil Survival.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 1998.
   19(6): p. 910-919.
- 226. Ghaffar, O., et al., *Constitutive and Cytokine-Stimulated Expression of Eotaxin by Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1999. **159**(6): p. 1933-1942.
- 227. Stemme, S., M. Patarroyo, and G.K. Hansson, *Adhesion of Activated T Lymphocytes to Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells and Dermal Fibroblasts is Mediated by 61- and 62-Integrins.* Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 1992. **36**(2): p. 233-242.
- 228. Panettieri, R.A., et al., Activation of cAMP-dependent pathways in human airway smooth muscle cells inhibits TNF-alpha-induced ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression and T lymphocyte adhesion. The Journal of Immunology, 1995. **154**(5): p. 2358.

- 229. Zarini, S., et al., *Transcellular biosynthesis of cysteinyl leukotrienes in vivo during mouse peritoneal inflammation.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2009. **106**(20): p. 8296-8301.
- 230. Hallstrand, T.S., et al., *Secreted phospholipase A2 group X overexpression in asthma and bronchial hyperresponsiveness.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2007. **176**(11): p. 1072-8.
- 231. Triggiani, M., et al., *Lung mast cells are a source of secreted phospholipases A2.* The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology, 2009. **124**(3): p. 558-565.e5653.
- 232. Hallstrand, T.S., et al., *Airway immunopathology of asthma with exercise-induced bronchoconstriction.* The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology, 2005. **116**(3): p. 586-593.
- 233. Aggarwal, S., et al., *Prostaglandin E2 and cysteinyl leukotriene concentrations in sputum: association with asthma severity and eosinophilic inflammation.* Clin Exp Allergy, 2010. **40**(1): p. 85-93.
- 234. Carraro, S., et al., *Exhaled breath condensate cysteinyl leukotrienes are increased in children with exercise-induced bronchoconstriction.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. **115**(4): p. 764-70.
- 235. Wenzel, S.E., et al., *Bronchoscopic Evaluation of Severe Asthma*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 1997. **156**(3): p. 737-743.
- 236. Liu, M.C., et al., *Immediate and late inflammatory responses to ragweed antigen challenge of the peripheral airways in allergic asthmatics. Cellular, mediator, and permeability changes.* Am Rev Respir Dis, 1991. **144**(1): p. 51-8.
- 237. Liu, M.C., et al., *Evidence for elevated levels of histamine, prostaglandin D2, and other bronchoconstricting prostaglandins in the airways of subjects with mild asthma*. Am Rev Respir Dis, 1990. **142**(1): p. 126-32.
- 238. Kostikas, K., et al., *Leukotriene B4 in exhaled breath condensate and sputum supernatant in patients with COPD and asthma.* Chest, 2005. **127**(5): p. 1553-9.
- 239. Delamere, F., et al., *Production of PGE2 by bovine cultured airway smooth muscle cells and its inhibition by cyclo-oxygenase inhibitors.* British journal of pharmacology, 1994. **111**(4): p. 983-988.
- 240. Churchill, L., et al., *Cyclooxygenase Metabolism of Endogenous Arachidonic Acid by Cultured Human Tracheal Epithelial Cells*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1989. **140**(2): p. 449-459.
- 241. Pavord, I.D., et al., *Effect of Inhaled Prostaglandin E2 on Allergen-induced Asthma*. American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1993. **148**(1): p. 87-90.
- 242. Mulder, A., et al., *Effect of inhaled leukotriene D4 on airway eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness in asthmatic subjects.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1999. **159**(5 Pt 1): p. 1562-7.
- 243. O'Hickey, S.P., et al., *Leukotrienes C4, D4, and E4 Enhance Histamine Responsiveness in Asthmatic Airways.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1991. **144**(5): p. 1053-1057.
- 244. O'Byrne, P.M., et al., *Leukotriene B4 induces airway hyperresponsiveness in dogs*. Journal of Applied Physiology, 1985. **59**(6): p. 1941-1946.
- 245. Eum, S.-Y., et al., *Involvement of the Cysteinyl–Leukotrienes in Allergen-Induced Airway Eosinophilia and Hyperresponsiveness in the Mouse.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2003. **28**(1): p. 25-32.
- 246. Muz, M.H., et al., *The effects of low dose leukotriene receptor antagonist therapy on airway remodeling and cysteinyl leukotriene expression in a mouse asthma model.* Experimental & Molecular Medicine, 2006. **38**(2): p. 109-118.
- 247. Terawaki, K., et al., *Absence of Leukotriene B<sub&gt;4&lt;/sub&gt; Receptor 1 Confers Resistance to Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Th2-Type Immune Responses.* The Journal of Immunology, 2005. **175**(7): p. 4217.

- 248. Hamamoto, Y., et al., *Montelukast reduces inhaled chlorine triggered airway hyperresponsiveness and airway inflammation in the mouse.* British journal of pharmacology, 2017. **174**(19): p. 3346-3358.
- 249. Miyahara, N., et al., *Leukotriene B<sub&gt;4&lt;/sub&gt; Receptor 1 Expression on Dendritic Cells Is Required for the Development of Th2 Responses and Allergen-Induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness.* The Journal of Immunology, 2008. **181**(2): p. 1170.
- 250. Miyahara, N., et al., *Requirement for Leukotriene B4 Receptor 1 in Allergen-induced Airway Hyperresponsiveness.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2005. **172**(2): p. 161-167.
- Rao, N.L., et al., *Leukotriene A4 Hydrolase Inhibition Attenuates Allergic Airway Inflammation and Hyperresponsiveness*. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2010. 181(9): p. 899-907.
- 252. Miyahara, N., et al., *Leukotriene B4 Release from Mast Cells in IgE-Mediated Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Inflammation.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2009. **40**(6): p. 672-682.
- 253. Salmon, M., et al., *Involvement of cysteinyl leukotrienes in airway smooth muscle cell DNA synthesis after repeated allergen exposure in sensitized Brown Norway rats.* British Journal of Pharmacology, 1999. **127**(5): p. 1151-1158.
- 254. Henderson, W.R., et al., *Reversal of Allergen-induced Airway Remodeling by CysLT1 Receptor Blockade.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2006. **173**(7): p. 718-728.
- 255. Yang, G., et al., *Transgenic smooth muscle expression of the human CysLT1 receptor induces enhanced responsiveness of murine airways to leukotriene D4*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2004. **286**(5): p. L992-L1001.
- 256. McGovern, T., et al., *CysLT<sub&gt;1&lt;/sub&gt; Receptor Is Protective against Oxidative Stress in a Model of Irritant-Induced Asthma.* The Journal of Immunology, 2016: p. 1501084.
- 257. Watanabe, S., et al., *Expression of functional leukotriene B4 receptors on human airway smooth muscle cells.* The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology, 2009. **124**(1): p. 59-65.e653.
- 258. Ravasi, S., et al., *CysLT1 receptor-induced human airway smooth muscle cells proliferation requires ROS generation, EGF receptor transactivation and ERK1/2 phosphorylation.* Respiratory Research, 2006. **7**(1): p. 42.
- 259. Espinosa, K., et al., *CysLT1 receptor upregulation by TGF-β and IL-13 is associated with bronchial smooth muscle cell proliferation in response to LTD4.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2003. **111**(5): p. 1032-1040.
- Panettieri, R.A., et al., Effects of LTD4 on Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation, Matrix Expression, and Contraction In Vitro: Differential Sensitivity to Cysteinyl Leukotriene Receptor Antagonists. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 1998. 19(3): p. 453-461.
- 261. Dahlen, S.E., et al., *Mechanisms of leukotriene-induced contractions of guinea pig airways: leukotriene C4 has a potent direct action whereas leukotriene B4 acts indirectly.* Acta Physiol Scand, 1983. **118**(4): p. 393-403.
- 262. Thorpe, J.E. and C.G. Murlas, *Leukotriene B4 potentiates airway muscle responsiveness in vivo and in vitro*. Prostaglandins, 1986. **31**(5): p. 899-908.
- 263. Kitamura, N., et al., *Evaluation of Cysteinyl Leukotriene-Induced Contraction of Human Cultured Bronchial Smooth Muscle Cells.* International Archives of Allergy and Immunology, 2009.
  149(suppl 1)(Suppl. 1): p. 83-86.
- 264. Saegusa, S., H. Tsubone, and M. Kuwahara, *Leukotriene D4-induced Rho-mediated actin reorganization in human bronchial smooth muscle cells.* European Journal of Pharmacology, 2001. **413**(2): p. 163-171.

- 265. Serra-Pages, M., et al., Activation of the Prostaglandin E2 receptor EP2 prevents house dust miteinduced airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation by restraining mast cells' activity. Clinical & Experimental Allergy, 2015. **45**(10): p. 1590-1600.
- 266. Stokes Peebles, R., et al., *Selective Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 Inhibitors Each Increase Allergic Inflammation and Airway Hyperresponsiveness in Mice.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2002. **165**(8): p. 1154-1160.
- 267. Stokes Peebles, R., et al., *Cyclooxygenase Inhibition Increases Interleukin 5 and Interleukin 13 Production and Airway Hyperresponsiveness in Allergic Mice.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2000. **162**(2): p. 676-681.
- 268. Zaslona, Z., et al., *Prostaglandin E(2) suppresses allergic sensitization and lung inflammation by targeting the E prostanoid 2 receptor on T cells.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2014. **133**(2): p. 379-87.
- 269. Sheller, J.R., et al., *EP2 receptor mediates bronchodilation by PGE2 in mice.* Journal of Applied Physiology, 2000. **88**(6): p. 2214-2218.
- Swedin, L., et al., Dissociation of airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness by cyclooxygenase inhibition in allergen challenged mice. European Respiratory Journal, 2009.
  34(1): p. 200.
- 271. Swedin, L., et al., *Prostaglandin modulation of airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice sensitized without adjuvant.* Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators, 2010. **92**(1): p. 44-53.
- 272. Chambers, L.S., et al., *PAR-2 activation, PGE2, and COX-2 in human asthmatic and nonasthmatic airway smooth muscle cells.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2003. **285**(3): p. L619-L627.
- 273. Pang, L. and A.J. Knox, *Effect of interleukin-16, tumour necrosis factor-α and interferon-γ on the induction of cyclo-oxygenase-2 in cultured human airway smooth muscle cells.* British Journal of Pharmacology, 1997. **121**(3): p. 579-587.
- 274. Pang, L. and A.J. Knox, *PGE2 release by bradykinin in human airway smooth muscle cells: involvement of cyclooxygenase-2 induction.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1997. **273**(6): p. L1132-L1140.
- 275. Lan, R.S., et al., *Role of PGE(2) in protease-activated receptor-1, -2 and -4 mediated relaxation in the mouse isolated trachea*. British journal of pharmacology, 2001. **132**(1): p. 93-100.
- 276. Yan, H., et al., *Anti-mitogenic effects of β-agonists and PGE2 on airway smooth muscle are PKA dependent*. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 2011. **25**(1): p. 389-397.
- 277. Burgess, J.K., et al., *Increased sensitivity of asthmatic airway smooth muscle cells to prostaglandin E2 might be mediated by increased numbers of E-prostanoid receptors.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2004. **113**(5): p. 876-881.
- Johnson, P.R., et al., *Heparin and PGE2 inhibit DNA synthesis in human airway smooth muscle cells in culture.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1995.
  269(4): p. L514-L519.
- 279. Säfholm, J., et al., *PGE2 maintains the tone of the guinea pig trachea through a balance between activation of contractile EP1 receptors and relaxant EP2 receptors.* British journal of pharmacology, 2013. **168**(4): p. 794-806.
- 280. Schaafsma, D., et al., *Role of contractile prostaglandins and Rho-kinase in growth factor-induced airway smooth muscle contraction.* Respiratory Research, 2005. **6**(1): p. 85.
- 281. Fortner, C.N., R.M. Breyer, and R.J. Paul, *EP2 receptors mediate airway relaxation to substance P, ATP, and PGE2*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2001.
  281(2): p. L469-L474.

- 282. Hakonarson, H., D.J. Herrick, and M.M. Grunstein, *Mechanism of impaired beta-adrenoceptor responsiveness in atopic sensitized airway smooth muscle.* American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 1995. **269**(5): p. L645-L652.
- 283. Catalli, A. and L.J. Janssen, *Augmentation of bovine airway smooth muscle responsiveness to carbachol, KCl, and histamine by the isoprostane 8-iso-PGE2*. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 2004. **287**(5): p. L1035-L1041.
- 284. Kuruvilla, M.E., F.E.-H. Lee, and G.B. Lee, *Understanding Asthma Phenotypes, Endotypes, and Mechanisms of Disease*. Clinical reviews in allergy & immunology, 2019. **56**(2): p. 219-233.
- 285. Svenningsen, S. and P. Nair, *Asthma Endotypes and an Overview of Targeted Therapy for Asthma*. Frontiers in medicine, 2017. **4**: p. 158-158.
- 286. Halwani, R., et al., *Eosinophils Induce Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation*. Journal of Clinical Immunology, 2013. **33**(3): p. 595-604.
- 287. Januskevicius, A., et al., *Eosinophils enhance WNT-5a and TGF-81 genes expression in airway smooth muscle cells and promote their proliferation by increased extracellular matrix proteins production in asthma.* BMC Pulmonary Medicine, 2016. **16**(1): p. 94.
- 288. Huang, C.-D., et al., *Human neutrophil-derived elastase induces airway smooth muscle cell proliferation.* Life Sciences, 2004. **74**(20): p. 2479-2492.
- 289. Lee, K.-Y., et al., Neutrophil-Derived Elastase Induces TGF-81 Secretion in Human Airway Smooth Muscle via NF-κB Pathway. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2006.
   35(4): p. 407-414.
- 290. Oltmanns, U., et al., *Induction of Human Airway Smooth Muscle Apoptosis by Neutrophils and Neutrophil Elastase.* American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2005. **32**(4): p. 334-341.
- 291. Vargas, A., et al., Neutrophil-Derived Exosomes: A New Mechanism Contributing to Airway Smooth Muscle Remodeling. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2016.
   55(3): p. 450-461.
- 292. Janulaityte, I., et al., *Eosinophils promote airway smooth muscle cells contractility and a-actin gene expression in asthma.* European Respiratory Journal, 2018. **52**(suppl 62): p. PA970.
- 293. Caza, T. and S. Landas, *Functional and Phenotypic Plasticity of CD4(+) T Cell Subsets*. BioMed research international, 2015. **2015**: p. 521957-521957.
- 294. Poston, R.N., et al., *Immunohistochemical Characterization of the Cellular Infiltration in Asthmatic Bronchi.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1992. **145**(4\_pt\_1): p. 918-921.
- 295. Vijayanand, P., et al., *Chemokine receptor 4 plays a key role in T cell recruitment into the airways of asthmatic patients.* J Immunol, 2010. **184**(8): p. 4568-74.
- 296. Walker, C., et al., Activated T cells and eosinophilia in bronchoalveolar lavages from subjects with asthma correlated with disease severity. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 1991.
  88(6): p. 935-942.
- 297. SHI, Y.-h., et al., *Coexistence of Th1/Th2 and Th17/Treg imbalances in patients with allergic asthma.* Chinese Medical Journal, 2011. **124**(13): p. 1951-1956.
- 298. Lee, S.Y., et al., *Distribution and cytokine production of CD4 and CD8 T-lymphocyte subsets in patients with acute asthma attacks.* Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology, 2001. **86**(6): p. 659-664.
- 299. Corrigan, C.J., et al., *CD4 T-Lymphocyte Activation in Asthma Is Accompanied by Increased Serum Concentrations of Interleukin-5: Effect of Glucocorticoid Therapy.* American Review of Respiratory Disease, 1993. **147**(3): p. 540-547.
- 300. Bentley, A.M., et al., *Identification of T lymphocytes, macrophages, and activated eosinophils in the bronchial mucosa in intrinsic asthma. Relationship to symptoms and bronchial responsiveness.* Am Rev Respir Dis, 1992. **146**(2): p. 500-6.

- 301. Ramos-Barbon, D., et al., *T Cells localize with proliferating smooth muscle alpha-actin+ cell compartments in asthma*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. **182**(3): p. 317-24.
- 302. Wisniewski, J.A., et al., *TH1 signatures are present in the lower airways of children with severe asthma, regardless of allergic status.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2018. **141**(6): p. 2048-2060.e13.
- 303. Mishima, H., et al., *CD4+ T cells can induce airway hyperresponsiveness to allergen challenge in the brown norway rat.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1998. **158**(6): p. 1863-70.
- 304. Raemdonck, K., et al., *CD4+ and CD8+ T cells play a central role in a HDM driven model of allergic asthma*. Respiratory Research, 2016. **17**(1): p. 45.
- 305. Foster, P.S., et al., *CD4+ T-Lymphocytes Regulate Airway Remodeling and Hyper-Reactivity in a Mouse Model of Chronic Asthma*. Laboratory Investigation, 2002. **82**(4): p. 455-462.
- 306. Turner, D.L., et al., *Biased Generation and In Situ Activation of Lung Tissue–Resident Memory CD4 T Cells in the Pathogenesis of Allergic Asthma*. The Journal of Immunology, 2018. **200**(5): p. 1561.
- 307. Ramos-Barbon, D., et al., *Effect of alpha4-integrin blockade on CD4+ cell-driven late airway responses in the rat.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001. **163**(1): p. 101-8.
- 308. Watanabe, A., et al., *Transfer of allergic airway responses with antigen-primed CD4+ but not CD8+ T cells in brown Norway rats.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 1995. **96**(3): p. 1303-1310.
- Joetham, A., et al., Airway hyperresponsiveness in the absence of CD4+ T cells after primary but not secondary challenge. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 2005. 33(1): p. 89-96.
- 310. Hojo, M., et al., *Role of cysteinyl leukotrienes in CD4(+) T cell-driven late allergic airway responses.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2000. **293**(2): p. 410-6.
- 311. Ramos-Barbón, D., et al., *Antigen-specific CD4+ T cells drive airway smooth muscle remodeling in experimental asthma*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2005. **115**(6): p. 1580-1589.
- Lazaar, A.L., et al., Antigen receptor-stimulated peripheral blood and bronchoalveolar lavagederived T cells induce MHC class II and ICAM-1 expression on human airway smooth muscle. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 1997. 16(1): p. 38-45.
- 313. Hakonarson, H., et al., *Bi-Directional Activation Between Human Airway Smooth Muscle Cells and T Lymphocytes: Role in Induction of Altered Airway Responsiveness.* The Journal of Immunology, 2001. **166**(1): p. 293.
- 314. Xia, Y.C., et al., *Functional expression of IgG-Fc receptors in human airway smooth muscle cells*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2011. **44**(5): p. 665-72.
- Al Heialy, S., et al., *T Cell–Induced Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation via the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor*. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 2013.
  49(4): p. 563-570.
- Matusovsky, O.S., et al., CD4+ T cells enhance the unloaded shortening velocity of airway smooth muscle by altering the contractile protein expression. The Journal of physiology, 2014. 592(14): p. 2999-3012.
- 317. Veler, H., et al., Superantigen Presentation by Airway Smooth Muscle to CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T Lymphocytes Elicits Reciprocal Proasthmatic Changes in Airway Function. The Journal of Immunology, 2007. **178**(6): p. 3627.
- 318. Farahnak, S., et al., *Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor 2 Is a Determinant of CD4 T Cell-Airway Smooth Muscle Cell Communication through Membrane Conduits.* J Immunol, 2017. **199**(9): p. 3086-3093.
- 319. Al Heialy, S., et al., *Nanotubes Connect CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T Cells to Airway Smooth Muscle Cells: Novel Mechanism of T Cell Survival.* The Journal of Immunology, 2015. **194**(12): p. 5626.

- 320. Panasiuk, M., et al., *Tunneling Nanotubes as a Novel Route of Cell-to-Cell Spread of Herpesviruses*. Journal of Virology, 2018. **92**(10): p. e00090-18.
- 321. Xiao, M., et al., *Dynamic monitoring of membrane nanotubes formation induced by vaccinia virus on a high throughput microfluidic chip.* Scientific Reports, 2017. **7**(1): p. 44835.
- 322. Millet, L.J. and M.U. Gillette, *New perspectives on neuronal development via microfluidic environments.* Trends in neurosciences, 2012. **35**(12): p. 752-761.
- 323. Lake, M., et al., *Microfluidic device design, fabrication, and testing protocols.* Protocol Exchange, 2015.
- 324. Justus, C.R., et al., *In vitro cell migration and invasion assays*. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE, 2014(88): p. 51046.
- 325. D'Arcangelo, E. and A.P. McGuigan, *Micropatterning strategies to engineer controlled cell and tissue architecture in vitro.* BioTechniques, 2015. **58**(1): p. 13-23.
- 326. Gaudet, I.D. and D.I. Shreiber, *Characterization of methacrylated type-I collagen as a dynamic, photoactive hydrogel.* Biointerphases, 2012. **7**(1-4): p. 25.
- 327. Etienne, S., et al., *ICAM-1 signaling pathways associated with Rho activation in microvascular brain endothelial cells.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**(10): p. 5755-61.
- 328. Kay, A.B., *The role of T lymphocytes in asthma*. Chem Immunol Allergy, 2006. **91**: p. 59-75.
- 329. Bergeron, C., M.K. Tulic, and Q. Hamid, *Airway remodelling in asthma: from benchside to clinical practice.* Canadian respiratory journal, 2010. **17**(4): p. e85-e93.
- 330. Lambert, R.K., et al., *Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD.* Journal of Applied Physiology, 1993. **74**(6): p. 2771-2781.
- 331. Zhao, J., et al., *Airway Memory CD4(+) T Cells Mediate Protective Immunity against Emerging Respiratory Coronaviruses.* Immunity, 2016. **44**(6): p. 1379-1391.
- 332. Abais, J.M., et al., *Redox regulation of NLRP3 inflammasomes: ROS as trigger or effector?* Antioxidants & redox signaling, 2015. **22**(13): p. 1111-1129.
- 333. Okada, R., et al., *Phenotypic classification of human CD4+ T cell subsets and their differentiation*. Int Immunol, 2008. **20**(9): p. 1189-99.
- 334. Maciolek, J.A., J.A. Pasternak, and H.L. Wilson, *Metabolism of activated T lymphocytes*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2014. **27**: p. 60-74.
- 335. Ben-Sasson, S.Z., et al., *IL-1 acts directly on CD4 T cells to enhance their antigen-driven expansion and differentiation*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2009. **106**(17): p. 7119-7124.
- 336. Arbore, G., et al., *T helper 1 immunity requires complement-driven NLRP3 inflammasome activity in CD4<sup&gt;+&lt;/sup&gt; T cells.* Science, 2016. **352**(6292): p. aad1210.
- 337. Sorbara, M.T. and S.E. Girardin, *Mitochondrial ROS fuel the inflammasome*. Cell Research, 2011. **21**(4): p. 558-560.
- 338. Hanna, S.J., et al., *Tunneling nanotubes, a novel mode of tumor cell–macrophage communication in tumor cell invasion.* Journal of Cell Science, 2019. **132**(3): p. jcs223321.
- 339. Haimovich, G., et al., *Intercellular mRNA trafficking via membrane nanotube-like extensions in mammalian cells.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2017. **114**(46): p. E9873.
- 340. Shen, J., et al., *Mitochondria are transported along microtubules in membrane nanotubes to rescue distressed cardiomyocytes from apoptosis.* Cell Death & Disease, 2018. **9**(2): p. 81.
- 341. Sowinski, S., et al., *Membrane nanotubes physically connect T cells over long distances presenting a novel route for HIV-1 transmission.* Nature Cell Biology, 2008. **10**(2): p. 211-219.
- 342. Jackson, M.V., et al., *Mitochondrial Transfer via Tunneling Nanotubes is an Important Mechanism by Which Mesenchymal Stem Cells Enhance Macrophage Phagocytosis in the In Vitro and In Vivo Models of ARDS.* Stem Cells, 2016. **34**(8): p. 2210-23.

343. Bradac, C., *Nanoscale Optical Trapping: A Review*. Advanced Optical Materials, 2018. **6**(12): p. 1800005.